
 

 
 

 
 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Special Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Tuesday, 20th September, 2022 at 1.30 
pm 
in the Council Chamber  Council Offices  
Market Street  Newbury 
 
 

This meeting can be streamed live here: 
https://westberks.gov.uk/hsclive   
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Date of despatch of Agenda:  Monday, 12 September 2022 
 

Public Document Pack

https://westberks.gov.uk/hsclive


Agenda - Health Scrutiny Committee to be held on Tuesday, 20 September 2022 

(continued) 
 

 

 

For further information about this Agenda, or to inspect any background documents 
referred to in Part I reports, please contact Vicky Phoenix on 07500 679060 

e-mail: vicky.phoenix1@westberks.gov.uk 
 

Further information and Minutes are also available on the Council’s website at 
www.westberks.gov.uk  

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/


Agenda - Health Scrutiny Committee to be held on Tuesday, 20 September 2022 

(continued) 
 

 

 

 
To: Councillors Claire Rowles (Chairman), Alan Macro (Vice-Chairman), 

Jeff Beck, Tony Linden and Andy Moore 

  
  

 

Agenda 
 

Part I Page No. 

 
1    Apologies 1 - 2 

 Purpose: To receive apologies for inability to attend the meeting (if any). 
 

 

2    Minutes 3 - 18 

 Purpose: To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of 
the Committees held on 23 May 2022 and 14 June 2022. 

 

 

3    Declarations of Interest 19 - 20 
 Purpose: To remind Members of the need to record the existence and 

nature of any personal, disclosable pecuniary or other registrable 
interests in items on the agenda, in accordance with the Members’ Code 

of Conduct. 
 

 

4    Petitions 21 - 22 

 Purpose: To consider any petitions requiring an Officer response. 
 

 

5    South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 23 - 108 
 Purpose: To present an overview of current performance including 

response times and hospital transfers, and winter service plans for 

2022/23. 
 

 

6    Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust - Out of Hours and 
WestCall 

109 - 124 

 Purpose: To present an overview of demand in urgent and unscheduled 

out-of-hours calls. Consider response and issues arising. 
 

 

7    Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care 
Board Update 

125 - 136 

 Purpose: To receive an update from the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire 

and Berkshire West Integrated Care Board on their activities. 
 

 

8    Healthwatch Update 137 - 138 
 Purpose: Healthwatch West Berkshire to report on views gathered on 

healthcare services in the district. 

 

 

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38477&p=0
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38477&p=0


Agenda - Health Scrutiny Committee to be held on Tuesday, 20 September 2022 

(continued) 
 

 

 

9    Task and Finish Group Updates 139 - 140 
 Purpose: To receive updates from the Chairmen of Task and Finish 

Groups appointed by the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Commission. 

 

 

10    Health Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 141 - 142 
 Purpose: To receive new items and agree and prioritise the work 

programme of the Committee. 
 

 

  
Sarah Clarke 
Service Director (Strategy and Governance) 

 

If you require this information in a different format or translation, please contact 
Stephen Chard on telephone (01635) 519462. 



Health Scrutiny Committee – 20 September 2022 

 

 

 

Item 1 – Apologies 

Verbal Item 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 2



DRAFT 

Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee  

 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 

MONDAY, 23 MAY 2022 
 
Councillors Present: Claire Rowles (Chairman), Alan Macro (Vice-Chairman), Tony Linden, 

Andy Moore and Garth Simpson 
 

Also Present: Andy Sharp (Executive Director (People)), Councillor Jeff Beck, Councillor 

Graham Bridgman (Portfolio Holder: Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Health and 
Wellbeing), Vicky Phoenix (Principal Policy Officer - Scrutiny), Gordon Oliver (Principal Policy 
Officer), Tom Broadfoot (Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust), Alison Foster (Royal 

Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust) and Andrew Statham (Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation 
Trust) 
 

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting:  Paul Coe (Service Director Adult Social Care) 

   

 

PART I 
 

3 Apologies 

4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest received.  

5 Royal Berkshire Hospital Redevelopment 

Andrew Statham, Director of Strategy, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (RBFT) 
presented the report on the Royal Berkshire Hospital redevelopment programme – 
Building Berkshire Together (Agenda Item 3). 

It was explained that the Royal Berkshire Hospital was on the Hospital Development 
Programme. There were three stages and they were now starting the Outline Business 

Case stage to narrow down the preferred options of location and scale. This would be 
followed by the Full Business Case.  

Mr Statham highlighted the work being done to get to the Outline Business Case stage. 

This included reflecting on the Clinical Services Strategy (Agenda Item 5) and other 
aspects about the scope and future location of the site. This would involve a multi-faceted 

analysis around resident’s access, staff access, the cost of the redevelopment and the 
number of services needing to be located on the site. RBFT were looking to engage 
members of the public and key stakeholders to get it right for the residents using services 

going forward. 

Councillor Alan Macro asked for detail about the timescales on the location decision. It 

was advised that the Trust wanted to complete the work for the Outline Business Case 
this financial year.  

Councillor Tony Linden asked four questions: 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 23 MAY 2022 - MINUTES 
 

 When were the Trust anticipating their engagement with Local Authority Health 
Scrutiny Committees and calling for a Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (JHOSC) to be set up?  

 What were your patient flows?  This data would inform the composition of the 

JHOSC. 

 How would the Trust engage and consult with residents in West Berkshire? 

 Would they be holding open engagement events in West Berkshire? 

It was confirmed that the engagement would take place in West Berkshire as with all 
communities. That would involve holding events with members of the public in West 

Berkshire. This had started already online and future events would be published. There 
was also a website to take individual questions and reflections from members of the 

public and stakeholders.  

It was confirmed that the majority of patients came from Berkshire West. Less than 10% 
of total patient flow was from East Berkshire and most of that went to Bracknell and 

Wexham Park Hospital. There was some cross-border flow from South Oxfordshire and 
North Hampshire.  

Councillor Andy Moore asked for clarification on the three options of the Outline Business 
Case.  

It was confirmed that the Strategic Outline Case had 6 options of which doing nothing 

was one option. A second was to fix the backlog maintenance and a third option was the 
backlog maintenance and then a minimal build. The Board felt these did not satisfy the 

needs of the population in the future. There were then two options on the current site. 
One to make use of the buildings built in the 2000’s and one to reconfigure all the 
buildings. A final option was to find a new site and relocate away from the current site.  

Councillor Macro raised concern about the South Block and its suitability for 
development. Secondly Councillor Macro asked if the proposals would include support 

for visitors and staff arriving by private car or public transport. 

It was confirmed that only one of the proposals included the use of the South Block. The 
more substantial redevelopment didn’t include it. On parking progress was being made to 

reduce staff parking on site to make improvements for staff and those accessing 
services. However the current site was doubly prescribed.  

Councillor Graham Bridgman confirmed that some volunteer drivers could be helped with 
a drop-off area. Councillor Bridgman noted the following and invited the Trust to 
comment: 

1) Funding would affect outcome. The funding available would make a huge 
difference on want could be done.  

2) Was there a case for having certain aspects of the emergency elements of the 
Trust somewhere where ambulances could get to very quickly? 

3) What evidence was there about how location would affect outcomes? To what 

extent could the tension between those living and working in Reading and those 
who lived out of the area be relieved by better transport links wherever the hospital 

site ended up. 

The process to secure funding was confirmed. The RBFT were in cohort four of the New 
Hospital Programme. They would be going back to the Treasury with the rest of the 

Hospitals to get a solution so that the hospital could be built by 2030. That was 
happening in October 2022 and so they would start to get an idea of what funding was 

available then. There was extreme pressure on the funding. Partners would be welcomed 
to help influence this over the next quarter.  

Page 4



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 23 MAY 2022 - MINUTES 
 

On location, the Trust advised that the location of an Emergency Department did impact 
on how many patients turned up and from which communities. Emergency Services were 

used disproportionately by people from deprived communities and so this needed to be 
taken into account on the location of the hospital. It would be considered if they were 

better supported by other services and the Emergency Department used as a last resort. 
Transport solutions would be considered to enable continued access. There was 
research happening into health inequalities and how a change of location would impact 

particular groups. It would be important not to disadvantage communities.  

Councillor Bridgman noted that were issues with transport into the current site. In 

particular the lack of bus service, rail access and issues with car access. Bus and train 
access would also help to minimise the car access issues.  

Councillor Rowles welcomed further conversations to support the Trust.  

Councillor Moore requested clarification on how the JHOSC would be formed and who 
would lead on it.  

The Trust confirmed that the Council needed to propose the JHOSC and the Trust would 
help to inform that. They had spoken with Reading and would be speaking with 
Wokingham. Andy Sharp advised of the process going forward.  

Councillor Jeff Beck stated that the Committee needed to form a view regarding the 
location of the Hospital. A new site had many advantages rather than redeveloping the 

existing site which did not seem to be a practical solution. The Trust recognised that a 
decision needed to be made. There were challenges in redeveloping the current site but 
there would also be challenges in moving to a new site. There were buildings on the 

current site which might be useable as part of a modern infrastructure. The Trust wanted 
to do the appraisal well over the next year, taking on board the views of residents and 

their representatives.  

Councillor Linden suggested a site visit for Members. Councillor Linden also noted 
congestion and its impact on the ambulance service. He also noted p54 of the agenda 

and the importance of the physical environment to support healing. There might be the 
opportunity to build outside of Reading. He highlighted that access was a key issue.  

The Trust welcomed a visit from Members of the Health Scrutiny Committee. It was 
agreed access was really important to all the communities and was complicated because 
people accessed the site in various different ways.  

Councillor Macro noted on the access issue that as a car user he avoided using the multi 
storey car park. He noted that on the site there was an education centre and West Drive 

which could be used. He noted that there was a large gap in the consultation and 
requested that people were made aware of the proposals and given the opportunity to 
partake in the consultation. The Trust confirmed they were taking occupancy of some of 

the University buildings. For example the Harborne Building. They were also making 
changes to West Drive. They were lots of ideas to redevelop the current site and 

community engagement would really help.  

Councillor Bridgman noted that an obvious location of a new site would be Junction 11 
where there would be rail and bus access. However, he highlighted that funding was 

needed to enable this. It was an exceedingly expensive proposal. Therefore 
redevelopment of the Craven Road site would be more realistic. On the consultation 

discussion, Councillor Bridgman advised that there was a website and communications 
had taken place. He stated that further engagement was needed.  

Councillor Moore requested confirmation on the timescales of the Outline Business Case. 

The Trust confirmed that the New Hospital Programme needed to be formally told when 

Page 5



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 23 MAY 2022 - MINUTES 
 

they could move forward. This would be scheduled over the summer and so it was likely 
to be later this year or in the early part of next year. However, the Trust said they were 

keen to progress. Councillor Moore noted that the Council would need to progress the 
JHOSC. The Trust advised that the New Hospital Programme would consider a 

readiness to go and this would include having a JHOSC up and running.  

6 Motion regarding Royal Berkshire Hospital Redevelopment 

Councillor Alan Macro gave an overview of the Motion made at Council on 17 March 

2022. Councillor Macro highlighted the condition of existing buildings, the parking issues 
and concern that sites proposed must be accessible for West Berkshire residents. 

Councillor Macro’s request was for West Berkshire Council to resolve for the hospital to 
be built on a new site.  

Councillor Graham Bridgman agreed that a new site would be preferable but that options 

would be constrained by the funding available. There would also be benefit in keeping 
some elements within Reading. Councillor Bridgman advised that he was supportive of 

the Motion, with the consideration of the funding being available.  

Councillor Andy Moore noted that he would have seconded Councillor Macro at full 
Council on this motion. He stated this was a once in a century opportunity and that the 

residents of West Berkshire would want West Berkshire Council rooting for them. 
Councillor Moore agreed with Councillor Bridgman’s comments regarding the resources 

being available.  

Councillor Macro confirmed that it was important to make the views of West Berkshire 
Council known.  

Councillor Jeff Beck noted that to redevelop the existing site, whilst keeping services 
available, would be very complex and expensive. There would also be re-sale value in 

the current site. Councillor Beck agreed the concern regarding the funding being 
available.  

Councillor Bridgman invited Members and anyone watching to go to the website 

BuildingBerkshireTogether.co.uk to view the options under consideration. Councillor 
Bridgman noted that the purpose of the JHOSC would be to look at the formal proposal, 

not a range of proposals. It was therefore not wrong for this Council to make its general 
views known.  

Councillor Macro agreed with Councillor Bridgman and highlighted that it would be to 

state a preferred view. Councillor Moore noted that the Council’s view on this matter 
would be useful to the JHOSC and would like to see the Motion go forward. 

The Motion was supported with the caveat regarding the funding being available.  

7 Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust Strategy Refresh 

Andrew Statham, Director of Strategy, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (RBFT) 

presented the report on the Trust Strategy refresh and the new Clinical Services Strategy 
(Agenda Item 5). The context for the refresh was explained and followed by an overview 

of the new Strategy. It was explained this was not a change to the mission of the hospital 
which still resonated and was a strong message to staff and partners. The objectives had 
been tweaked; the first strategy to stress ‘for all’; the third a shift to delivery in partnership 

instead of integrated care; and the fifth to include environmental sustainability and to 
recognise the significant contribution of the Trust to the environment in communities. 

Work was being done on how they would track their progress. Metrics would be reported 
on through RBFT Board and progress tracked on an operational basis.  

Page 6



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 23 MAY 2022 - MINUTES 
 

The Trust presented the final slide on the Clinical Services Strategy. It was noted that the 
priority about the quality of care remained unchanged; to aspire to outstanding services 

every day. Secondly it was highlighted that services were to fit around patients, rather 
than patients around services to provide seamless care. There was merit in organising 

the building around level of acuity. The third objective was to get more services into the 
wellbeing space and more expertise of professionals in supporting primary care and 
social services in the community. Finally it was highlighted that the need was recognised 

to meet patients where it was best for them. This meant making use of technology, all 
hospital sites and other places where people could receive care. It was noted that 

different thinking was required about the workforce for tomorrow, use of technology and 
buildings provided. 

The Chairman asked for clarification on the changes to the first priority to be ‘for all’. The 

Trust confirmed whilst the services were available for all, they might not have fully 
understood the difference in support they might need to provide for all to benefit from 

them. They were exploring some of the impacts around health inequalities. They had 
undertaken some research around their outpatient appointments with NHS England. The 
‘did not attend’ rate was double for the two lowest socio-economic groups. They had held 

focus groups to understand why that might be. It appeared very simple but was not 
incorporated into their operational process. Those groups had higher rates of household 

instability, changing phone numbers and employment circumstances making 9-5 
appointments difficult for them.  The Trust need to think differently to support the 
outcomes the NHS promised and made it explicit in the Strategy.  

Councillor Linden asked for clarification around staff satisfaction in the Strategy, how the 
Trust would engage with those digitally excluded and how the Trust would provide the 

highest quality of care for all whilst living within their means. It was confirmed that the 
Trust regularly tracked staff satisfaction and also found retention data useful. Staff 
engagement was a key indicator also. Regarding digital exclusion, the Trust advised that 

digital was an additional channel available for those who preferred it but they did not take 
it for granted that people can use it. In response to the question regarding finance, the 

Trust confirmed that it was a challenge at all times. They were mindful of using money 
wisely and it could be a potential limiter on ambitions, but they absolutely strived for the 
highest quality of care for all whilst still living within their means.  

Councillor Linden asked what the current level of staff vacancy was. The Trust advised 
vacancies went down during the pandemic. This was from 14-15% to 12% approximately.  

There had been some increase in turnover post-pandemic. This included all staff and 
vacancies differed significantly across different staff groups. Councillor Linden asked 
about the impact of Brexit. The information was not available to answer this question. 

Councillor Linden asked what the recruitment strategy was and how it affected retention 
and retirements. The Trust advised they were always actively recruiting against the 

vacancies they had. They worked with colleagues nationally and locally to fill those 
vacancies. Councillor Linden queried the retention rate and the Trust confirmed their 
ambition was to have a slightly lower staff turnover rate. They were not complacent on 

retention or vacancies, but they were hugely proud of their work on cultural engagement 
and their employee benefit package which held them in good stead during the pandemic. 

Staff survey results had been published and they were really pleased to be one of the top 
performing acute Trusts against their peers. Councillor Linden asked whether they had a 
structural problem of retirement numbers in the future. The Trust confirmed they were not 

exposed any more than other public services to that particular challenge. Councillor 
Linden asked if there were plans to improve ethnic diversity at Board level.  The Trust 

advised that diversity and inclusion was a big agenda for the Board. They had several 
initiatives including staff forums to support that agenda. This was particularly focused on 

Page 7



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 23 MAY 2022 - MINUTES 
 

supporting people with career development opportunities. They recognised that they had 
representative levels of staff but overwhelmingly white leaders and managers and so 

they were keen to do what they could to better support people taking advantage of career 
opportunities.  

Councillor Macro asked if there were any plans to enhance the minor injuries unit at West 
Berkshire Community Hospital and if there were partnerships to support walk-in centres 
in communities to help relieve pressure on A&E. The Trust confirmed that the minor 

injuries unit and walk in centres were provided by Berkshire Healthcare. The Berkshire 
West Urgent Care Board were prioritising their work to support people who had minor 

ailments or injury and were seeking care at the moment. The Trust and primary care 
need to think differently in how they could meet those care needs. The level of demand 
was outstripping capacity. This was from increasing self-care confidence all the way 

through to the Emergency Department. Councillor Macro confirmed that partnership 
working with Berkshire Healthcare would be very beneficial to enhance the facilities at 

West Berkshire Community Hospital. The Trust confirmed this was done through the 
Berkshire West Urgent Care Board. The specific service at West Berkshire would be 
enhanced by their work in enhancing diagnostic services.  

Councillor Moore asked the Trust how they looked forward to where technology might be 
in 10 / 20 years and how technological advances could influence service delivery. The 

Trust confirmed they were looking at the potential of technology. They employed people 
from sectors with expertise in technology and regularly partook in forums with other 
hospitals in the U.K and internationally about where technology would take them. They 

had recently taken a paper through Board around enhancing existing services and how 
they made use of technology to allow patients to self-serve through portals.   

 
 
(The meeting commenced at 11.00 am and closed at 12.46 pm) 

 
 
CHAIRMAN ……………………………………………. 

 
Date of Signature ……………………………………………. 

Page 8



DRAFT 

Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee  

 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 

TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022 
 
Councillors Present: Claire Rowles (Chairman), Alan Macro (Vice-Chairman), Tony Linden 

and Jeff Brooks (present as substitute) 
 

Also Present: Andy Sharp (Executive Director (People)), Councillor Jeff Beck, Councillor 

Graham Bridgman (Portfolio Holder: Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Health and 
Wellbeing), Andrew Sharp (Chief Officer, Healthwatch), Vicky Phoenix (Principal Policy Officer - 
Scrutiny), Gordon Oliver (Principal Policy Officer), Chris Lowrie (Royal Berkshire NHS 

Foundation Trust), Michele Paley (Elysium Healthcare), Dr Kajal Patel (Berkshire West CCG), 
Jo Sherman (Elysium Healthcare), Nicola Costin-Davis (Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust) 

and Mark Foulkes (Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust) 
 

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting:  Councillor Andy Moore, Paul Coe and Belinda 

Seston (Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group)  
 

PART I 
 

8 Apologies 

9 Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 5 April 2022 were approved as a true and correct 

record and signed by the Chairman, subject to the following amendment: 

It was noted that Councillor Graham Bridgman was in attendance at the meeting. 

10 Declarations of Interest 

Councillors Claire Rowles and Tony Linden declared an interest in Agenda Item 5 by 
virtue of the fact that Councillor Rowles’ partner has a tenant who works at Thornford 

Park Hospital and Councillor Linden works for a company deploying advertising at petrol 
stations for Elysium Healthcare, but reported that, as their interest was a personal or an 
other registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to 

remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter. 

11 Petitions 

There were no petitions received.  

12 Thornford Park Hospital 

Jo Sherman, Hospital Director, Elysium Healthcare and Michele Paley, Elysium 
Healthcare, presented the report on Thornford Park Hospital (Agenda Item 5). 

Ms Sherman gave an overview on Elysium Healthcare and Thornford Park Hospital. This 

included the Operational Board, background of Elysium Healthcare and geographical 
coverage. The Strategic Plan for 2022 was explained with a number of aims highlighted.  

Page 9



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

Councillor Tony Linden asked for clarification around how Thornford Park Hospital was 
regulated. It was confirmed that the regulatory requirements were not affected by 

Australian ownership and they were regulated by the Care Quality Commission (CQC).  

Ms Sherman continued the presentation including an overview of the organisational 

structure of Thornford Park Hospital, how it had developed over recent years and the 
beds and wards that they had. They explained that had mostly male wards and two 
female wards. They clarified that PICU stood for Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit where 

high risk patients were for six to eight weeks. They were commissioned by NHS England 
and the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  

Jo Sherman then explained the action plan in response to the CQC report (slides 10 – 
12). Ms Sherman advised an example of restrictive practices was stopping takeaways 
after 10pm. They ensured that they did not have blanket rules for everyone and that 

everything was individually risk assessed. There were risks and so they ensured that 
they evidenced their decision making process and that service users were part of that 

process. It was clarified that ‘leave’ was time outside of the hospital which was 
individually risk assessed. Data was submitted to Provider Collaborative and other 
stakeholders.  

Ms Sherman explained the external audit and governance of Thornford Park Hospital. In 
addition to the CQC and internal governance, they were audited by NHS England, 

Provider Collaborative, NHS Wales, CCGs, Local Authorities and Advocacy. The 
Provider Collaborative was external NHS input involving specialised commissioning. This 
included independent sector and NHS groups. There was a lead Trust. These Provider 

Collaboratives helped to minimise out of area placements and also bring consistency of 
treatment, care and outcomes. They also came on site and reviewed their data. The 

Advocacy was a large presence in the hospital from two providers attending weekly to 
support patients with their voice.  

Jo Sherman moved on to advise the Committee of areas of achievement which included 

enhanced access to leave into the community, grounds and home. Ongoing collaborative 
working with external stakeholders was another area of achievement highlighted. This 

had meant working with NHS England in developing services locally and the 
development of specialist services for autism and learning disability. Finally they 
explained that their management of Covid was very good and they had no deaths within 

the hospital. They also managed to increase levels of leave despite Covid. Finally Jo 
Sherman advised they were keen to reduce the length of stay for people at hospital.  

Councillor Jeff Brooks commended the hospital for their management of Covid but noted 
concern in elements of the CQC report. Councillor Brooks highlighted the actions in the 
CQC report that must be taken and those that should be taken and requested assurance 

that action had been taken. He noted general care planning. Jo Sherman responded to 
confirm that there has been lots of coaching around care planning and ensuring the 

service user voice was within the care plans. They were monitored internally and by 
external stakeholders. The whole action plan was reviewed internally and externally by 
Provider Collaborative. These assurance processes ensured they provided evidence to 

show how they were moving along the action plan. They were also continuing the 
coaching and care planning which was ongoing. The same was for NEWS2 training 

which was in the induction and in update training for all staff.  

Councillor Brooks requested further assurance that they would ensure emergency 
equipment audits were put in place and more detail around the action plan and steps 

being taken. Jo Sherman advised the emergency equipment issue was identified on one 
ward last year and was actioned on that day. Subsequently they have done regular 

audits and additional audits to prevent this from happening again. Michele Paley advised 

Page 10



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

that she had commissioned audits across Elysium Healthcare last year and in April 2022 
to ensure medical equipment was in place.  

Councillor Jeff Beck highlighted that there was an over reliance on agency staff and that 
permanent staff were reported to have said that made them feel undervalued. It took time 

to become confident with agency staff. He noted that agency staff were more expensive 
and it would be more economical to have permanent staff. Michele Paley agreed they 
would prefer to employ their own staff rather than have agency staff. However there were 

significant shortages of registered nurses across the country. They had increased their 
focus on international recruitment. This week their 400th international nurse had just 

arrived. They had a strong focus to get them through their training and register with the 
Nursing and Midwifery Council. They had a significant programme around preceptorship 
which was encouraging newly qualified nurses to join them. They had an academy with 

ring fenced training time to make them a more attractive option for people to be 
employed by them. It was a challenging environment to retain staff. They had recruitment 

campaigns, a dedicated international nurse academy and international nurses arriving 
every three to four weeks. Thornford Park operated an assistant practitioner programme 
and a nurses’ associate programme. These were to recruit to different levels and 

disciplines to support the nursing team. Councillor Beck asked whether the concern 
about insufficient female staff for washing and dressing had been addressed. Jo 

Sherman advised that when allocating staff to wards they looked at skill mix and gender 
mix. They had two female wards and the workforce within those wards was 
predominantly female.  

Councillor Linden referred to the CQC report for his questions. Firstly he asked about the 
concern of patients of Hermitage and Bucklebury Wards who did not feel safe due to 

patients assaulting other patients. Jo Sherman responded that at the time there were 
difficult relationships between some patients on those wards. That had been addressed 
and they had worked closely with commissioners to ensure patients were moved on to 

alternative placements. Bucklebury Ward was an acute admission medium secure ward 
and they had a number of patients who transferred from prison. They had done a lot of 

work around how they could improve the experience for individuals. Concerns were not 
currently being reported in community patient forums.  

Councillor Linden asked about regular supervision of staff and recordings of that 

supervision. Jo Sherman advised that was particularly for PICU wards during the 
pandemic. They were struggling with staffing and had high levels of sickness due to 

Covid. They had a reduction in their compliance with supervision. This was shared with 
the CQC and with all other external stakeholders. That supervision compliance continued 
to be monitored. They contractually had to submit monthly supervision data and it had 

improved. Michele Paley advised they had undertaken a review of their supervision policy 
and had much clearer algorithms on how they measured and recorded it. This meant 

they had clearer data ensuring all staff were included. 

Councillor Linden asked about the management of patient risk on Bucklebury Ward. Jo 
Sherman advised that had been addressed through their coaching and care planning. 

That was then reviewed through their ward rounds by the multidisciplinary team.  

Councillor Linden asked for confirmation that the issue with observing patients had been 

addressed. Jo Sherman advised that the blindspot identified in the inspection had been 
addressed through additional mirrors. Councillor Linden asked for confirmation that the 
requirement notices had all been addressed. It was confirmed that they had been.  

Councillor Alan Macro asked how Thornford Park Hospital compared with the other 
hospitals in the group when it came to CQC ratings. Michele Paley advised that 

Thornford Park Hospital was not an outlier. They had varying types of services and they 

Page 11



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

tended to look not just at the overall rating but also dug down in terms of the service type 
and the wards. 

Councillor Macro raised concern that the blind spot was not picked up internally and 
asked if there were internal processes to prevent this. Jo Sherman advised they had an 

annual ligature audit that took place. This was updated by Michele Paley last year. 
Michele Paley confirmed this was a learning point that had led to a review of the ligature 
risk management policy and procedures, and brought in a revised ligature audit tool as a 

result. They had not been strong enough in including blind spots in their audits 
previously. Michele Paley advised the CQC guidance on ligatures had been withdrawn 

and that work to review national guidance / standards on how ligature audits were 
reviewed had been delayed. This was a co-produced piece of work that would be 
launched on 25th June 2022. There would be a subsequent review internally following 

that to meet national guidance. Councillor Macro asked if audits would occur after 
refurbishments also. Michele Paley confirmed that any changes to configuration 

(decoration, moving things around, change in a service user profile) would trigger a 
repeat of the ligature audit.  

Councillor Claire Rowles asked if the CQC report came as a shock or if it was 

anticipated. Jo Sherman advised that for some parts of the report they were not 
surprised, but other areas they did challenge. In particular the facilitation of leave and so 

they submitted further evidence to the CQC around that. 

13 Cancer Treatment 

Chris Lowrie, Directorate Manager Berkshire Cancer Centre, Nicola Costin-Davis, Royal 

Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (RBFT) and Mark Foulkes, Macmillan Cancer Lead and 
nurse consultant RBFT, presented the report on Cancer Performance at RBFT (Agenda 

Item 6). 

Mark Foulkes presented the report on cancer services at Royal Berkshire Hospital and 
the surrounding area. He started with an overview of cancer services at RBFT including 

the population served and the main sites for treatment. He gave a summary of the 
Cancer Access Standards including nine key targets of diagnosis and treatment, and the 

national ambitions. Mr Foulkes highlighted that to meet these targets they needed more 
patients referred in for assessment. Personalised care was a key ambition at RBFT. He 
noted the performance management in cancer care and that it would continue into the 

future. Mr Foulkes then gave an overview of the cancer pathway noting the challenges in 
diagnostics which would be detailed later in the presentation.  

Andrew Sharp, West Berkshire Healthwatch, requested to ask a question. The 
Committee resolved to suspend standing orders to allow Andrew Sharp to speak and this 
remained for the rest of the committee meeting.  

Andrew Sharp asked why diagnosis in the UK was a challenge compared to Europe. He 
asked if the 75% target was realistic. Mark Foulkes agreed that delayed diagnosis of 

cancer might in part be due to stoicism and groups of patients who tended to present 
later with cancer. This could be men and people who did not speak English as a first 
language. Those admitted into hospital tended to be older people and people who were 

more isolated. This was particularly the case during Covid as anecdotal evidence 
supported that people who were isolated tended to present later with symptoms. Dr Kajal 

Patel (Cancer Clinical Lead, Clinical Commissioning Group, CCG) added that it was quite 
complex. There were different factors leading to late presentation. These included 
deprivation, language barriers and cultural barriers. Screening uptake in different groups 

and awareness of red flags were also important but complicated. Any patient presenting 
with a red flag symptom was seen quickly but there were some cancers that had vague 

Page 12



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

symptoms to start off with which were hard to pinpoint. These could go on for a long time 
before the cancer manifested. This led to a vague symptom pathway which GPs could 

refer patients on to. This was a suspected cancer of unknown pathway. There was work 
to improve awareness and increase screening. There were different layers and so many 

approaches were needed to have faster diagnoses. For every 100 people referred by 
GPs for a suspected cancer, on average less than seven had a cancer. Of course they 
wanted to refer all but that would subject more people to CT scans, high dose radiation 

and going through the pathway. It was those 7% that needed treatment on time.  

Andrew Sharp highlighted that the communications across Berkshire West in terms of 

reaching out to the groups, screening and prostate cancer were impressive. He noted 
public health could be involved more in the awareness side and it being acceptable to go 
to the GPs.  

Councillor Tony Linden noted Macmillan Cancer’s report highlighting longer waits and 
later presentations. He asked how much change there had been locally rather than 

nationally. Were the national concerns coming in locally? He asked why the performance 
levels had dropped significantly. 

Councillor Jeff Brooks highlighted the 62 day wait and asked if there was any correlation 

with that and the outcomes, and further whether that would vary depending on the cancer 
type. He also asked why the target was 62 days and whether it was about outcomes or 

capacity. Mark Foulkes advised that the 62 day target was a national target set many 
years ago to bring the whole length of people waiting down by setting a line in the sand. 
He confirmed the faster you diagnosed patients the more likely they were to survive. In 

an ideal world they would like to reduce that 62 day target even further. However with the 
current situation, particularly in diagnostics, that would be difficult. He also highlighted 

that the targets drove change and investment, and many more issues would be touched 
on later in the presentation. Councillor Brooks asked whether there should be variation in 
the targets depending on the cancer type. Mark Foulkes responded that it would be very 

difficult to manage, however there were some other targets for different cancer types. If it 
happened across the board that would miss some cancers that could be slow or fast 

growing and so the general cancer waiting times were the best fit. Chris Lowrie 
highlighted that even though there were general targets there was still clinical 
prioritisation that occurred. Patients were prioritised on clinical priority and some patients 

that could wait sometimes did if they needed to get more urgent patients in. 

Chris Lowrie continued the presentation and explained the graph in the report on two 

week wait referrals for patients referred with red flag symptoms. He highlighted the 
significant jump in average referrals per week after September 2021. He noted the peaks 
in referrals more recently and how busy they were. The reduced attendances in wave 

one of the pandemic, when screening programmes were temporarily suspended, 
increased health anxiety and GP access made it a complicated picture to understand the 

causal factors. They were expecting it to continue to grow but they did not know at what 
rate. There had been a 53% increase in breast cancer referrals and other cancers such 
as gynaecology, head and neck were up a third. Prostate cancer cases were particularly 

difficult to get to the GP and so they had done partnership working to increase referrals 
from men being screened. In terms of the 62 day access standard, during Covid they 

were oscillating around the access standard level of 80% but there was then rapid 
deterioration more recently. This was due to normal issues, increase in demand and MRI 
capacity. In March there was an uptick and the waits had improved. Action was taken 

quickly. However the scanning facilities took more time to address and a new provider 
started last weekend. This would take a few weeks to recover. 

Page 13



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

Councillor Rowles highlighted the concern around men stepping forward and whether 
there was something that could be done locally. Mark Foulkes agreed that publicity could 

target specific groups. Particularly older men and men from Afro-Caribbean backgrounds. 
They could also target demographically through GPs. Chris Lowrie explained there was a 

joint project with the CCG to create cancer champions in communities. For example 
targeting Nepalise and Urdu speaking communities. To reach hard to reach groups would 
make a difference to cancer sites in the future.  

Councillor Alan Macro noted the recent uptick in this standard and asked how confident 
RBFT were in returning to the 85% target. Chris Lowrie highlighted the NHS England 

picture. In particular workforce concerns nationally. They had innovative roles such as a 
nurse consultant specialising in breast cancer treatment. They were taking this incredibly 
seriously and had an executive led steering group planned to go through specific issues, 

barriers, perceived barriers and what the future holds. This would help to build the 
strategy going forward. Workforce would continue to be a dominant factor at play.  

Chris Lowrie continued the presentation to explain the 62 day breach trend. Diagnostics 
dominated the reason for breaches. This was not simple to resolve and it was difficult to 
manage staff and patient expectations. There had also been an uptick in patient choice 

since Covid. This graph informed actions going forward. The Thames Valley position was 
then explained showing RBFT along with other sites in the Thames Valley. He noted how 

complex the pathway was. Chris Lowrie then summarised actions taken on slide nine in 
the report.  He highlighted that holistic elements needed to support patients with cancer.  

Councillor Linden asked how these figures looked locally in West Berkshire now and in 

the next 12 months. Chris Lowrie confirmed the data was local and that generally the 
profiles looked similar across the area. The West Berkshire figures and Reading figures 

were no worse than the national picture and in many places were significantly better. 
How that translated into the experience of people was also important and their data 
showed that they had maintained that patient experience against the odds. Even though 

there was deterioration around their diagnostics, it was not out of line with the national 
picture. Councillor Linden asked how the actions taken would impact on the figures. Chris 

Lowrie said that there were lots of moving pieces. The national strategy around 
community diagnostic hubs and capacity would be a pivotal change. The histopathology 
work, which was largely workforce related, would be coming in and both would make a 

marked difference in performance. The biggest single thing was around workforce and 
training a workforce for tomorrow. Nicola Costin-Davis confirmed that many issues were 

much wider than their strategy and about the pipeline of workforce. 

Councillor Macro raised concern about blood tests being rejected by pathology and what 
was being done to address those kind of issues.  Chris Lowrie advised they had a 

significant workforce in pathology but that he was not aware this was a common problem 
with cancer pathways.  

Dr Kajal Patel was then invited to present on the Wider Cancer Pathways of Berkshire 
West CCG. Dr Patel gave an overview of her role as a GP and Cancer Lead in Berkshire 
West. She worked with partners in improving cancer awareness and referrals of cancer 

to improve the process for parents. Dr Patel highlighted the Cancer Steering Group 
bringing together people from RBFT, GPs, Public Health, Macmillan Cancer charity 

executives, Cancer Research UK facilitators and Cancer Alliance. These meetings and 
the relationships brought about a lot of progress and changes could be made quickly.  

Dr Patel gave an overview of some of the work in 2021-22. These were priorities from the 

local Cancer Framework and the NHS Long Term Plan. During the recovery from Covid 
they had local campaigns, webinars and patient participation group talks to encourage 

people to see their GP when they had red flag symptoms. Reassurances were given to 

Page 14



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

support people concerned about Covid in hospitals. Secondly the Cancer Champions 
programme was highlighted. This was grass roots people talking to the community. There 

were 40 volunteers trained to share experiences, leaflets, stalls etc to help break cultural 
barriers. Thirdly the Cancer Collaborative Project was to make test leaflets and results 

more applicable to patients with different languages. The Quality Improvement Scheme 
was to look at diagnosis of cancer and getting patients diagnosed with cancer earlier. 
Practices were asked to increase screening for breast, bowel and cervical cancer and to 

focus on traditionally low uptake groups for attending health care appointments, such as 
learning disability groups and mental health patients. Practices were also asked to do an 

audit on the route analysis to see what led to the patient’s journey of cancer. This was to 
gather local clinical learning to be shared and help the practice to be responsive to the 
local population. The Cancer Care Review Scheme was to ensure cancer patients 

received primary care also from GPs and to link with the voluntary sector. The 
Personalised Care was through Holistic Needs Assessments and End of Treatment 

Summaries. They had held wellbeing events through the cancer rehab service. They also 
had Prostrate Cancer awareness campaigns in the community to increase urgent cancer 
referrals.  

They had done a lot of GP support and education. Some through Covid on pathway 
changes, new tests, the local vague symptom pathway and support packs. Dr Patel 

highlighted the Cancer Steering Group explained earlier which brought together key 
stakeholders monthly to discuss and agree on cancer priorities for local patients. Dr Patel 
then gave an overview of the key priorities for 2022 and 2023 given in the report 

including cancer champions, implementing Faster Diagnosis pathways, personalised 
care nurse facilitators and personalised care.  

Councillor Macro highlighted concern about impact of Covid on reducing regular reviews 
by GPs, for example diabetic reviews, and whether this lack of regular contact with GPs 
would store up problems for the future. Dr Patel advised that in their practice they called 

people for reviews as normal despite increased pressure on access. Health anxiety and 
mental health increases had impacted the system and so there was not an infinite 

amount of appointments. All targets were strived towards. The difficulty in recruiting 
meant they were using more team members to help with some of these reviews. For 
example pharmacists doing medication reviews in place of a GP. There was a GP 

shortage. Digital access had also increased pressure on GP time which was outside of 
the appointment time. This meant that points of contact with GPs had doubled or tripled 

which increased administrative workload on top of clinic times. Councillor Macro asked if 
there would be an impact on using other members of staff to undertake reviews or were 
they less likely to pick up on cancer. Dr Patel advised that it depended on what the 

appointment was for. Red flag symptoms would always go to the GP. Patients were only 
booked in to see patients for something that was in that clinician’s scope of practice.  

Councillor Brooks referred to the slides and noted that the phrasing included some jargon 
and raised concern about digital access increasing pressure on GPs. Councillor Brooks 
asked for examples around what the cancer champions did. Dr Patel explained some of 

the terms used in the presentation. Dr Patel agreed there were difficulties with digital 
access and there was a fine balance to strike. Dr Patel gave an example of a cancer 

champion talking at a community centre in Reading about cervical screening. She invited 
women, had leaflets in different languages and gave an introduction and answered basic 
questions. Another example was a cancer champion doing a talk in a mosque on bowel 

screening. This was not someone medical, but their own peer giving advice and 
information in a place of non-confrontation. A champion attended Reading Festival to 

give advice on screening. One cancer champion went on the Nepalese Ghurkha radio 

Page 15



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

every Friday morning talking about different topics. They were trained to identify red flags 
in order to communicate it to different groups.  

Councillor Linden noted that there was potentially a barrier with receptionists who were 
not medically trained. He also noted the shortage of pharmacists nationally. Dr Patel 

explained that pharmacists specialised and primary care pharmacy was a new 
phenomenon. This reflected that primary care was changing where they were doing more 
specialised care than they had done before. There were new ways of working to meet 

demand and everyone worked at the top of their licence.  

Councillor Graham Bridgman informed the Committee that there was a West Berkshire 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment in draft for consultation.  

14 Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group Update 

There was no Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group update given.  

15 Healthwatch Update 

 Andrew Sharp, Chief Officer Healthwatch West Berkshire, was invited to report on 

current activities and feedback from local residents.  

Andrew Sharp advised that they were currently surveying asylum seekers in hotels in 

West Berkshire. This was about their health needs and interactions. Their mental health 
requirements were possibly not being met. This was a challenge across the whole 
system but noted the incidents in Reading and Glasgow were mental health related. They 

were working with Reading refugees. Mr Sharp had written to all Chief Executives across 
Berkshire West highlighting this concern. There were also concerns around Rwanda for 

refugees. Andrew Sharp commended Thatcham Medical Centre and Theale Medical 
Centre.  

Mr Sharp advised the Committee that the CCG had spoken to Healthwatch to create a 

maternity forum for West Berkshire that was not based around a Trust.   

Thinking Together 6, the mental health service user, public and professional event, was 
planned for October 2022. It would be based around children and young adults’ mental 

health. 

Mr Sharp mentioned Continuing Health Care and the need for an update from the CCG.  

Finally Mr Sharp raised the Huntercombe House CQC report and it requiring scrutiny.  

16 West Berkshire Council Health Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

The Chairman explained that the Partners Protocol had been amended in response to 
questions raised at the Health Scrutiny Committee on 5 April 2022 and that this was not 
an agreement but a way of working that West Berkshire Council wished to adopt. 

Councillor Brooks noted the partnership working in the protocol and highlighted that 
scrutiny, challenging questions and making recommendations were also part of the 

scrutiny committee.  Councillor Rowles advised of their role as a critical friend and 
allowing more time in future meetings for questions.  

RESOLVED that: 

 
1. The final protocol and the process for dealing with proposed 

substantial developments of variations to health services be endorsed. 

2. The protocol be approved. 

Page 16



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 14 JUNE 2022 - MINUTES 
 

17 Appointment of Task Group 

The Chairman asked Members to consider the proposed Terms of Reference for the 

Healthcare Provisions in New Developments Task Group. To agree membership, the 
Chairman and a timescale.  

The Terms of Reference were agreed. The membership and timescales would be 
decided after the meeting. 

18 Task and Finish Group Update 

Councillor Alan Macro advised the Committee that the Continuing Health Care task group 
had met and agreed the work programme. The task group would report back to the 

Health Scrutiny Committee on the 13 December 2022.  

19 Health Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

The Chairman invited Members to make suggestions on items to add to the Work 
Programme. The Chairman noted that all suggestions would go through the prioritisation 
process.  

Councillor Tony Linden noted pharmacists as a possible item. The Chairman noted 
Huntercombe House. Councillor Alan Macro suggested blood tests and phlebotomy at 

West Berkshire Community Hospital.  

The Chairman highlighted the form on the website for members of the public to nominate 
topics for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider.  

 
 

(The meeting commenced at 1.33 pm and closed at 4.11 pm) 
 
 
CHAIRMAN ……………………………………………. 

 
Date of Signature ……………………………………………. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Health Scrutiny Committee – 20 September 2022 

 

 

 

Item 3 – Declarations of Interest 

Verbal Item 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



Health Scrutiny Committee – 20 September 2022 

 

 

 

Item 4 – Petitions 

Verbal Item 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



Health and Scrutiny Committee

Berkshire West

(Newbury & District)

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 5



SCAS Performance

Acuity levels remain high, this adds pressure to the 
system as a higher proportion of demand requires a 
faster response. 

Cat2 demand has been running at avg. of 50% for the 
current financial year. With a reduction in Cat3 
demand. 

Hear & Treat demand remains at levels seen in 
2022/23

P
age 24



BW Performance

Acuity levels remain high, this adds pressure to the 
system as a higher proportion of demand requires a 
faster response. 

As with SCAS demand BW has seen an increase in 
acuity July saw 54% of the demand in the area as 
Cat2. 

During the same period for 2022/23 Cat2 
demand was 45%. 

P
age 25



SCAS Service Outcome

SCAS conveyance levels are at their lowest seen over 
the last 4 years currently at 53% of demand outcomes. 

There has been little variance in the See and Treat 
outcomes. P

age 26



BW Service Outcome

BW service outcomes show the same profile as overall SCAS. 

The See and Treat outcome is slightly higher than SCAS at 
1.59%

P
age 27



SCAS Hospital Delays 

Apr-Aug average turnaround 42mins 

Variance is between 40 & 43mins throughout the 
financial year 

Average hospital arrivals are 28k per month, the peak 
was seen in May reaching nearly 30k, remaining 
months have been running between 27and 28k.

P
age 28



BW Hospital Delays

Apr-Aug shows an average turnaround of 40mins, 
slightly lower than the SCAS average.

As with SCAS the peak in hospital arrivals was seen I 
May, but this is also when the lowest turnaround times 
were seen showing no correlation between the two 
datasets. 

P
age 29



CET activity

On average 7.4% of SCAS Cat1 incidents are 
stopped by member of community engagement 
and training, this could be Community or Co-
Responder. 

For the BW area this average is 5.6%, with the 
percentage declining from May onwards to its 
lowest point in Aug. 

P
age 30



Thank you

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



Ratings

Overall trust quality rating Inadequate –––

Are services safe? Inadequate –––

Are services effective? Good –––

Are services caring? Good –––

Are services responsive? Requires Improvement –––

Are services well-led? Inadequate –––

SouthSouth CentrCentralal AmbulancAmbulancee SerServicvicee
NHSNHS FFoundationoundation TTrustrust
Inspection report

Unit 7-8 Talisman Business Centre
Talisman Road
Bicester
OX26 6HR
Tel: 01869365000
www.scas.nhs.uk

Date of inspection visit: 6/7 April 2022 10/11 May
2022
Date of publication: 25/08/2022

1 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 33



Our reports

We plan our next inspections based on everything we know about services, including whether they appear to be getting
better or worse. Each report explains the reason for the inspection.

This report describes our judgement of the quality of care provided by this trust. We based it on a combination of what
we found when we inspected and other information available to us. It included information given to us from people who
use the service, the public and other organisations.

We rated well-led (leadership) from our inspection of trust management, taking into account what we found about
leadership in individual services. We rated other key questions by combining the service ratings and using our
professional judgement.

We award the Use of Resources rating based on an assessment carried out by NHS Improvement. Our combined rating
for Quality and Use of Resources summarises the performance of the trust taking into account the quality of services as
well as the trust’s productivity and sustainability. This rating combines our five trust-level quality ratings of safe,
effective, caring, responsive and well-led with the Use of Resources rating.

Overall summary

What we found
Overall trust
We carried out this announced inspection of South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust as part of our
continual checks on the safety and quality of healthcare services and because we had recent concerns about the quality
of governance and training.

We also inspected the well-led key question for the trust leadership.

We inspected two core services, the Emergency Operations Centre and Urgent and Emergency Care.

The Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) receives and triages 999 calls from members of the public, as well as other
emergency services. It provides advice and dispatches an ambulance to the scene as appropriate. The EOC also provides
assessment and treatment advice to callers who do not need an ambulance response, a service known as “hear and
treat”.

The EOC manages requests by healthcare professionals to convey people either from the community into hospital or
between hospitals. It also receives and triages 999 calls relating to major incidents, and other major emergencies, and
dispatches the appropriate response as a Category 1 provider under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (Part 1); this can
include hazardous area response teams.

The Urgent and Emergency Care core service covers the assessment, treatment and care of patients at the scene by
ambulance crews with transport to hospital, as well as the assessment, treatment and discharge from the care of the
service.

Our findings

2 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 34



It covers the provider’s major incident planning and response as a Category 1 provider under the Civil Contingencies Act
2004 (Part 1), as well as planning for and responses to other major emergencies.

It also includes preparedness for, and the support of, events and mass gatherings. Special operations such as serious
sand protracted incidents use many of the resources and techniques used in major incidents such as hazardous area
response teams and these are considered as part of this core service.

Emergency response from community first responder schemes involving members of the public is also included. High
dependency and intensive care transport between hospitals or other care settings is included, as well as other specialist
transport that requires an emergency ambulance. This might be from hospital for end-of-life care at home, or mental
health patients requiring specialist care.

To understand how services were being delivered, we reviewed information that we hold on this provider and sought
feedback from stakeholders including the clinical commissioning groups, Healthwatch and GP practices within the area
served by the trust. We spoke with staff and people using the service, spoke with leaders at all levels and reviewed both
national data and data that the trust supplied to us. We carried out an anonymous survey of staff.

We did not inspect the core service Patient Transport Services, nor the 111 service. We are monitoring the progress of
improvements to services and will re-inspect them as appropriate.

It is recognised that the inspection took place at a time when the NHS was under pressure because of the effects of
Coronavirus. Some of the shortcomings identified pre-date the pandemic but others have been exacerbated because of
restrictions and the impact of Coronavirus.

Our rating of services went down. We rated them as inadequate because:

We rated effective and caring as good. We rated responsive as requires improvement. Safe and well-led were rated as
inadequate

In rating the trust, we considered the current ratings of the resilience and patient transport services that were not
inspected this time.

• Safeguarding was not given enough priority. There was insufficient assurance that processes were protecting people,
despite the Commission raising concerns with the trust in November 2021.

• The identification, reporting, investigation and sharing of learning from serious incidents was not in accordance with
the NHS Serious Incident Framework.

• Trends in incidents, when identified, were not investigated or responded to in a way that mitigated future risks to
patients.

• Essential equipment was not always available and working, when needed.

• The trust was not meeting the statutory Duty of Candour requirements

• The trust leaders were dismissive of people raising concerns and did not adhere to its own policy for whistle blowers.
Sometimes staff who raised concerns were treated badly.

• Allegations against staff and leaders were not always followed up appropriately.

Our findings

3 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 35



• Medicines were not always managed safely or effectively.

• The trust was not meeting key performance standards for call and response times.

• Delays in reaching people who had requested emergency assistance were frequent and prolonged. This resulted in
poor outcomes for some people.

• Some of the calls were not handled in line with trust processes and this resulted in delays to people receiving help,
sometimes leading to poor outcomes.

• There were no formal appraisals and not all staff were completing mandatory training.

• Emergency ambulances were not always staffed by crews with the skills to provide a full complement of emergency
care to people with life threatening conditions.

• Some people were not given the necessary pain relieving medicines.

• There was insufficient attention to infection prevention and control measures.

• Staffing and resources were not able to meet the demands put upon the service.

• The governance and risk processes were not working to protect people and improve services.

• At the time of the inspection, the provider was not meeting the requirements of the Health and Safety at Work
(General Risk and Workplace Management) Regulations 2016 because of a pigeon infestation that had not been
resolved effectively.

• There was poor understanding of the Mental Capacity Act (2005) and how this impacted on the work of frontline staff.

However

• Frontline staff were working hard to deliver compassionate care to people with whom they had contact. They were
proud of their work and how they had managed throughout the pandemic.

• We saw and heard about examples where staff had been particularly kind and 'gone the extra mile to meet the needs
of patients and their families.

• There were numerous examples of innovative practice that supported people getting the right care, in the right place.

How we carried out the inspection

In order to understand the experience of patients and quality of service being provided, our comprehensive inspection
consisted of;

• Visits to nine sites managed by the trust.

• Observation at one of the Emergency Operations Centers.

• Discussions with staff of all grades, including middle managers, administrative staff, call handlers, clinicians,
volunteers, make ready staff and staff working in specialist roles such as the Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officers.

• Visited four acute hospital emergency departments to observe care, handovers and to speak with emergency
department staff about the interface between the acute hospital and the ambulance trust.

• Conducted an anonymous survey of trust staff.

• Invited feedback from 20 GP practices across the region serviced by the trust.

Our findings

4 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 36



• Spoke with representatives from the clinical commissioning groups, the local authority and invited comments from
Healthwatch.

• Spoke with nineteen patients who had been brought to the acute hospitals by ambulance and six relatives of people
who were unable to tell us about their experience

• Spoke with staff from the emergency departments in the acute hospitals including three consultants, two emergency
nurse practitioners, four registered nurses and a senior nurse manager.

• Observed care of patients in waiting ambulances, whilst being moved into the emergency department and during
handovers.

• Reviewed information held about the trust and provided by the trust.

• Reviewed board papers and interviewed board members and senior leaders.

• A pharmacy inspector reviewed the medicines management.

You can find further information about how we carry out our inspections on our website: www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/
how-we-do-our-job/what-we-do-inspection.

What people who use the service said

Most patients were positive about the care and support they received from the service. Some felt the crews were
indifferent and said they “just did their job and no more” whilst others fed back about individual crews who had gone
beyond expectations. There were two instances where relatives felt that patients had not had appropriate analgesia,
although this was accepted by the patient as “one of those things”.

However, we also heard concerns about the excessive waiting times for calls to be answered, for an ambulance to arrive
and then for admission to the emergency department when the ambulance arrived at the hospital. Most felt it was not
the fault of the ambulance crews but were very unhappy about the consequences of delays.

In addition to our discussion with key trust staff, we received a commentary about the management of resources from
NHSIE.

The trust was managing resources well with the commentary saying that;

• The audit committee had clear terms of reference.

• Roles and responsibilities were delegated via the standing financial instructions (issued April 2021) which are
available to all staff.

• Finance partners worked with operational teams to ensure that they receive the required financial management
support and guidance.

• There were established, regular processes for finance staff to review financial performance.

• Responsibilities for budget holders were clearly laid out in the trust’s standing financial instructions.

• The audit committee (which has delegated authority from the board) received the Board Assurance Framework and
strategic risk register at each meeting, with the purpose of seeking assurance that effective risk management was in
place.

Our findings

5 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 37



• The executive team received and reviewed updates from all directorates relating to risk management in addition to
the Board Assurance Framework and strategic risk register. The Executive Director of Finance had responsibility for
financial risk management.

• The trust had also established a risk assurance and compliance committee which comprised the executive directors
and the company secretary. This carried out a deep-dive review of the trust’s biggest risks and ensured that
appropriate mechanisms were in place to provide assurance over the management of those risks.

• The board considered risks faced by the trust on a regular basis. For example, it received the Board Assurance
Framework at each public board meeting.

• The trust’s financial position was reviewed at the executive team and the board. The trust’s position was included
within the Hampshire & Isle of Wight ICS finance report which was reviewed by the Integrated care System’s finance
director group.

• The financial information received by the board included a balance of board and divisional level and covered both
actual and future-looking projections.

• Financial performance was reviewed and challenged at the executive team and board

• Investment business cases included costs and considered financial and non-financial returns on investment.

• The trust maintained a corporate risk register which was reviewed through the risk, assurance and compliance
committee and audit committee.

• The finance function engaged with operational management at all levels within the organisation.

• The trust had an anti-fraud and bribery policy which was issued in December 2021 (to be reviewed December 2025).
This was led by the nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS).

• The trust communicated its financial plan and position throughout the organisation.

• Staff were encouraged to be open and honest through key trust policies and procedures, notably the anti-fraud and
bribery policy, standards of business conduct and conflict of interest policy and anti-bribery policy. These were
covered as part of the staff induction process.

• All cost improvement programmes (CIPs) went through a quality impact assessment process including sign off by
executive clinicians.

• The trust used benchmarking data to identify potential efficiencies. The trust also benchmarked sickness and
recruitment and retention rates with other providers.

• The finance function had a clear plan for improving financial management processes.

• The executive director of finance participated in the ambulance sector Finance Directors Network, which discussed
emerging issues and shared best practice.

Outstanding practice

We found the following outstanding practice:

• SCAS were the first ambulance service to work with an acute NHS trust and introduce pulse oximetry to monitor the
oxygen levels of patients with COVID-19 whilst they remained at home, to reduce the need for admission and improve
both the patient experience and the burden of high admission rates on the NHS.

Our findings

6 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 38



• A trial of paramedic-led home blood testing for frail and elderly patients who required an ambulance helped to
prevent the need for transfer to hospital in more than half of cases. In a pilot study led by SCAS and an acute NHS
Foundation Trust, 52% of patients who were initially identified as requiring hospital admission were successfully
managed at home. It was made possible by using specialist paramedics to take blood samples at the scene and
discuss the results with hospital doctors remotely to determine the next steps.

• An initiative developed by SCAS was seeing research paramedics arrive rapidly on scene to deliver a new trial
treatment for head injuries in older adults. Led at SCAS by the assistant medical director, the move is part of a study
into the use of a drug which may prevent life-threatening or life-changing bleeds on the brain, known as intracranial
bleeding. Although traumatic brain injury (TBI) accounts for half of all trauma admissions in the over 50s in the UK,
and is mostly due to falls, more than 90% of the 1.4 million TBIs seen in emergency departments each year are initially
classed as ‘mild’.

• SCAS worked with Buckinghamshire New University, in partnership and the London Ambulance Service NHS Trust
(LAS), to provide a new BSc (Hons) Paramedic Science course which started in September 2021.

Areas for improvement

As we had identified widespread concerns about the effectiveness of the trust governance and impact of this on the
services provided, we served a warning notice under section 29A of the Care Act 2014. This notice is issued where it
appears to the Commission that the quality of healthcare provided by an NHS trust or NHS foundation trust “requires
significant improvement”. This report is supplementary to the warning notice.

Action the trust MUST take is necessary to comply with its legal obligations. Action a trust SHOULD take is because it was
not doing something required by a regulation, but it would be disproportionate to find a breach of the regulation
overall, to prevent it failing to comply with legal requirements in future, or to improve services.

Trust wide

Action the trust MUST take to improve:

• The trust must ensure all staff complete safeguarding training at the role appropriate level and any additional role
specific training in line with the trust target. Regulation 18 (2) (a).

• The trust must ensure it takes staff’s concerns seriously and takes demonstrable action to address their concerns.
This to include where staff have raised concerns relating to bullying, harassment and sexually inappropriate
behaviours. Regulation 17(2)(b).

• The trust must ensure that incidents are identified, reported and investigated in line with the NHS Serious Incident
Reporting Framework, that action is taken to mitigate risks and that learning is shared across the organisation.
Regulation 17 (2)(b)(e).

• The board must be sighted on accurate information about serious incidents occurring at the trust to enable strategic
oversight and planning. Regulation 17 (2)(b)(e).

• The trust must ensure that where trends in adverse incidents are known that these are fully investigated, and action
is taken to reduce future risks. 17 (2)(b)(e).

• The trust must ensure that it meets the statutory requirements of the duty of candour. Regulation 20.

Our findings

7 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 39



• The trust must ensure that it listens and responds to staff who raise concerns in line with their own policy and the
Public Interest Disclosure Act (1998)

• The trust must ensure the governance and risks processes are fit for purpose and ensure the ongoing assessment,
monitoring and improve the quality and safety of the services provided. Regulation 17, (1) (2) (a) (b).

• The trust must provide a separate Mental Capacity Act (2005) Policy and ensure that staff understand the principles
and application of the Mental Capacity Act (2005) Regulation 17(1)

• The trust must ensure medicines are managed in accordance with the national guidance and that only authorised
persons have access to controlled drugs. Regulation 12(2)(7)

• The provider must ensure that systems and processes for managing safeguarding within the trust are adequately
resourced, effective and monitored by the board. Regulation 13 (1)(2)(3)

Action the trust SHOULD take to improve:

• The trust should ensure it provides appraisals and continuous professional development to all staff.

• The trust should ensure that staff complete mandatory training appropriate to their roles and responsibilities.

• The trust should consider how to improve communication and relationships between staff and senior leaders.

• The trust should ensure it continues working towards supporting the workforce in order to reduce the pressure and
improve staff morale.

• The trust should ensure that it continues to work towards meeting the key performance indicators on clinical call
back times, call abandonment rates and call response times.

• The trust should review the arrangements for the role of the FTSUG to improve the speak up culture.

• The trust should consider asking staff and patients with less positive experiences to present to the board to allow
more opportunities for learning.

• The trust should consider ways to monitor outcomes for patients who are not transferred to hospital to ensure the
pathways are used effectively and that decisions are made in the patients’ best interest.

• The trust should consider revising their diversion policy to ensure they are transferred to hospital care in a timely way.

Urgent and emergency care core service

Action the trust SHOULD take to improve:

• The trust should ensure that medicines are always kept safely, whether in stations or on vehicles.

• The trust should ensure that any shortfalls in infection prevention and control are reviewed, and action taken where
needed.

• The trust should ensure ambulances are staffed by appropriately skilled crews.

• The trust should ensure that staff have enough time to report adverse incidents.

• The trust should ensure that staff, particularly newly qualified staff, receive appropriate clinical support and
supervision to enable them to provide safe patient care.

Emergency Operations Centre

Our findings

8 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 40



Action the trust SHOULD take to improve:

• The trust should continue to identify ways to recruit staff according to their current strategy in order to improve the
call handling times.

• The trust should ensure all staff receive a timely appraisal to assure leaders that competency is maintained.

• The trust should improve response times in line with the Ambulance Response Programme.

• The trust should act to ensure the clinical welfare call are completed within the targeted timeframes.

• The trust should optimise information systems to make less labour intensive for staff and improve efficiency in
reporting.

• The trust should review methods of communication between senior executives and call takers in the EOC to ensure
important information is received and understood.

Is this organisation well-led?

Our rating of well-led went down. We rated it as inadequate.

Leadership

Some leaders had the skills and abilities to run the service. They understood and managed the priorities and
issues the service faced but the board was not always aware of risks that were not shared at board level. Some
executives were visible and approachable in the service for patients and staff, but many staff reported a
disconnect and did not know who their senior leaders were. They supported staff to develop their skills and take
on more senior roles.

Most leaders had the experience and abilities to lead effectively however this was not consistent across all leadership
which increased risk.

There was a board that included a mix of skilled and knowledgeable members. However, there was not always enough
challenge. There was also a mixture of established non-executive directors and very well qualified newly appointed
board members. The chair was newly appointed, having started in April 2022, but had significant senior leadership
experience in the NHS.

Similarly, the executives were a balance of very established and newer members, with an interim Director of Patient
Care and Service Transformation. There were some credible executives who knew their area well and who provided
clear and visible leadership to their own teams and those they interfaced with. Notably, the Executive Director of
Finance and the Chief Operating Office, along with the Chief Executive offered confidence and a strong sense of direction
of travel to the organisation. The variance of skills and visibility cascaded throughout the organisation with some middle
managers being reported as particularly skilled and supportive. We saw some middle-grade leaders who were
undoubtedly committed and knew their area of control well.

The Assistant Director of Organisational Development was new in post but brought an enthusiasm for leadership
development as a way of driving improvement. They had good ideas, although it was too soon to see how these
impacted on culture and quality.

Our findings

9 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 41



Some executives and senior leaders were less aware of their roles and responsibilities. This meant that the focus of their
work, their decision making, and their priorities may not always have been in the interests of patients and the staff they
managed.

Some staff talked about a disconnect with the senior leaders but were generally far more positive about their local
leaders; they felt their part of the organisation worked well but that they were removed from the wider trust, to an
extent. There were clearly good relationships with local leaders, but there was also an admission that some managers
‘swept things under the carpet’ or didn’t respond to concerns.

There were no designated deputies for the executive roles. The organisation had no succession planning but did manage
contingency cover. They considered themselves an organisation that developed their staff and who were committed to
learning, but the opportunity to build and practice the skills required for executive posts was not made available in a
planned way.

Patient safety was the area most affected by increased demand and shortcomings in governance. There had been
several changes of senior management over a short period. We were told after the inspection that there had been an
internal backfill arrangement. We were not made aware of the cover arrangements during either the core service or well-
led inspections.

At local level, increased demands and staffing vacancies also meant that patient safety was the area most affected when
the system escalation levels increased. Middle managers and clinical educators were covering an increased number of
shifts and this resulted in their core leadership, supervision and educational roles taking a back seat. It is acknowledged
that the service and local NHS system had been operating at high levels of demand and this was an attempt to mitigate
the risks.

We met many staff who were benefitting and enjoying developmental opportunities across the trust; this left their posts
unfilled. Many staff were ‘acting up’ and there was a risk that some were insufficiently experienced or skilled to fulfil the
responsibilities of their posts. Some staff told us they were not confident and did not feel supported in their role. Others
did not understand the work they were responsible for and were unable to answer basic questions relating to their
sphere of responsibility. We saw examples of this at executive, senior and middle management levels and following the
inspection, shared our feedback with the trust.

Staff did not always know who their leaders were. Local leaders and two individual executives were visible. There were
individual leaders who were less visible and less engaged with the trust staff.

Frontline staff understood who their immediate team leader and the station leaders were, but few could name members
of the board. Some knew the Director of Operations who they said, “Got out and about” and some knew the name of the
CEO (but said they had never met him).

Staff generally felt they worked for their local leaders and that was all that was required to get the job done. Many
people named the consultant pre-hospital care practitioner as the leader they went to with any questions or ideas and
said they were the person that ‘held the service together’. It was clear they were very well respected by staff at all levels.

Most, but not all, staff reported a positive relationship with their station leaders. Staff were generally positive about their
team leaders and most felt supported and able to raise concerns. Generally, staff teams were seen as the key place for
support and assistance. There was a cohesiveness and camaraderie in the ambulance stations, although a few people
spoke to us privately and said this sometimes tipped over into inappropriate behaviours.

Our findings

10 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 42



The Board of Directors Meeting minutes dated 25 November 2021 showed a non-executive director had commented that
it was, “good to hear that the Executive Directors were getting out and about and becoming increasingly visible”. This is
at odds with information provided by the trust which showed only the Director of Operational Services and the Chief
Executive Officer had been onto the ambulance station bases. The last visit by the Director of Operational Services was
in December 2021. The Chief Executive Officer had visited the main operational centres and some ambulance bases
seven times in the preceding year.

Following the inspection, we were told that other executives had visited sites. It was acknowledged that, due to the
impact of COVID-19 on routine processes there had been no visits to trust sites by non-executive directors.

The trust board had agreed to follow the national infection prevention and control guidance and reducing footfall at
their operational sites to try and control transmission of the Coronavirus.

Leaders were not entirely clear about their roles and their accountability for quality. There was sometimes insufficient
challenge at executive and senior levels.

The board were not always presented with accurate information which made it very difficult to provide appropriate
challenge and to have genuine assurance. They were engaged and committed non-executives who were not always
seeing a clear picture of performance and risks. More recently appointed non-executive directors did offer appropriate
challenge and clearly understood their remit well.

The executive leaders wanted to present a very positive image of SCAS and shared information that was supporting that
image rather than a more accurate picture of how the trust was doing. For example, the trust invited patients to share
stories, which is best practice, however upon examination of the stories shared since 2019, seven of the nine were
positive stories, leading to concern that this could be offering false assurance rather than a more balanced approach
developed to promote learning. Whilst lovely to hear such nice stories, there was a risk of limited learning for the
organisation if it does not listen more widely to stories about when they got things wrong. This forum could have been
used more effectively to show learning and improvements after things went wrong.

Within safeguarding there was still a line management structure that included a senior leader who had very limited
understanding of their responsibilities for safeguarding at the trust. They had the view that the consultant brought in
needed to ‘understand ambulances’ rather than accepting the ambulance trust leaders needed to understand
safeguarding responsibilities.

The line leadership of safeguarding was unclear.

Despite a letter of intent issued following an inspection in November 2021, there remained poor and unclear leadership
of safeguarding at SCAS.

The Serious Incident reporting was an issue the board was not sighted on. Information presented to the board was not
an accurate reflection of the level of incidents occurring and so they were not in a position to be clear about their
responsibilities regarding action to mitigate the risks. Their ability to provide challenge was limited because they were
not provided with accurate information.

Vision and Strategy

Our findings

11 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 43



The trust had a clear set of values and a new strategy. The service had a vision for what it wanted to achieve and a
strategy to turn it into action, developed with relevant stakeholders. The vision and strategy were focused on
sustainability of services and aligned to local plans within the wider health economy. Leaders and staff
understood and knew how to apply them and monitor progress.

The trust had set the organisational vision; To be an outstanding team, innovative and partnering, to deliver world
leading outcomes. The strategy was focused on moving towards excellence – saving lives and enabling people to get the
care they needed by delivering the right care, first time, every time.

The trust strategy for 2022 – 2027 had recently been published. The strategy starts to talk about the trust as a care
navigator service that eases access to care for patients and enabling a seamless link between providers. SCAS talk about
getting people to the “right door” to meet their needs; this is very much a change to the historic core purpose of
ambulance services simply transporting people to emergency departments. It reflects support to help people avoid
being taken to emergency departments unnecessarily, instead treating people at home or seeking alternative care and
treatment from other providers.

The leadership were united and positive about the new strategy, but discussions with staff before it was drafted were
minimised due to the inability to hold face to face engagement events, although some were held with stakeholders
virtually. As a result, the board agreed that feedback would be collected as part of the annual planning process being
introduced in quarter two 2022/2023 reflecting the desire to have a plan that evolved over time reflecting changes in the
health economy and environment. Some staff therefore felt it had been created with minimal input and discussion
before it was drafted. Consultation was taking place after publication with a feeling from some that it had been, “created
in a darkened room”.

The trust ability to adapt is being challenged by planned change driven by the NHS Long Term Plan and unexpected
changes resulting from COVID-19. This has left the trust setting plans for recovery. They believe that the strategy will not
only achieve the recovery plan but deliver new targets in patient care and performance.

Key stakeholders were engaged in developing the strategy through identification of key priorities in 2019. The strategic
focus is to operate as a clinically led provider committed to integrating safe, high quality care within their own systems,
whilst also being a collaborative partner to the other stakeholders within each of those systems.

A core theme of the trust strategic development was to fill in the gaps and provide, or link, services within a developing
health care system. They believe that they play a pivotal role in integrating care, as they are the interface with every part
of the local care systems and offer themselves as a care navigator service. They intend to do this by;

• Simplifying access to care

• Assessing more people remotely

• Enhancing mobile diagnostics and care

• Integrating care pathways

• Sharing learning across systems

There were clear organisational values that were displayed in all bases that we visited. Organisational values were
underpinned by an explicit statement of expected behaviours that demonstrated the values. The core values were;

• Teamwork – delivering high performance through an inclusive, and collaborative approach which values diversity.

Our findings

12 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 44



• Innovation – continuous improvement through empowerment of the trust people.

• Professionalism – setting high standards and delivering what was promised.

• Caring – for patients and each other.

Culture

Frontline staff were focused on the needs of patients receiving care. They were usually supportive of each other
and kind to patients. Sometimes they felt overwhelmed and described ‘compassion fatigue’ but they still said
they did the job because it made a difference to people using the service. Frontline operational and call centre
staff were doing their utmost to provide good care in challenging circumstances.

Organisational leaders gave a united and very positive perspective of the organisational culture. Staff usually felt
respected, supported and valued and were focused on the needs of patients receiving care, but felt capacity
affected their ability to deliver to the standard they would want. Some staff said they were not listened to when
they raised concerns and felt things were “brushed under the carpet”. This impacted on their morale.

There was evidence that the organisation did not respond well when people shared concerns internally, or
outside the trust because serious issues had not been addressed internally. People who raised concerns were not
treated well and we saw evidence of executive leaders attempting to discredit people raising valid concerns.

The service usually promoted equality and diversity in the organisation but there were some concerns raised by
staff and some areas for improvement highlighted by the Workplace Race Equality Standards survey data. Several
people raised concerns about the treatment of women working at SCAS, particularly younger, or more junior,
women.

The board saw the culture as a strength of the organisation. It was sold with positivity, with many examples of forward
thinking, innovation and high profile projects. There was undoubtedly much good work taking place and a genuine
desire to be the very best. The risk of such extreme positivity was that this could feel dismissive of reality to the frontline
staff and limit the feeling that raising or reporting concerns was a good thing to do.

This was borne out in the CQC survey to SCAS staff, for example one person commented, “Concerned about the culture
of problems being swept under the rug, in particular within the management team. Managers getting away with playing
by their own rules with no repercussions”. Another staff member said, “Whilst I haven't personally experienced any
bullying or harassment, I am aware of other staff who have had issues which when reported have been swept under the
rug”.

The trust performed well on the 2021 NHS staff survey. They also had a good response rate of 57%. SCAS scored
significantly above average for the areas which included Teamwork; Recognised and rewarded; Voice that counts;
Always learning; Staff Engagement; Compassionate and inclusive and was not significantly below average for similar
trusts in any areas.

In the same survey the results for morale and compassion were worse than for the previous year. However, the trust had
the best score in the ambulance sector for compassion and inclusiveness, and the second-best score for staff morale.

The Commission conducted their own survey which focused on focused on 999 Operations and EOC core service staff as
these were the areas inspected. The results from this were at odds with the NHS survey, although there was a much

Our findings

13 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 45



lower response rate of around 11%. The cohort offered the opportunity to complete the survey was much smaller, so a
direct comparison of results cannot be assumed. Over half of the staff responding, (53.9%) disagreed with the
statement, “The organisation values staff and provides them with effective support to do their jobs to the best of their
ability. A similar number of staff who responded (59.2%) disagreed with the statement “Communication between senior
management and staff is effective”. About a quarter of respondents (24.4%) said they had experienced bullying,
harassment or abuse at work from their managers in the preceding year. Nearly 60% did not report this. However, 80% of
staff who responded said they had not experienced discrimination from a team leader, manager or other colleague in
the preceding year.

The support staff received was dependent on the team they worked in. Comments from staff completing the CQC report
included references to bullying, harassment, poor health and safety, a disconnect between senior managers, a 'tick box'
approach to staff welfare and fear of repercussions from speaking out.

Staff told us that the service had introduced an anonymous feedback system. They felt that this was because staff had
reported that some staff feared giving feedback, and because of low morale. The trust has since told us that the decision
to implement a feedback system was taken as it introduced a new approach to staff engagement. It is an anonymous
tool, so that staff can feel free to speak their mind, although they can choose not to remain anonymous.

The trust had provided information that showed themes identified from this feedback had led to end of shift policy
change and the celebration of women

We were contacted by a member of staff who had raised serious concerns during the inspection. They agreed for us to
reveal their identity so that we could address the concerns. This disclosure to CQC was made in accordance with the
trust Freedom to Speak Up: Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy which recognises the right of individuals to raise
concerns directly with the Commission. Whistle blowers are protected in law by the Public Interest Disclosure Act (1998),
an Act of the Parliament of the United Kingdom that protects whistle blowers from detrimental treatment by their
employer. The person raising concerns had suffered detriment and their reputation was called into question.

It was suggested that the whistle blower had acted maliciously and was not behaving in line with their professional code
of conduct. This was untrue and the whistle blower was able to produce documentary evidence that they had
repeatedly raised concerns internally, although there was no requirement for them to do so. This aligns with information
from others who shared concerns with the Commission but wanted their identities protected because they were afraid
there would be retribution.

Review of investigation reports and discussions with leaders and staff showed that organisational learning was not an
embedded part of the culture. Incident investigations resulted in apportioning or suggesting where blame lay rather
than focusing on the potential learning across the organisation. The actions tended to be around retraining for
individuals rather than wider dissemination to mitigate future risks. Some reports blamed the patients for not providing
accurate information to crews and many were judgmental about patients in their reporting.

Some staff felt the organisation’s leadership were visible, but others were concerned about the lack of recognition at
senior level of the situation frontline staff were facing. Data provided by the trust showed two key executives, the CEO
and the Director of Operations had visited sites and spoken with staff throughout the pandemic, but other executives
and non-executive staff had not. Visible leadership is vital to support staff and could be achieved in a safe and pragmatic
way either virtually or in person with appropriate PPE, meeting outside and other safety measures. Following receipt of
the draft report, the trust shared details of additional visits by executives. It is acknowledged that face-to-face visits
were reduced in line with national guidance to limit footfall and reduce the risk of viral transmission.

Our findings

14 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 46



The trust had appointed a freedom to speak up guardian. However, several staff told us they could only access this
service in their own time, which made this less accessible to those who had already worked a long day and needed a
break. After the inspection the trust said that they freedom to speak up guardian worked flexibly to support staff,
however this was not the experience of the staff which we spoke with. No impact on ratings.

The organisation employed in excess of 4,500 staff, but only had one Freedom to Speak up Guardian. They reported to
the Interim Director of Patient Care and Service transformation; some staff said that they felt uncomfortable raising
concerns that would be reported to someone in their own line management structure and worried that they could be
identified.

Following the inspection, the provider said that there was a process in place for when the FtSUG felt there was a conflict
of interest in the management structure; an alternative route for speaking up was in place. However, the staff we spoke
with were not aware of this and said that they did not feel comfortable raising concerns because they felt there was a
conflict of interest.

We received information from someone raising concerns about some women’s negative experiences at the trust; they
said that this applied especially to student paramedics. The whistle blower said that concerns had been raised with
senior leaders, the Freedom to Speak up Guardian and the organisational development team, but there was no evidence
the concerns were being addressed. This correlates with reports from staff across the organisation who felt that the
Freedom to Speak up Guardian was solely about patient safety issues and that other concerns were not recognised by
leaders as being within the Freedom to Speak up Guardian’s remit, even though the role was created in line with
national guidance.

Our CQC survey had several comments made relating to harassment and bullying. One said, “When sexual harassment is
reported it seems to be brushed under the carpet and the person is given a second chance. In the eyes of the law sexual
harassment and abuse is never given a second chance and as a result people are reprimanded for their actions.

However, in the ambulance service it seems to be accepted by the management team that staff who act and behave
inappropriately are given 2nd, 3rd and 4th chances. In a recent case a member of management themselves who
committed the above offence has been allowed to continue in the same role with no real action being taken. Because of
this, a lot of staff feel unsafe, unsupported and vulnerable when coming to work”.

Bullying and Harassment was a key theme in the annual Freedom to Speak Up Guardian report. This was picked up by a
non-executive director in the board minutes (dated January 2022) and there is a business case for increased resourcing
for the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian, but this had not been approved at the time of our inspection.

There were more positive comments, but these did not outweigh the negative ones. One person said, “Very calm and
supportive place to work”, for example.

The culture within the organisation was centred on the needs and experience of people who use the services. Our
observations showed that most staff were committed to delivering good care their patients. From our staff survey
people were mainly positive about the care people received. One said, “We are a far from perfect organisation and there
are many areas we could tighten up training, BUT in the main we deliver a good standard of safe care to the majority of
our service users”.

There were some differences between how senior staff and frontline staff felt about their work and the organisation.

Our findings

15 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 47



Middle and senior leaders were enthusiastic and very proud of their service. More junior staff did not always feel so
positive. Capacity issues were impacting on frontline staff welfare. They expressed concerns around their ability to
deliver the best care to the patients due to delays at the hospital emergency departments, reducing their ability to
support patients in the community. Delays meant that staff frequently finished late and missed meal breaks and crew
skill mix were impacting on staff morale. Some of the newly qualified paramedics felt they had to operate beyond their
experience level.

There was good work going on to support staff wellbeing which included;

• An extra day added to each person’s annual leave (pro-rata) as a thank you and recognition of the trust staff’s hard
work.

• ‘Teapot’ mobile wellbeing vehicles for crews to get drinks and snacks or have time out of the ambulance when they
were held outside an emergency department for a long time.

• There was a new end of shift policy that aimed to restrict the number and type of jobs staff responded to at the end of
their shift. The policy was generally well liked but there were some concerns voiced about patients left waiting and
the potential harms. The trust recognised that there is a fine balance between staff welfare and patient safety.

The SCAS executives offered a lot of support to employees, however, some Emergency Operations Centre staff said that
they were not always aware of what was available as much of the communication from senior people is made via emails,
and electronic notifications which many of the more junior staff did not feel they had the time to read.

The NHS staff survey for 2021 showed that the SCAS EOC staff score for ‘We are recognised and rewarded’ was 5.3/10 and
the score for morale in the EOC was 4.9/10; there were 205 responses. The trust average score for recognised and
rewarded was 5.4, this is above the national average of 5.1. The trust average score for morale was 5.2 against a national
average of 5.3.The workforce race equality data showed a difference between the experiences of BAME and White staff
was significant for two out of nine indicators at the trust including;

• The proportion of shortlisted staff being appointed to positions from a BAME heritage was lower than the proportion
of white staff being appointed (14.4% v 22.3%).

• A worse proportion of staff from a BAME heritage believed that the trust provides equal opportunities for career
progression or promotion (45.4% v 60.3%).

However, there were seven out of nine indicators where the trust data was more positive. This included data which
showed little variance between BAME and white staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the last 12
months.

The trust policies placed an emphasis on the safety and wellbeing of staff. Staff said they recognised there was support
for them, but many said they did not have the time or energy to use it. They said they were getting support from their
fellow crew members or the staff they worked closely with, who were in the same situation.

Governance

The governance systems at the trust were not operating in a way that ensured that patients and staff were
protected. The systems failed to assess, monitor and drive improvement in the quality and safety. The board was
not sighted on accurate evidence and information to use to provide effective strategic leadership. Governance
was ineffective and information was not shared with the board or presented in a way that minimised the risks.

Our findings

16 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 48



There was a range of sub committees, with good representation by non-executive directors that fed into the governance
system. However, the committees and the board members were not always sighted on key issues such as safeguarding
risks and the level of serious incidents that were occurring. There is a risk that the promotion of a seemingly very
positive culture results in poor governance and minimising of governance failings.

The trust had a clear governance structure with four committees that reported into the full board. These were the audit
committee, the quality and safety committee and the remuneration committee which were all chaired by non-executive
directors. The executive management committee was chaired by the CEO. The next tier of governance groups reported
to the executive management committee.

There appeared to be a variance between the trust’s own assessment of the strength and assurance gained from their
governance processes and what we found.

The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) was weak and had gaps in the level of assurance the board should be receiving.

The BAF had listed “Not having sufficiently robust systems of clinical governance, poor implementation of the patient
safety framework and/or unable to effect and evidence of change robustly following adverse incidents or learning from
within local health systems; affecting patient outcomes, reputation and adverse scrutiny” as the only strategic clinical
risk. This was scored as a significant risk.

There was evidence that two of the non-executive directors felt that it needed revising and specifically mentioned that
there was no entry about safeguarding. The response was that the, then, Interim Director of Patient Safety would
consider these comments and decide whether to make changes. There was no risk around safeguarding included
despite the letter of intent being received before the board meeting.

The top key control was. “CQC must and should do action plan”. This suggests that the BAF has not identified internal
controls that are sufficiently effective to avoid breaches of regulation.

We saw several examples of serious incident trends that should have been identified, investigated and acted upon to
reduce future risks. This had not always happened. In one case call centre staff had not recognised serious breathing
difficulties when people dialled 999. This was recognised as a trend but there was no proper investigation and sharing of
learning, although some education materials had been developed. There were limited assurance mechanisms and no
checking that staff had improved their ability to recognise severe breathing problems.

NHS Pathways have recognised that assessing breathing problems over the telephone is complex compared to seeing a
patient face to face. The trust told us that the assurance mechanism to evaluate the impact of emergency call taker
education was the call audit cycle, but no objective evidence of improvement has been provided. There are more recent
incidents recorded where a failure to respond appropriately to reported serious breathing difficulties had resulted in
poor outcomes. Internal investigations identified the calls as non-compliant. This suggests the assurance mechanisms
were not effective.

Another example is around failing in defibrillators. There was a known situation where there were 11 cases where
ambulance crews identified that defibrillators were not consistently working as intended. This could have been
identified by linking an incident report submitted in January 2021 with a letter about this risk, sent by a paramedic in
another ambulance trust dated 21 December 2021. The incidents were not investigated as a trend until an investigation
report was commissioned in April 2022. Eight incidents had occurred between January and April 2022. The report

Our findings

17 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 49



published after the inspection in June 2022, said that, “The trust does not have sufficient measures in place to assure
themselves that their obligations are being met”. Whilst the report considers most people did not suffer harm because of
the defibrillator failings, there are two where the investigator was either awaiting the official cause of death or felt ‘on
the balance of probability’ no harm was suffered.

The second strategic risk focused on performance and was recorded as, “Lack of capacity to meet demand in all services
due to: changing patterns post pandemic and as the NHS returns to ‘business as usual’ with the potential to result in
long waits, delays, poor patient experience, safety issues and inability to meet targets and expectations.”

The key controls were system wide quality improvement and executive reviews of performance data. Nationally
facilitated and co-ordinated patient awareness campaigns and national pandemic/emergency standard operating
procedures in place and tested. SCAS have worked with partners and across the system to reduce the number of
ambulance handover delays focussed on reducing occupancy levels and increasing the number of patients who are not
taken to accident and emergency departments. Some measures were seen to be very effective such as the increased
specialist support for people in mental health crisis in the community.

SCAS was in the top quartile for the lowest emergency department conveyance through the use of Hear & Treat, See &
Treat and non-emergency department pathways. The option to divert patients after arrival at the emergency
departments did not lie with SCAS because patients already booked into the acute hospitals had to be transferred from
hospital consultant to hospital consultant. One consultant said this was a difficult process and very time consuming, so
rarely happened. For situations where there were many ambulances ‘on hold’ waiting to hand over patients already
booked into the hospital, we were told that SCAS duty directors initiated discussions about diverts, but the
responsibility sat with the acute management team.

For patients who needed hospital treatment, it was for the crews to decide where to take them. Sometimes there was
little choice because they needed specific services to be available (such as cardiac catheter services for suspected heart
attacks), but some services were available at other hospitals. Winchester had a frailty unit, a respiratory ward and an
acute medical unit. Crews that we spoke to gave several reasons why they didn’t want to use the less busy hospital, but
confirmed it was for the crew at the time to decide. They said they knew from ‘the grapevine’ how busy each hospital
was on any given shift.

There were few control measures that the board were reviewing in depth.

There was no mention of what action the trust could take to address some of the problems themselves; there was no
proactive consideration of internal measures to reduce waiting at one hospital. The evidence provided to us was about
telling the acute trust they were busy and delaying handovers as opposed to considering what they could do to reduce
the number of patients brought to one, very busy, hospital.

The SCAS Code of Governance self-assessment (dated June 2021) was RAG rated as green for all monitor provisions. We
were not assured that this was an accurate reflection of the quality of the governance. For example, one monitoring
provision was that, “The board of directors should ensure that adequate systems and processes are maintained to
measure and monitor the NHS foundation trust’s effectiveness, efficiency and economy as well as the quality of its
healthcare delivery.” It appeared from their interview that, despite the risk of enforcement action, the chief executive
was still not well informed about the safeguarding issues we identified and the position of the trust at the time of our
inspection in

Our findings

18 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 50



November 2021. Whilst it would not be reasonable to expect a chief executive to manage the detailed response to the
safeguarding concerns, it was surprising that they took assurance so readily.

The board minutes dated 31 March 2022, showed the chief executive had reported that, “Good progress is being made
with the implementation of the action plan, and we have held two briefing sessions to seek to assure the Council of
Governors over our improvement actions.

The governing body is well established and publishes minutes. Those dated 5 April 2022, show some oversight and
questioning of the trust executive and chair. There is oversight of appointments of non-executives and discussion
around the impact of the pandemic on staffing. There is mention of the concerns around safeguarding, but these are
minimised by the executive and do not provide an accurate picture of the situation and level of concern identified in the
CQC report.

The chief executive’s report to board (dated January 2022) said that the executive were aware at that time that
safeguarding provision needed to be reviewed and strengthened, reflecting the fact that the scope and number of
services provided by SCAS has continued to increase significantly (and also against the backdrop of the sustained
challenges of operating at high levels of escalation). This was not what we found, nor what the concerns were.

The messaging to board was incomplete. As an example, we were supplied with data that related to Safeguarding Level
3 Adult face to face training for Operational staff (Paramedics or registered nurses) as of the 2nd of April 2022. There
were 1135 Operational staff who fell into this group, of which 19.5% had attended a one-day face to face Adult
Safeguarding Level 3 event.

Concerns raised by a whistle blower about ongoing safeguarding problems and a lack of response when concerns were
raised including that team members and the external consultant brought in to address the problems had to ask to see
the letter of intent as it was not shared with the team.

Team members told us that did not see the safeguarding inspection report until they downloaded it from the CQC
website. They said that they were not involved in drafting the action plan.

However, following receipt of the draft report the trust told us that the acting director responsible for the safeguarding
team had one-to-one meetings with each member of the Safeguarding Team, sharing the draft report with them on
screen.

The whistle blower told us that there were approximately 1,600 referrals sitting in the system which had failed to send.

This was escalated in January 2022 but then sat with an associate director who line managed the safeguarding team.
The associate directors said they would sort it, but at the time we spoke to the whistle blower, they had not been looked
at. The level of risk was unknown as they had not been triaged. The referrals came from across the geographical patch
that was covered by the trust and were made by SCAS staff.

The unprocessed referrals had been escalated with the understanding that they would be recorded as a serious incident,
but this had not happened until after a section 29A warning notice was served.

After the feedback about referrals not being processed, the chief executive investigated the situation and sent us a
response dated. 17 May 2022. The letter confirmed there were 1423 records showing in the SCAS system for further

Our findings

19 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 51



review and processing. A data cleanse revealed 198 of these were duplicate records and, of the 1225 cases left to review,
700 (57%) cases had already been reviewed some time ago by two clinicians working with the safeguarding team. These
were said to be fully safe and appropriate and that staff had simply not closed the cases down correctly on the system,
leading to them not showing as closed.

The trust reviewed 958 of the 1,225 records on Friday 13 May and over the weekend. This represented 78% of the 1,225
records. We were told that the trust would review the remaining 268 records with the appropriate staff and access to all
the required parts of the patient record by Friday 20th May 2022.

The trust said that they were developing a “read receipt” function which was being added to the referral process so that
staff are alerted when the referral has reached the external safeguarding team. This was to be installed by the system
supplier in the next system update release.

This demonstrated that the safeguarding governance was not currently effective enough to identify where there are
failings in the systems and means that there is potential for significant risks to go unreported.

Similarly, we identified that the trust had a much lower reporting rate of serious incidents (SIs) when benchmarked
against other ambulance trusts. For example, in the financial year 2021/22 SCAS reported 19 serious incidents using the
Serious Incident Framework. For the same period another ambulance trust with a similar number of staff reported 61
serious incidents and a trust with fewer staff reported 75 serious incidents. This was the lowest reported number of
serious incidents for all ambulance trusts. Some ambulance trusts were bigger but allowing for that SCAS was still a very
low reporter of serious incidents.

The Integrated Performance Record showed that serious incidents had a target set that was rag rated. The narrative
talked about the serious incident level being above the planned number or being high. It wasn’t high when compared to
other trusts but was perceived as being ‘too high’ when the level reported exceeded the plan. This presented a risk that
staff and middle managers would be deterred from reporting serious incidents. The CEO and Chair sent a letter (dated
18 May 2022) explaining the trust position around this. The letter said, “This figure is not intended as a target, but we
acknowledge that using a RAG rating for this is perhaps misleading and will not do so in future for this data item.”

The board were not sighted on either the true level of incidents occurring or the benchmark. The Integrated
Performance Report published in the board papers from the meeting held on 27 January 2022 showed that a rolling
three month average of serious incidents was reported as 17 incidents.

The chief executive and Chair’s letter (dated 18 May 2022) said that, “We accept that SI’s are differing in numbers across
ambulance trusts and note also that commissioners (CCGs) in different geographies have asked that certain types of
incidents are declared as SIs. CCGs in the SCAS footprint have regular oversight and reviews of our investigations.” It also
said that SCAS adheres to the SIRI National Framework on thresholds for reporting.

Having spoken to several CCG representatives we are not assured that they had oversight of the scale of serious
incidents that were not being reported, nor had they the data to benchmark against other ambulance trusts to allow a
comparison to be made and the under reporting to be identified. The letter also raised a concern that the trust was not
referencing the current investigation framework. The Framework quoted in the letter used the term SIRI Framework,
which refers to the now obsolete National Framework for Reporting & Learning from Serious Incidents Requiring
Investigation; the current framework is the revised Serious Incident Framework published in 2015. The trust Adverse
Incident Reporting & Investigation Policy published in 2019 referred to SIRIs rather than the now correct term of serious
incident.

Our findings

20 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 52



There were many incidents investigated as major incidents, but these were not reported in the board papers. The
Adverse Incident Reporting and Investigation Policy (dated January 2019) did not mention a separate reporting and
investigation process for major incidents. The policy states (paragraph 4.3) that a major incident is a serious incident,
but this was not what we found. In the fifteen month period from January 2021 there were 13 serious incidents reported
via the NHS Strategic Executive Information System (STEIS). In the three month period from January 2022 there were 21
Major incidents that were not entered onto STEIS nor were they reported to the board.

The Adverse Incident Reporting and Investigation Policy had not been reviewed in accordance with the review date.
Following the inspection, the trust told us that the time for using the adverse incident policy was extended by the
Patient Safety Group pending changes in the new national patient safety strategy.

A review of records relating to major incidents showed that these should have been reported and investigated as Serious
Incidents, even if they were later downgraded. Examples included; a situation where three clinical staff had not
identified as a red flag for identifying non-accidental injury and several failed defibrillators.

Another incident where advanced life support was provided by SCAS crews during which it was noted that one crew
were missing an essential piece of equipment which was required as part of their resuscitation efforts. The patient sadly
died. This was not reported as a serious incident.

The unprocessed safeguarding incidents were not reported as a serious incident following the inspection in November
2021. At this inspection, the Chair of the Quality and Safety Committee said the board had been aware of unprocessed
referrals but that the scale had surprised them.

A non-executive director was able to talk to us about defibrillators being used with the wrong pads and the need to
revisit the reminders about this; there was also an issue with batteries not working which was not mentioned. The
mitigation was to ask a second crew to attend if there was an issue but given capacity issues and ability to respond in a
timely way, this was not necessarily a true mitigation. It also relied on the second defibrillator working.

Following the inspection, we received information from a whistle blower about concerns relating to equipment
governance which had led to patient harm and which they said continues to do so.

We were told that until recently, the equipment committee had not met for two years and that no action taken despite
concerns being raised. The staff member talked about issues arising with defibrillators that have not been addressed
adequately or in a timely manner and this had resulted in patient harm.

One specific brand of defibrillator had several incidents however this was not addressed, and problems continued. The
staff member said that more patients in cardiac arrest had failed defibrillation attempts, resulting in worse outcomes.
They believed that SCAS had inadequate resources to ensure that every ambulance had an appropriately equipped
defibrillator. The manager responsible was said to blame this on the manufacturer for not being able to supply the
equipment that was needed but the staff member said that most of this equipment was not ordered until March 2022.
The trust said they the manufacturer had confirmed with the trust that there were supply chain challenges.

Following a request for information about all incidents relating to defibrillators that failed to work properly first time, we
were supplied with a report dated 28th May 2022. This report had looked at all incidents reported where defibrillators
had not worked properly first time. There was a suggestion that there had been no harm from this repeated equipment
failing.

Our findings

21 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 53



We were also told that staff were discouraged from reporting such incidents by their managers. This meant that there
may be other incidents that were not reported and so the true level of harm cannot be known. It also means that the
trust only began to look at this known trend when the Commission specifically requested a report. Data for the trust
showed that they are performing below the average for ambulance trusts on the performance indicators for a return to
spontaneous circulation.

The chief executive and Chair sent the Commission a letter after the inspection feedback (dated 18 May 2022). The letter
explained that the trust periodically commissioned Internal Auditors to review our processes in relation to Serious
Incidents. The most review was undertaken in 2021/22 and considered the design and effectiveness of controls in place
around the recording and reporting of serious incidents. The Internal Auditors concluded that SCAS had robust controls
in place, as well as governance arrangements, to effectively investigate, report and learn from serious incidents.

The letter went on to explain that, “Each SI that is declared has the oversight of a Clinical Director. A summary of the
details is then shared (via the Company Secretary) to all Trust Board Members.” We do not refute this is the case for
incidents recorded and investigated as serious incidents. The concern is that most significant incidents (those which the
trust describe as major incidents) were not considered under the Serious Incident Reporting Framework (2015),
published by NHS England. This meant that the board was not sighted on incidents that had occurred and could not
have assurance about mitigation and learning. Nor was the opportunity taken to proactively seek and address trends.

We could not identify a Mental Capacity Act lead and staff were not aware of one, but the trust told us that there was a
lead. There was no mention of work towards the Liberty Protection Standards that will affect ambulance providers, as
the approval travels with the patient. Staff spoken to on site visits were unclear about whether to stop a person awaiting
treatment leaving the ambulance and in discussion were very confused about the differences between mental health
and mental capacity.

The trust had an Allegations Policy (dated July 2021) that had the Director of Patient Care & Service Transformation as
the executive lead. It talks about the threshold for prosecution differing from the threshold of ‘reasonable doubt’ and
internal actions. The policy states that, “Outcomes of any trust internal procedures must be reported to the Local
Authority Designated Officer and the Chair of the Allegations Against Staff Strategy Meeting. This will be the
responsibility of the investigating officer or Named Professional for Safeguarding”. The policy said that it applied to
volunteers who are not employees of the trust, but the main body of the policy and required action to be taken in the
event of allegations being made against volunteers did not fit with the way volunteers were managed.

The trust used many first responder volunteers who were provided with a SCAS uniform and could use one of the 50
vehicles funded by the SCAS charity or use their own. These had training and were assigned to a volunteer scheme
leader. Generally, they appeared to be a very positive addition to the service and were well-managed by enthusiastic
and committed leaders.

There had been one incident (in 2019) which involved an allegation of inappropriate behaviour made via the police by a
patient attended by a first responder. Their scheme leader immediately met with staff member and stood them down.
However, the only protection for patients was a request not to log on and not respond to calls; Their log on to see where
a response was needed was not deactivated and their ID badge or uniform was not removed. SCAS were assured the
volunteer was safe to start taking calls again because the police had determined there was insufficient evidence to
prosecute the person. Leaders further up the line management hierarchy thought that people were automatically
prevented from using the system if an allegation was made, but this was still not the case and the risk remained. The

Our findings

22 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 54



incident had occurred in 2019 and at the time of the inspection in 2022 there had still not been changes made to ensure
people were protected following any allegations being made. The process was still reliant on individuals who had
allegations made against them not logging on. The issue was not that there had been an allegation but that there was
no learning or action to mitigate future risk.

The trust policy did not cover this situation and those aspects which were applicable were not followed. This meant that
a confused governance, ambiguity about individual responsibilities and lack of clarity about the process failed to
protect the vulnerable.

There was good oversight of performance against the key ambulance indicators such as response times.

Board members completed a declaration of interests that was reported in the board minutes.

The board minutes recorded that the board had considered whether were any issues with fit and proper person
requirements for directors. Our review of the fit and proper person assessments of individual directors provided enough
assurance that there were no concerns.

SCAS contracted with 9 private ambulance service providers, which included third party services for patient transport,
urgent and emergency care and critical care. Each independent ambulance provider was contracted through a Service
Level Agreement, which was monitored through quarterly reports. They work in partnership with two air ambulances
which are provided by separate charities through a service level agreement. There were suitable arrangements in place
for the monitoring of these services.

Financial arrangements were reviewed by NHSI/E and found to be good. The financial team was established and had
sound oversight of spending.

Management of risk, issues and performance

Leaders and teams did not always use systems to manage performance effectively. Not all risks were identified
and escalated to the board. Leaders held differing views on the high level risks. Mitigating action was not always
effective.

The Trust had a Risk Management Strategy which was reviewed periodically (generally annually) and updated when
required. It was last reviewed in March 2020. In addition to the core Risk Management Strategy, there has been a focus
on managing and mitigating risks associated with the trust’s response to COVID-19 during 2020/21, and a separate risk
register supported this.

The Annual Governance statement 2021/22 reported that a number of tools were used to identify risk. These included;

• the monthly Integrated Performance Report, including Patient Safety Incidents (formerly SIRIs)

• review of adverse incidents and accident reports

• review of Freedom to Speak-Up referrals

• quarterly reviews of claims and complaints

• workforce engagement and leadership walkarounds

Our findings

23 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 55



The tools used were not presenting a clear picture of the risks to the board and sub committees. This included low
reporting and poor management of serious incidents, inadequate Freedom to Speak-Up Guardian resources and a line
manager reporting structure that was a barrier to contacting the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian. The leadership
walkabouts were very limited, and many frontline staff did not know who their executive leaders were. Non-executive
visits had stopped to limit transmission of the Coronavirus.

The trust used a RAG (Red, Amber, Green) rated corporate risk register. This corporate risk register had been rebased in
November 2021. It listed 26 open risks and no closed risks. However, the information we reviewed did not provide
enough assurance the entries reflected the true risk or had appropriate mitigations.

Staff could not confidently tell us the frequency or process used to review risks and there was a lack of clarity about the
hierarchy of risks, even amongst the executive leaders. Information from the core service risk registers and local site risk
registers did not always feed into the corporate risk register.

One member of the executive team told us that the three highest risks were, “Workforce, workforce, workforce”. This
comment was not reflective of the corporate risk register where workforce concerns were scored at 16 but other risks
were scored higher, at 25. On further questioning, it was clear they did not have a sound understanding of risk
management and the lack of understanding about risk in their sphere of responsibility was such that we felt it necessary
to raise the issue with the chief executive following formal feedback.

We asked for the local risk register for one ambulance station where there was a significant risk to staff health identified,
but this was not provided. We raised the specific concern during feedback following our core service site visits on 6 and 7
April 2022 and have seen that there was a more robust response to the concern subsequently. No risk register was
offered at the time of the feedback and the local leaders were not aware of it being on a risk register. We were told that it
was not taken seriously by the trust. Initial assessment using the SCAS risk scoring formula, suggests this should have
appeared on the corporate risk register and the board should have been aware of it as a long standing risk. The local and
provider mitigating actions were ineffective and left people at risk of serious respiratory disease and other infectious
illnesses such as Salmonella. We were told after the inspection that issue was on the Estates Risk Register as of 2020.
The CEO had told us that assessments and consultancy work had been undertaken prior to the inspection, but the risk
continued to impact on the wellbeing of staff working at the station. Measures to mitigate the risk were ineffective.

The highest scoring risk register entries were around hospital handover delays, ambulances having to wait outside of
emergency departments with a patient onboard for several hours before the hospitals had capacity to accept them into
the department.

It was recognised that this took ambulances off the road and that people suffered harm when ambulance availability
outstripped demand. The local and corporate risk registers predominantly laid the blame with one hospital, but also
talked about demand for 999 calls outstripping resources. There was mention of escalation to NHSI/E and Demand
Meetings but no mitigating action by the trust.

There was no accessible record of any decisions to consider using the information the trust has about the pressures on
the one hospital and to require ambulances to take patients directly to hospitals where they are less busy. The trust
stated that was not a common occurrence and after the inspection said that this is not something that they were able to
do.

The guidance offered in appendix 2 of the NHSE/I Southeast Region Operational Escalation framework v9 stated that,”
Emergency Departments experience peaks and troughs in pressure, often associated with the number of arrivals by

Our findings

24 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 56



ambulance. This can result in unnecessarily long waits for patients” It goes on to say that, “The public and healthcare
personnel are already used to the idea that an ambulance may take patients to a more distant Emergency Department if
it has better facilities for serious conditions, such as stroke or major trauma. Intelligent/Dynamic conveyancing takes
this one step further by avoiding Emergency Departments that are known to be under “extreme” pressure, with
potential benefits for both the NHS and the patients.”

On the 6 April 2022 the trust and one of the acute hospitals had declared a critical incident due to demands being
greater than their capacity. We were told that SCAS had ambulance crews not being able to handover patients to
hospital staff and declared a critical incident because of long waits. When we visited on 7 April the critical incident was
still in progress. There were 12 ambulances that arrived in a two hour period and five which took longer than 15 minutes
to handover their patients. The maximum wait was 51 minutes.

The critical incident was about response times from patients making the emergency call to the patient arriving at the
hospital. We were told this was what the delays related to and were the reason for the critical incident, which was not
related to delayed handovers and not related to queuing at the acute hospital.

We spoke to staff at the hospital about why they were not diverting patients to a hospital where the emergency
department was very quiet, and the hospital had capacity. They said that once a patient was booked in, it became quite
complex and had to be arranged between two consultants. This is an accurate reflection of the guidance from NHSI/E
contained within the Regional Operational Escalation Framework. Acute trusts facing extraordinary pressures and
needing to divert must request this arrangement through the Clinical Commissioning Group and notify NHSI/E South
East regional leaders. It is not the case for ambulance trusts who are encouraged to operate dynamic (or intelligent)
conveyancing to less pressured hospitals.

We asked why patients were not taken directly to the quieter hospital by the ambulance crews, particularly if the quieter
hospital was nearer or there was little difference in journey times. He didn’t know. We asked several ambulance crews
who told us it depended on the crew and was their decision.

One crew talked about doing it a few times as they disliked being stuck waiting but wouldn’t do it near the end of their
shift. Another crew said they didn’t like doing it unless the patient asked. Others didn’t know why they didn’t do it but
said they didn’t like being sent too far from their base, particularly near the end of their shift.

The trust had a Demand Management Plan that reflected the Operational Pressure Escalation Level (OPEL) ratings as
defined by NHS England for acute trusts. It does not refer to intelligent or dynamic conveyancing or the scope for leaders
or crews to decide to use an alternative hospital to reduce the waiting times. OPEL four (the highest escalation level) is
when an acute provider is unable to deliver safe and timely patient care delivered and patients are being cared for in a
crowded and congested department. Pressure in the local Health and Social Care System continues and there is
increased potential for patient care and safety to be compromised. The distance between the busiest hospital and the
quieter one within the same ICS is 24 miles. There was another hospital closer, at 15 miles from the busy hospital, but
this was across the ICS boundary. Nobody within the system could tell us why the ambulances were not taking people to
the quieter hospitals when they could meet that patients’ needs and where there was very little difference in the journey
times, in accordance with the NHSE/I Southeast Region Operational Escalation framework.

There was system wide work taking place to try to manage the risks of a very busy hospital, but it was very focused on
reducing the hospital occupancy rates.

Our findings

25 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 57



An acute trust wishing to divert whilst at heightened OPEL level must have exhausted all internal support options before
contacting the CCG and neighbouring trust to agree a divert. This NHSE guidance does not refer to ambulance trusts.

The four REAP levels correspond to Opel (Operational Pressures Escalation Levels) used by other NHS organisations.
They provide a framework to maintain an effective and safe operational and clinical response for patients. The Demand
Management Plan’s only mention of REAP levels was that consideration must also be given in regard to appropriate
actions within the REAP.

The board were sighted on the problem but there was an acceptance and normalising of the situation. The minutes also
suggest this is very much seen as a problem at the acute trust rather than for SCAS. The board minutes dated January
2022 showed that non-executive directors were asking questions; One non-executive director asked about Queen
Alexandra Hospital in Portsmouth and whether any improvements were being seen in terms of patient flow and
discharges. An executive director responded that the situation was not getting better, and the Chair noted how this area
was complex and a key priority for systems.

The Integrated Performance Report (dated February 2022) showed that SCAS had failed to meet any of the national
standards for responses all categories of incidents following a 999 call. In April 2022, SCAS was sitting very much in the
middle of all trusts around mean response times weighted against number of calls. For category 1 calls they were sixth
out of 11 trusts and for category 3 they were fourth out of 11 trusts. There was an accepted national problem with
ambulance delays. The narrative, however showed that resourcing levels were insufficient to meet demand. SCAS was
at] REAP 4 and still reliant on military support until March 2022. There was no link to inadequate resources and poor
response times; there was a view it was about one acute trust not managing their flow. The IPR says, “The main issue
continues to be high levels of delay at [the acute trust] who we continue to work closely with to try to mitigate the
impact”.

Within the IPR there were several other factors mentioned that impacted on the trusts ability to respond including,
“Sickness levels are high” and “111 to 999 transfers cause demand in 999”. These issues were being addressed, but not in
the context of responding within the standard.

Undoubtedly there was significant impact from the pandemic and staff were feeling pressured. There was some data
where increased demand from the pandemic was apparent, but this was not the entire picture. Demand and capacity
problems began before COVID-19 reached the UK. There was a year-on-year growth in population of an average 0.87%
for Hampshire coupled with an increasingly aged demographic. About half of the increased demand between 2018 and
2022 could have been predicted and planned for.

There was frequent reference to huge increases in demand. One CCG said that the demand had been static over the past
three or four years and that the problem of ambulances being held outside one NHS emergency department were
longstanding, pre-dating the pandemic. They felt that SCAS could be more proactive in managing the risks of
ambulances being held at emergency departments and should be leading systems work around this.

The NHS Commissioning Framework for Ambulances says of capacity that, “Commissioners must be assured that
providers have staffing capacity and skill mix to meet the agreed level of demand.” SCAS did not have enough staff
deployed, nor was there board oversight of the risks associated with a reduced skill mix when responding to
emergencies.

Our findings

26 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 58



Category 1 ambulance calls are those that are classified as life-threatening and needing immediate intervention and/or
resuscitation, e.g. cardiac or respiratory arrest. The national standard sets out that all ambulance trusts must respond to
Category 1 calls in 7 minutes on average and respond to 90% of Category 1 calls in 15 minutes.

Throughout the inspection trust representatives told us that all category one response vehicles had a crew that included
a paramedic. Data shows this was not the case.

In the six months between November 2021 and April 2022, there were insufficient paramedics to ensure that each
category 1 call had a paramedic aboard. There was no paramedic for 9.3% of category 1 calls. The trust told us that,
“With a Category 1 call to a cardiac arrest for example, the nearest available resource would be allocated to provide
immediate assistance and basic life support. This will be an appropriate accredited responder that includes the
utilisation of indirect resources such as community first responders or fire responders. A first responder had five days
training, although they were able to commence basic life support and carried an AED so that they can administer early
defibrillation. They could also administer Aspirin, Glucogel and oxygen if this is indicated. They cannot provide other
more advanced life saving measures.

Not having a paramedic attend limits the treatment options for patients and there were examples where people did not
receive care or treatment that met their needs because there were not appropriately qualified staff making the decisions
and providing treatment.

After the inspection the trust told us that a quick response time is more significant than the skill set of the first attending
responder. They would always dispatch the nearest resource including volunteers to a Category 1 call in order to
facilitate a quick response. Volunteers all undergo appropriate training for their role.

There was no reporting of this as a risk to the board nor within the Urgent and Emergency Care risk register.

Information Management

The service collected reliable data and analysed it. Staff could find the data they needed, in easily accessible
formats, to understand performance, make decisions and improvements. The information systems were
integrated and secure. Data or notifications were not consistently submitted to external organisations as
required.

The trust invested in its IT infrastructure to future proof the organisation. Leaders understood that using technology
brought cost and outcome benefits for the organisation, for staff and for patients.

They had moved towards an increased use of virtual meetings to reduce the risks of virus transmission and were
continuing to encourage their use because it was cheaper, more efficient, reduced staff travel time and our carbon
footprint.

Crews had access to handheld devices which were password protected and designed to capture data in real time. They
were being provided access to software that allowed access to policies and guidance and the trust information systems
wherever they were, using their personal devices. Information was kept confidential and stored securely.

Information was collated and generally reliable but there were inconsistencies described elsewhere in this report
around incident data presented to the board and completion of IT based safeguarding processes. These meant data was
not always submitted as required to other bodies.

Our findings

27 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 59



Engagement

Leaders and staff actively and openly engaged with patients, staff, equality groups, the public and local
organisations to plan and manage services. They collaborated with partner organisations to help improve
services for patients.

There was significant effort and resources being put into engagement and the trust operational leaders were very
mindful of the impact of the pandemic on frontline staff. The new strategy looked to increase the focus on stakeholder
involvement and widening engagement. This included work with partners in the Integrated Care Systems to address
health inequalities.

Non-executive directors were being asked to take the lead for a geographical area, to become key players to influence
stakeholders within their patch had a specific interest (such as MPs). This was described as providing opportunities for
elevator pitches.

There were evolving networks for staff with protected characteristics, including a disability network, a women’s
network, and a race equality network and a LGBT network.

An action plan was created following publication of the Workplace Race Equality Standards survey results. This was
being monitored and reported to the board.

Messages were sent out regularly to update staff about news, to share key messages and provide clinical updates. This
was not entirely popular with staff who felt they were too long and there were too many messages to read.

The trust was using a weekly pulse survey to maintain oversight of staff morale. The response rate had lowered over
time, which was felt to be due to ‘survey fatigue’ so was being reduced to monthly surveys.

The trust was very much an outward facing organisation and had used the pandemic to improve its visibility, influence
and focus in both the local system and nationally. We saw high levels of engagement with other key stakeholders and a
desire to have a national profile, for example by providing COVID Response Service 1,2 and 3.

SCAS was named as a Veteran Aware Trust in recognition of its commitment to improving NHS care for veterans,
reservists, members of the armed forces and their families. This reflects their understanding of the communities they
serve, including Portsmouth (which is the home of the Royal Navy) along with Tidworth and Aldershot, large garrison
towns, one with a large Gurkha community.

The SCAS communications team were working hard to reach all the SCAS staff as well as those communities who were
often underrepresented at engagement events. They had seen COVID-19 had changed ways of working and
communicating with far more virtual engagement. This had a positive outcome of enabling people who found accessing
‘live’ events challenging greater opportunity to be heard. The use of virtual meetings had expanded how well people
could engage with patient forums, particularly regular users of patient transport services who were often unable to
attend face-to-face meetings.

The communication team also used social media platforms to reach staff who were geographically spread and the wider
public. They had used messages put out on social media to try and reduce inappropriate use of ambulances services by
showing people alternative sources of help and support.

Our findings

28 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 60



Learning, continuous improvement and innovation

There was a general commitment to continually learning and improving services. Leaders encouraged innovation
and participation in research. However, the basic identification and sharing of learning when things went wrong
was insufficient. There was no embedded Quality Improvement programme. Staff were committed to learning
but felt that demand and under-resourcing prevented any real focus on this.

SCAS considered themselves a forward-thinking organisation and were involved in developing new ways of working
locally and through national projects. There was a fledgling research base and examples of good collaboration on
developmental work across the Integrated Care System to build new care pathways and ensure people were able to
access the right care, in the right place.

Specific examples of innovation and an outlooking focus included;

• Paramedics from SCAS were the first in the country to supply COVID-19 patients with home oxygen monitoring kits if
they didn’t require immediate admission to hospital but were at higher risk of complications. This work was
completed with one of the acute trusts in the Integrated Care System

• SCAS was the first ambulance trust to launch fully electric emergency response vehicles into its vehicle fleet.

• A trial of paramedic-led home blood testing for frail and elderly patients who required an ambulance helped to
prevent the need for transfer to hospital in more than half of cases.

• A pioneering initiative developed by SCAS involved dedicated research paramedics arriving rapidly on scene to deliver
a new trial treatment for head injuries in older adults, leading to improved outcomes.

• SCAS sent enough medical equipment to maintain a Ukrainian field hospital for up to two weeks – potentially helping
to save hundreds of military and civilian lives in the country.

• The urgent care pathways project, which was established in 2019, secured SCAS a place as one of four finalists for the
Ambulance Trust of the Year at the Health Business Awards 2021. The urgent care initiative saw ambulance service
clinicians take a leading role in assessing and treating patients over the phone or in their homes when handling 111 or
999 calls and determining their next destination for ongoing care.

• SCAS featured among nine finalists in the Health Service Journal’s Trust of the Year award 2021 for its wider
contribution to regional, national and global healthcare.

• Education and training facilities at SCAS offered a cutting-edge learning environment which included an immersive
suite with projections of real-life scenarios, a 3D printer to make bones, life cast and trauma manikins and a special
effects make-up team. The equipment, which also included a fleet of simulation vehicles such as a double-crewed
ambulance, patient transport vehicle and two large, fully-functioning ambulance simulators known as Simbulance 1
and 2.

• SCAS provided support and consultancy to India through a project which was the first NHS international partnership
with India when it was launched in July 2019.It followed a decision by the Indian Government to begin a significant
investment programme to address wide gaps in healthcare provision inspired by the ‘free at point of contact’ NHS
ambulance services available in the UK – and resulted in an approach to SCAS for guidance. Over the course of the
year, SCAS staff supported the expansion of 108 Emergency Response Services – the equivalent of the UK’s 999 service
– and the introduction of 104 Mobile Medical Unit Services – the equivalent of the UK’s NHS 111 and GP visiting
services – in Andhra Pradesh.

Our findings

29 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 61



• Work by the communications team built on the trust learning disability strategy. They had developed resources for
people with learning disabilities about appropriate use, in collaboration with the local authority. They were also
working with their 111 call handlers to support them in understanding how best to respond to calls from people with
learning disabilities.

• SCAS worked with a mental health trust to provide a community based mental health team initiative. A Band 6
paramedic and psychiatric nurse used a marked rapid response vehicle to attend people calling 999 for mental health
reasons. The team actively sought to identify and respond to incidents, case managed patients and were very well
respected by the wider staff team.

Our findings

30 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 62



* Where there is no symbol showing how a rating has changed, it means either that:

• we have not inspected this aspect of the service before or

• we have not inspected it this time or

• changes to how we inspect make comparisons with a previous inspection unreliable.

Ratings for the whole trust

The rating for well-led is based on our inspection at trust level, taking into account what we found in individual services.
Ratings for other key questions are from combining ratings for services and using our professional judgement.

Key to tables

Ratings Not rated Inadequate Requires
improvement Good Outstanding

Rating change since
last inspection Same Up one rating Up two ratings Down one rating Down two ratings

Symbol *

Month Year = Date last rating published

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

31 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 63



Ratings for a combined trust

The rating for the well-led key question is based on our inspection at trust level, taking into account what we found in
individual services. Ratings for other key questions take into account the ratings for different types of service. Our
decisions on overall ratings take into account the relative size of services. We use our professional judgement to reach
fair and balanced ratings.

Rating for acute services/acute trust

Ratings for the trust are from combining ratings for hospitals. Our decisions on overall ratings take into account the
relative size of services. We use our professional judgement to reach fair and balanced ratings.

Rating for South Central Ambulance Service NHS 111

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Ambulance Inadequate Good Good Good Inadequate Inadequate

Overall trust
Inadequate

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

South Central Ambulance Service
NHS 111

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Overall trust
Inadequate

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Overall Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

Good
Sep 2018

32 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 64



Rating for ambulance services

Overall ratings for ambulance services are from combining ratings for services. Our decisions on overall ratings take into
account the relative size of services. We use our professional judgement to reach fair and balanced ratings.

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Emergency operations
centre (EOC)

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Patient transport services
Requires

improvement
Jun 2020

Good
Jun 2020

Good
Jun 2020

Good
Jun 2020

Good
Jun 2020

Good
Jun 2020

Emergency and urgent care
Inadequate

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Good

Aug 2022

Requires
Improvement

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Inadequate

Aug 2022

Resilience Good
Nov 2018

Good
Nov 2018 Not rated Good

Nov 2018
Good

Nov 2018
Good

Nov 2018

Overall Inadequate Good Good Good Inadequate Inadequate

33 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 65



Requires Improvement –––

Is the service safe?

Requires Improvement –––

Our rating of safe went down. We rated it as requires improvement.

Mandatory training

The service provided mandatory training in key areas for all staff and most staff were able to complete it.

Staff told us much of their training was available online. New emergency call takers (ECTs) had a comprehensive training
package which included three weeks classroom training before working with a mentor and coach on live calls prior to
taking calls independently.

We asked the trust to provided details of mandatory training EOC staff were required to complete. The list included
conflict resolution e learning, dementia core skills e learning, equality and diversity, fire safety, health and safety,
infection prevention and control, information governance, manual handling e learning, safeguarding adults, and
children. The trust set a target compliance rate of 95%; staff in the EOC had a higher than target achievement rate in
each module.

The training on dementia enabled the call takers to explain the complex caller option in the triage system used.

Safeguarding

Staff understood how to protect patients from abuse and the service worked well with other agencies to do so.

Staff had training on how to recognise and report abuse and they knew how to apply it.

Staff received training specific for their role on how to recognise and report abuse. All new staff received safeguarding
training to the level required for their role on induction. The leads for the clinical support desk delivered ongoing
safeguarding training for staff in the control room. ECTs and dispatch staff were trained to level two in safeguarding
children and adults and the clinical staff were trained to level three. Staff we spoke with were able to explain the process
for reporting abuse or concerns raised on calls through the electronic reporting system and could show us the alerts in
the system relating to safeguarding, and specific patient management plans.

Staff did not refer directly to the safeguarding team and they did not get to know outcomes. Few staff could tell us who
the leaders or managers for safeguarding were.

Details provided by the trust showed that staff completed levels 1 and 2 for safeguarding adults and children and
achieved 99% compliance. We did not see evidence that clinical staff had completed level 3 training, but we were
assured by staff that this was the case for all clinical staff. A member of clinical staff told us they helped deliver
safeguarding training for the non-clinical staff.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

34 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 66



The governance of safeguarding across the trust was poor and we saw incident reports where clinicians working in the
EOC had failed to recognise indicators of serious risk to children.

Environment and equipment

The design, maintenance and use of facilities, premises and equipment kept people safe. Staff were trained to use
them.

The premises at Southern house was secure and all areas accessed via card entry systems. There was a lift to the first
floor and ramp access around the site for wheelchair access. The main room which housed the emergency call takers,
dispatchers and clinical team was crowded and could be noisy. The space was also shared with the NHS 111 team.

Staff used control measures to protect themselves and others from infection. The premises were visibly clean. All staff
wore a uniform and were well presented. Hand sanitising gel dispensers were available to staff and visitors throughout
the site. Staff had access to disinfectant wipes to clean their desks before and after their shift, which we observed staff
using. Staff completed infection prevention and control training as part of their mandatory training, data provided to us
from the trust showed that 100% of EOC staff had completed this.

Measures to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 had been adopted throughout the EOC. Rooms had been adapted to allow
for social distancing and maximum room occupancy numbers were adhered to whilst on the inspection. Separation
screens were installed between desks and staff were discouraged from standing and communicating with colleagues
over the top of the screens.

All staff in EOC were expected to wear masks when not at their desks, unless they had an exemption. We saw managers
reminding staff if they were not wearing them. Staff working in the EOC were not expected to test regularly for COVID-19,
however if they had symptoms, they would be asked to follow procedure, isolate, and provide a negative test before
returning to work.

Staff were able to access a desk with IT equipment; including computer, monitors, headset, and telephone in working
order. In the event of equipment and software failure, there were systems and processes to ensure the service could
continue to operate. If the computer system failed, emergency call takers would still receive information and use paper
forms. The forms contained the necessary information required for each call. Staff received training on the paper format
when they first joined.

Staff told us they had the equipment they needed to carry out their roles. Following occupational health assessments,
some staff were provided with equipment that had been adapted for their individual needs, such as lumbar supports.

The regulations relating to display screen equipment were displayed on the information notice board as a reminder for
staff.

Assessing and responding to patient risk

Staff completed and updated risk assessments for each patient and removed or minimised risks. Staff identified
and quickly acted upon patients at risk of deterioration.

Staff used a nationally recognised tool to identify deteriorating patients and escalated them appropriately. Staff in the
EOC used approved triage systems to prioritise calls based on risk and need, using the NHS Pathways system (NHSP).

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

35 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 67



NHSP is a telephone and digital triage clinical decision support system. The triage system prioritised, and coded calls
based on responses to questions asked by the ECTs.

The ECTs followed the call handling procedure in line with the requirements laid out by NHS Pathways (NHSP) user
licence and training for the safe use of the system. It detailed the local procedures to be used with regard to specific
scenarios within NHSP and CAD (Computer Aided Dispatch) functionality.

We listened to a number of calls during the inspection. Staff followed triage pathways consistently to determine the
right response for the patient. This response was not always to send an ambulance but included for example, a clinician
talking with a patient and carer, and another asking the caller if they were able to take themselves to the local walk-in
centre. Some calls were complex; patients were asked about their condition, and staff entered the answers on to the
system covering all aspects of the patient’s current condition and any medications. Staff determined the risk and acuity
of the patient to ensure the correct response. Calls were categorised as high risk calls requiring attendance within 18
minutes, to lower risk calls for patients who were not able to get to hospital unaided.

The EOC handled four categories of calls; category one included people with life-threatening illnesses or injuries,
category two for emergency calls, category three for urgent calls and category four for less urgent calls. The level of
urgency identified would then determine how the ECTs clinicians and dispatch team would coordinate a response.

During the inspection, the EOC staff were following the Enhanced Clinical Safety Policy (ECSP), which formed part of the
larger surge/demand management plan. Staff explained the service was in surge management triggered by the critical
incident status. The ESCP procedure was designed to ensure that category 1 and category 2 patients, who were the
highest clinical priorities, received an ambulance response within a timely manner, which meant there were large
numbers of category three and four patients waiting within the clinical stack. Increased pressure was put on the clinical
support desk and the NHS 111 clinicians to safely manage the category three and four patients.

Subsequent to our site visit, we found incident records that showed harm attributable to incorrect categorisation of calls
and delayed responses.

Staffing

The service did not always have enough staff with the right qualifications, skills, training, and experience to keep
patients safe from avoidable harm and to provide the right care and treatment. Managers regularly reviewed and
adjusted staffing levels and skill mix.

Data provided by the trust included staffing numbers for both EOCs. In April and May 2021 the service operation centres
were over recruited; however from June 2021 until the time of the inspection the operation centres were increasingly
understaffed. From August 2021 until the end of March 2022 the vacancy rate for EOC staffing in SCAS ranged between
12% and 18% for all staff groups. This equated to between 36 and 56 staff shortages across all groups between August
2021 and the end of March 2022.

For the ECTs the vacancy rate ranged from 10% in August 2021 to a peak in September and October 2021 of 24% which
equated to a shortage of up to 37 call takers. However, the ECT establishment had been increased at this time to address
the rise in demand. There had been some successful recruitment by March 2022 which had reduced the vacancy rate for
this group of staff to 13% but this meant that there continued to be a shortfall of 20 staff.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

36 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 68



The clinical support desk was also severely impacted by staff shortages in the 12 months prior to our inspection with an
average vacancy rate of 27% which equated to an average shortage of 14 -15 clinical practitioners.

Staff sickness rates between April 2021 and the end of March 2022 also severely impacted the service. The sickness rate
for the total staff group in the EOC averaged 9.85%; with clinical staff sickness rate averaging 7.29% and ECTs 11.81%.

Emergency call takers turnover rate further impacted on service provision through the year with an average rate of 60%
compared with an average of 38% for the whole staff group in the EOC. This rate was at its highest in the first three
months of 2022 which peaked at 76% turnover in March.

Staff told us they felt vulnerable at night sometimes as staffing numbers were often low. On one recent Saturday night in
Southern House the ECT numbers were reduced to two with just one clinician. This meant that up to 30 calls were
stacking and it was difficult to take a break. The trust told us that the call centre was virtual, so additional staff were in
Northern House. Southern House was shared with the NHS111 team so there were other staff in the building.

Some of the recent data was due to the latest recruitment strategy. The trust had negotiated with a local provider to
increase capacity by increasing the number of call takers for SCAS and train them to work from another centre. This
meant the SCAS could expand the number of call takers on duty in an attempt to better meet demand.

Staff told us that recruitment increased the pressure on them as the coaching and mentoring increased the burden on
the team. They understood that this was necessary in the short term to improve the service and reduce the pressure
going forward.

Records

Staff kept detailed records of patients’ care and treatment. Records were clear, up-to-date, stored securely and
easily available to all staff providing care.

Patient records were managed, completed, and stored appropriately and confidentially. Patient records were held
electronically, and staff required a password and login details to access them. The EOC used the computer aided
dispatch (CAD) system to record patient details, triage calls and deploy ambulance resources.

A new record was created at the start of every 999 call and patient details were recorded on the CAD system. The system
then guided emergency call handlers through a series of questions to identify the patient’s condition and the category
and coding generated the ambulance response required. Emergency call handlers updated information as the patient’s
situation developed during the call and crews could access this information electronically.

We saw staff used a flagging system to alert callers of any known risks. For example, information received from
healthcare professionals, patients and their families, GPs, and local authorities as well as multidisciplinary care plans for
frequent callers, agreed resuscitation orders and alerts to indicate potential violence and aggression.

Information governance training compliance rates were reported in the Integrated Performance Report. At the time of
the inspection the completion rate was 97%.

Medicines

Staff gave advice on medicines in line with national guidance.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

37 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 69



The EOC did not store any medication.

Call handlers followed the NHS pathways protocol for advice and obtaining information from the patient or the caller.

Call handlers understood their limitations in offering advice relating to medicines and the importance of giving advice
accurately and clearly.

We observed call handlers asking patients whether they were taking any medicines or pain control medication and
provided advice accordingly. The information received and advice given was recorded in the patient’s call record and
shared with the clinical support desk and attending crew. This informed the care the patient received. Call takers were
also able to obtain advice relating to medicines from the clinical support desk to ensure accurate information was
provided to the caller.

The clinical team used the Joint Royal College Ambulance Liaison Committee (JRCALC) for medicines guidance. These
were available electronically to ensure staff had access to the most up to date version.

Incidents

The service did not always manage patient safety incidents well. Staff recognised incidents and near misses and
reported them appropriately. Managers investigated incidents and included wider service and partner
organisations. Managers did not always ensure that actions from patient safety alerts were implemented and
monitored.

SCAS had an adverse incident and reporting policy which described an incident as any unintended or unexpected event
which could have, or did, lead to harm. Staff told us they were given an overview of the incident reporting process
during their period of mentorship and understood that incidents were to be graded according to the impact on the
individual or individuals concerned.

Staff knew what incidents to report and how to report them in the electronic incident reporting application. Staff gave
examples of things they would report, such as patient safety incidents where harm had occurred, or a patient record
which did not contain up to date information. Staff told us that the system provided a receipt notification when they
reported an incident and shift officers provided updates on reported incidents.

Electronically reported incidents went to the clinical governance leads and line managers in the trust. In the six months
to the end of March 2022, there were 306 incidents reported by staff in the EOC, 21 of which were reported by the clinical
support desk. The most reported incidents related to delays (200), patient treatment or care (21) and IT systems (29).

Education and quality leads for the EOC told us that they attended safety huddles every two weeks where incidents were
reviewed. The head of the EOC had oversight of all incidents reported by the EOC team.

Serious incidents such as those causing permanent injury or catastrophic harm led to a full investigation and report.
Outcomes, and identified actions to reduce or eliminate the risk of the incident recurring, were monitored by the Patient

Safety Group or Serious Incident Review Group. Staff we spoke with did not know how this process happened beyond
their own initial report.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

38 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 70



There were low numbers of Serious Incidents reported when compared to other ambulance trusts. Some incidents
which resulted in poor outcomes for patients, and which should have been investigated and reported as serious
incidents were not. This included a child patient presenting with symptoms highly suggestive of non-accidental injury
not being identified as being at risk and referred as a safeguarding concern. The low reporting meant that the board had
an inaccurate picture of risk and patient safety. Investigation reports tended to blame those involved in the incident, this
included a suggestion that clinicians were not professionally curious enough. Professional curiosity means not taking a
single source of information and accepting it at face value. It involves testing assumptions and triangulating information
from different sources. In this situation the non-specialist professional staff had not been provided with training to
enable them to develop the skills and knowledge that underpinned professional curiosity in a safeguarding situation but
were responsible for making key decisions about safeguarding risks.

1. Where follow up action had involved a change of practice or there were lessons to be learnt this we understood this
was communicated through the trust newsletter, safety bulletins, risk alerts, and staff briefings.

2. Staff were not always aware of learning from incidents; they said any learning would come from checking their
emails, directives and reading bulletins. However, staff found this overwhelming on busy shifts and they were not
always able to absorb the information. They were aware that they needed to read and acknowledge directives and
updates but found it difficult to find the time to read them. Staff told us there were no opportunities for formal team
meetings, as they were all cancelled when the system was at REAP4.

3. There was limited evidence of staff acquiring measurable learning from incidents within the EOC.

The adverse incident and reporting policy included the requirement for initiating the duty of candour, and there was a
separate policy detailing the process for carrying out this. Duty of candour is a regulatory duty that relates to openness
and transparency. It requires the providers of health and social care services to notify patients (or other relevant
persons) of certain ‘notifiable safety incidents’ and provide reasonable support to that person. Clinical staff understood
this requirement, but call handlers had a limited knowledge of this.

Staff we spoke with were aware of the Trauma Risk Management (TriM) peer support system and were able to access the
team if they felt upset or traumatised following an incident.

Is the service effective?

Good –––

Our rating of effective stayed the same. We rated it as good.

Evidence-based care and treatment

The service provided care and treatment based on national guidance and evidence-based practice. Managers
checked to make sure staff followed guidance. Staff protected the rights of patients subject to the Mental Health
Act 1983.

The service used the recognised NHS pathways system to assess calls received by the EOC. Protocols were in place for
the assessment and planning of care for paediatric patients, major trauma, obstetrics, cardiac arrest, hyper acute
stroke, and minor injuries. Staff provided care and treatment based on national guidance and evidence.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

39 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 71



All calls were categorised in line with national guidance, for example category one calls were calls assessed as
immediately life threatening. Pathways provided emergency call takers (ECTs) with questions based on the patient’s
urgent medical complaint or condition and offered prompts where required. Emergency call takers chose the most
appropriate category for the call based on responses to the questions provided which was colour coded according to
priority.

We listened to calls handled by the ECTs, they followed the system through to disposition efficiently and effectively and
were calm and polite when callers were clearly anxious, in pain or frustrated by the system.

The trust employed dedicated auditing staff; this team audited random samples of calls every month. When call
handlers failed to meet the required standard several actions were utilised to support the call handler to improve. These
actions included: a call review plan (CRP) highlighting identified development areas which is discussed with the
individual. The individual concerned is expected to complete a reflective document detailing the issues and actions
highlighted which is kept on file.

Staff confirmed that audit failures were discussed with their line mangers during regular one-to-one meetings.

Pain relief

Staff assessed and monitored patients regularly to see if they were in pain and gave pain relief advice in a timely
way.

Emergency call handlers recorded pain described by patients and callers as part of the questions prompted by the
electronic Pathways system. They also advised patients who were waiting for emergency responses to gather any
regular medication in case they needed to go to hospital. This ensured that patients had a supply of any regular pain
medication if they needed it.

Clinical staff talked to patients about their pain and, when appropriate, advised patients to use their usual preferred
analgesia to relieve pain.

Response times

The service monitored but did not always meet, agreed response times.

The trust monitored nationally measured NHS Ambulance Quality Indicators (AQI) for a range of indicators including
their call answer rates.

Calls to emergency operations centres (EOC) should be answered within a maximum of ten seconds on average. The
trust call answer times between September 2021 and March 2022 were consistently slower than the England average. In
March 2022, the mean time to answer calls was 106 seconds; this was the second slowest of the providers nationally and
was 64 seconds slower than the England average.

The EOC was measured and benchmarked against other trusts for its performance against the 99th centile time to
answer calls. This measure shows the time to answer 99% (99 out of 100) of 999 calls. This is defined as the time in

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

40 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 72



seconds between call connect and call answer. This measure identifies the longest waits to have calls answered; in
March 2022, the trust answered 99 out of 100 of all calls within 760 seconds. This was the slowest of 11 providers
nationally and was 464 seconds slower than the England average. At the time of our inspection the EOC was working
with NHS England on a ‘turn around’ program to improve call handling times.

Between January and March 2022, the trust abandonment rate for 999 calls and calls from other healthcare
professionals was 7.8%. The trust told us that the abandonment rate was high due to call answer performance.

Patient outcome

The service monitored the effectiveness of care and treatment. They used the findings to make improvements
and achieved good outcomes for patients

The trust provided data for their hear and treat rates; these were incidents resolved by staff over the telephone and
therefore not requiring an ambulance to be dispatched. This was a nationally measured Ambulance Quality Indicator
(AQI) standard for which the trust was benchmarked against other NHS ambulance services in England. The national
average for November 2021 to February 2022 was 11.65%. SCAS provided figures for the months of October 2021 to
March 2022. They performed consistently well against the national average with a rate of 11.95%. This was showing an
improving trajectory with the March rate of 12.65%.

There was a programme of audit for EOC activity which was overseen by the Education and Quality Assurance team.

Staff used these audits to identify concerns relating to incidents, complaints, and call times, as well as random monthly
samples. The EOC audit data for seven months from August 2021 to March 2022 showed high levels of compliance for
clinical staff with an average compliance rate of over 95%. The call audits for the nonclinical ECTs was more mixed; the
average compliance rate for these calls was between 88 and 89 percent. These calls include high numbers of new
trainees; audit failures were taken seriously by the trust and call takers worked on action plans for improvement.

Competent staff

The service made sure staff were competent for their roles. Managers appraised staff’s work performance and
held supervision meetings with them to provide support and development.

Managers gave all new staff a full induction tailored to their role before they started work. At the time of the inspection
the EOC team were working with another provider to improve capacity and a number of staff were in their induction
period following a three week period in the classroom. We saw they were well supported by mentors and coaches, and
staff told us they were provided with online learning programmes.

The trust set a target of 95% for appraisal completion. Appraisal rates for the Southern House EOC showed that 12%
(100/113) of non-clinical staff had not had an appraisal. However, the clinical support desk had completed 100% of staff
appraisals. Clinical staff felt that the appraisal were well-structured and a useful opportunity to discuss their ambitions
and development. The service had been working through a period of high demand and during periods of severe
pressure, appraisals had taken second place to answering calls. Most staff told us they were able to fit in one to one time
with line managers when they needed it.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

41 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 73



Feedback from call audits was usually delivered in a one to one setting and call takers were able to attend those
meetings. Staff we spoke with told us they had meaningful supervision with mentors as well as one to one meetings. It
was helpful to have a number of mentors and coaches available as shift patterns varied, but there was always someone
with the right skills to call on for support.

Clinical staff who had been off work for a period of long term absence such as maternity leave, had ‘keep in touch days’
before they were ready to return to their normal role. They also received lots of email communication with the team to
update any changes and developments. When they ready to return to work they were rostered to work with a clinical
educator to learn all updates and re-sit all assessments when they returned. Staff we spoke with told us they had
meaningful supervision from mentors.

The trust offered lots of opportunities for staff to learn and develop new skills; a number of staff had completed route
cause analysis training which ensured the team had the skills to investigate incidents and complaints.

There were a number of ‘champions’ who had enhanced skills to support teams; these included for example, sepsis,
radios, and fall back which was initiated in times of IT failure.

The education team worked with Health Education England (HEE) to provide funding for additional qualifications and
training. HEE supported investment in teaching and learning technology and resources.

Other upskilling opportunities offered of the SCAS workforce included for example, first degrees and master’s degrees;
courses to develop Microsoft Office excel spreadsheets. External webinar training such as difficult conversations, minor
injuries, and paediatrics.

The trust provided a wide range of academic training available to staff who applied; 12 staff had completed mentorship
training; 19 staff had completed a level 3 award in education and training and 24 had completed a level 3 certificate in
assessing vocational achievement. All of which significantly supported the ongoing training of new call takers.

Multidisciplinary working

All those responsible for delivering care worked together as a team to benefit patients. They supported each
other to provide good care and communicated effectively with other agencies.

The staff in the EOC did their best to deliver coordinated safe care; we observed the internal multidisciplinary team
working between emergency call takers, dispatchers, clinical advisors, and frontline crews to manage and direct care
and treatment for callers.

The clinical staff had links with local primary and community care services; they assessed patients and if it was clinically
appropriate, referred them to other local services, including GPs and community nursing or social services. A district
nurse was available for support during the day on weekdays to support with managing category 3 and 4 callers.

Staff were working on new care pathways with local acute trusts such as same day emergency care (SDEC).

We observed effective team working between the EOC and external bodies. The service worked with other ambulance
services to increase call handling capacity throughout the week as well as police and fire services to manage best first
response.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

42 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 74



Support for callers with mental health issues was provided by NHS111.

Call handlers knew how to redirect callers to the 111 service, the NHS non-emergency number. Staff told us they would
sometimes receive calls from patients who were told to hang up and dial 999 for an ambulance from 111, instead of 111
passing the call through the computer system to 999, which meant calls received this way would require a new triage
which could cause delay to patient care. This had improved during the last year and there was a reduction in reported
incidents of this occurring. The director of operations told us that one of her main aims was to develop more
coordinated teams. Call handlers did not participate in any form of engagement with the 111 service. There was no
evidence of shared learning between 111 and EOC.

The trust worked with several local acute trusts to provide a maternity triage service 24 hours a day, seven days a week.
Southern House EOC provided space for two midwives as a base to take calls outside of office hours.

Health Promotion

Staff gave patients practical support and advice to lead healthier lives.

There were several pathways available for staff to refer callers to other services when they were not calling with a
medical emergency or there was a more appropriate service in their local area that could meet their needs. The clinical
advisors accessed a web-based information system to find relevant services to refer patients to care and support other
than an ambulance response when this was appropriate.

Consent, Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty safeguards

Staff supported patients to make informed decisions about their care and treatment. They knew how to support
patients who lacked capacity to make their own decisions or were experiencing mental ill health.

There was no separate Mental Capacity Act Policy. The requirements of the Mental Capacity Act (2005) were shared in the
Mental Health Act Policy, after a section on detention. There was very limited guidance for staff to enable them to
understand the principles or implementation of the Act. This meant staff could perceive the MCA (2005) as being part of
the Mental Health Act and only applicable to people presenting with mental health conditions.

EOC staff were not expected to conduct mental capacity assessments over the telephone. If a staff member had
concerns about a patient’s capacity, they would note it on the electronic system for dispatcher and crews to see and
raise this with a clinical manager if appropriate.

All staff in the EOCs were expected to follow the principle of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 in assuming that all patients
had capacity unless they found evidence to suggest otherwise.

Clinical staff in the EOC that we spoke with understood and could articulate the relevant consent and decision making
requirements of the Mental Capacity Act 2005. (MCA)

Is the service caring?

Good –––

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

43 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 75



Our rating of caring stayed the same. We rated it as good.

Compassionate care

Staff treated patients with compassion and kindness, respected their privacy and dignity, and took account of
their individual needs.

Staff demonstrated compassionate, empathetic care to patients and members of the public in difficult or challenging
circumstances. Staff demonstrated their commitment to each caller on each of the calls we listened to. During calls the
staff we observed were calm, professional, and considerate of the patient’s needs. We heard staff interact with people in
a respectful and considerate way while ensuring they asked specific questions to follow the electronic pathways and
assess the patient. We listened to calls where staff took time to ensure questions were answered, where possible, by the
patient rather than supporting family members or carers to ensure the information was accurate.

We reviewed compliments that the trust provided to us and themes that came through were around the calmness and
reassurance that the call handlers provided. “The call handler was brilliant, really kind and reassuring and told me
exactly what to do. Made a big difference to our lives” “The call handler was patient, calming, kind and managed to get
details of the problem even though I did not make much sense”.

Emotional support

Staff provided emotional support to patients, families, and carers to minimise their distress. They understood
patients' personal, cultural, and religious needs.

We observed staff supporting callers and patients who were distressed and anxious. Staff showed understanding of the
impact of their advice and used relevant support tools to aid them in their delivery of care. Staff communicated clearly
and sensitively and reassured callers when help was on the way. Staff showed reassurance to callers before ending the
call. For example, they said to callers “you’re doing really well” and “stay nice and calm” while reassuring patients and
telling them that crews were “coming as fast as they can”.

Dispatchers provided continuous emotional support to the most unwell patients and callers while an emergency
ambulance response was on its way. Where necessary advisors remained on the line until the ambulance crew arrived at
the scene. This provided reassurance to callers they were not alone during a distressing time.

Understanding and involvement of patients and those close to them

Staff supported and involved patients, families, and carers to understand their condition and make decisions
about their care and treatment.

We saw examples of commendations received from members of the public by emergency call handlers praising their
response on emergency calls and their clarity to patients and those close to them.

Emergency call handlers and clinicians managed the expectations of callers and their families in line with the trust
expectations. When critical lifesaving emergency responses were required, staff were clear with their instructions and
stayed on the line until a crew arrived to take over lifesaving actions. We saw examples of this happening during the
inspection in critical and emergency situations.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

44 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 76



Staff demonstrated an understanding of the importance of involving patients, relatives, and carers in their interactions.

During our observations, staff always asked to speak with patients first-hand where this was considered appropriate, or
where not possible, would ask the caller to be by the side of the patient before triage began.

Staff communicated with patients and callers appropriately. Staff repeated information and asked callers if they
understood the information being provided to them. Staff asked questions of third party callers to aid them in their
triage. For example, where a patient was reported to be looking pale or flushed, call handlers asked the patients relative
or carer if this was a normal complexion for them or if they looked more pale than normal.

Is the service responsive?

Requires Improvement –––

Our rating of responsive went down. We rated it as requires improvement.

Service delivery to meet the needs of local people

The service planned and provided care in a way that met the needs of local people and the communities served. It
also worked with others in the wider system and local organisations to plan care.

Managers planned and organised services so they met the needs of the local population. Since the pandemic there had
been an increase in demand which the service had taken action to meet. SCAS was working with another ambulance
service to increase capacity. This service was able to take 15% of SCAS calls during the week and 10% of calls at the
weekend; this relieved the pressure on ECTs and went some way to reducing call wait times.

SCAS were also working with the Isle of Wight Ambulance Service; they were recruiting call takers to be based at their
EOC to increase emergency call taker capacity. SCAS were on track to have an extra 26 ECTs fully trained and operational
by early July 2022.

The Clinical Support Desk (CSD) had doubled the number of nurses and paramedics in their team. This enabled clinical
navigators to direct callers to more appropriate care and reduce the number of unnecessary ambulance journeys
required. ‘Hear and Treat’ levels were measured, this is the telephone advice that callers who do not have serious or life-
threatening conditions receive from an ambulance service after calling 999. Callers may receive advice on how to care
for themselves, or be directed to alternative services for example, a pharmacy or urgent treatment centre. Staff told us
that they had worked hard in recent times to improve the patient pathways and their ‘Hear and Treat’ score card had
improved from 4% to 13%. However, ECTs told us that they often struggled to enlist support from the CSD particularly at
night.

An urgent community response team of experienced clinical matrons supported the EOC clinical team between 10am
and 4pm each day, which supported an improved response to some callers without requiring the dispatch of an
ambulance.

SCAS were developing new pathways at the time of the inspection; for example, direct access to Same day Emergency
Care (SDEC) at the local hospital without the need for the patient to go to the emergency department.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

45 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 77



The service had systems to help care for patients in need of additional support or specialist intervention. Call takers
worked with other emergency services to coordinate a response if support from police or fire and rescue were needed.

Meeting people’s individual needs

The service was inclusive and took account of patients’ individual needs and preferences. The service made
reasonable adjustments to help patients access services.

Frequent callers were identified and flagged on the system to staff. However, updating of this service was dependant on
other healthcare providers updating the trust with information. The trust maintained a frequent caller database with
individual patient care plans for callers with complex needs.

Staff had access to an interpreting service for callers and patients whose first language was not English. However, there
was mixed response from staff on how to access and use these services. Members of staff we spoke with had not had to
use these services.

The service used ‘type talk’ for callers of patients who were deaf or speech impaired.

Patients received welfare calls if the ambulance response to their calls had exceeded the target time. Patients were
called back and asked if any of their symptoms had changed or worsened. A new triage would be completed if
answering positively to either of those questions. However, we saw evidence that welfare calls were often made outside
of the target time and patients could be waiting several hours before receiving a call.

The service had systems to help care for patients in need of additional support or specialist intervention. Call takers
worked with other emergency services to coordinate a response if support from police or fire and rescue were needed.

Mental Health support for ECTs and clinicians was provided by the NHS111 team. SCAS had access to a rapid response
vehicle for referrals needing a mental health assessment. This was available between 4pm and midnight, but staff found
that this was not consistent.

Access and flow

People could access the service when they needed it, in line with national standards, and received the right care
in a timely way.

The service used a recognised electronic prioritisation and triage system to manage the stack of calls awaiting resource
allocation.

Staff we spoke with told us that the system generated a review time for patients who had been waiting for an ambulance
response for longer than the recommended time frame and clinicians would contact these patients to complete a
welfare check and check the patient’s status. If the patient had deteriorated, or their condition had improved, clinicians
would reassess the patients and recategorize the call appropriately.

The EOC frequently struggled to match resources to call volume. Trust performance data showed between the months
of June 2021 and March 2022 national standards were missed for all categories of patients. During our inspection, we
observed calls and dispatches and at one point during the day there were 27 outstanding dispatches.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

46 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 78



The service had standard operating procedures to manage particular scenarios and conditions. During the inspection,
we saw the enhanced clinical safety policy initiated by gold command, following declaration of critical incident status.

The procedure was designed to ensure that category 1 and category 2 patients received an ambulance response within
an agreed time. The clinical support desk was responsible for clinical assessment and prioritisation of these calls and
during the inspection the desk had 12 cases at any one time.

This impacted on the management of less urgent category 3 and 4 callers who waited hours for care/treatment. In this
scenario welfare calls were assigned to one ECT who made welfare calls to check on the patient’s condition and directed
the patients to other care pathways where possible. We saw that welfare calls were not always made in accordance with
the procedure.

Learning from complaints and concerns

It was easy for people to give feedback and raise concerns about care received. The service treated concerns and
complaints seriously, investigated them and shared lessons learned with all staff, including those in partner
organisations.

Patients, relatives, and carers knew how to complain or raise concerns. There was information on the trust’s website
signposting patients and members of the public on how to complain to the service.

SCAS had a ‘Patient Experience Policy’ which included the management of complaints. The trust aimed to acknowledge
complaints within three days and provide a full response within 25 working days. We reviewed responses to three
complaints, SCAS responded to two of them in line with the timeline in the policy.

During the previous 12 months the EOC had received 175 formal complaints. By far the greatest number of complaints
related to delays (110) with ‘no ambulance at all’ next (19) and inappropriate care pathways next (14). During the week
beginning 28 March 2022 the EOC had received 34 complaints, of which 27 related to delays.

The EOC had appointed a complaints manager in August 2021 to co-ordinate the response to formal complaints,
improve efficiency, and take the pressure away from very busy control duty managers.

All complaints responses were dealt with by the trust patient experience team; individuals involved in any complaints
received feedback from their managers and call auditors.

We did not see evidence of sharing wider learning across different staff groups. Staff told us they assumed changes in
practice came from learning from complaints and concerns, but they were generally not given that level of detail when
changes took place.

Is the service well-led?

Requires Improvement –––

Our rating of well-led went down. We rated it as requires improvement.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

47 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 79



Leadership

Leaders in the EOC had the skills and abilities to run the service. They understood and managed the priorities and
issues the service faced. They were visible and approachable in the service for patients and staff. They supported
staff to develop their skills and take on more senior roles.

The leadership team in the Southern House emergency operations centre consisted of a head of service, control duty
managers (CDMs - 4), shift officers, and senior emergency call takers. The clinical support desk (CSD) had one manager
supported by team leaders.

There was dedicated and experienced leadership within the EOCs. Senior staff had often been part of the ambulance
service for number of years and had worked in various roles before progressing into senior roles.

During the inspection we saw evidence of clear responsibilities, roles, and systems of accountability within the EOC.

Managers and team leaders were easily accessible, and staff were clear on who they were accountable to.

We observed positive examples of leadership from EOC leaders; we observed team leaders supporting ECTs during
difficult or concerning calls if requested. Staff we spoke with said that EOC leaders allowed them to take a welfare break
following distressing calls when requested. The 2021 national staff survey showed that more than 70% of the EOC staff
said their immediate line manager listened to their concerns; just under 70% demonstrated a caring approach, and a
similar number took immediate action to help solve a problem.

Leaders described the work they were doing to manage increasing call demand, which involved the whole team in
mentoring and coaching new staff.

The SCAS leader course and the Essential Skills for People Managers was open to all leaders and aspiring leaders.

The head of the EOC told us he made it a priority to look after the team and made a point of seeing all new staff
following initial training and all staff who asked for support. All staff spoke highly of the head of the EOC.

Vision and Strategy

The service had a vision for what it wanted to achieve and a strategy to turn it into action, developed with all
relevant stakeholders. The vision and strategy were focused on sustainability of services and aligned to local
plans within the wider health economy. Leaders and staff understood and knew how to apply them and monitor
progress.

The SCAS vision statement was ‘towards Excellence – saving lives and enabling you to get the care you need.’ With a set
of core values which included

• Teamwork – delivering high performance through an inclusive, and collaborative approach which values diversity.

• Innovation – continuous improvement through empowerment of our people.

• Professionalism – setting high standards and delivering what we promise.

• Caring – for our patients and each other.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

48 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 80



At the time of the inspection we observed staff demonstrating these values when dealing with callers. Staff worked well
together in the EOC to do their best to ensure patients received the correct care. The clinical and non-clinical staff
demonstrated a patient and empathetic attitude to callers.

Senior staff had put a particular focus on recruitment of call takers to increase capacity to manage the growth in
demand. We saw a detailed model of how a large onboard of new call takers would be accommodated at a location
managed by another trust and the support required to implement this. Staff from all areas of the EOC were involved
with supporting the trainees often as mentors and coaches.

Staff understood the need to develop alternative care pathways to alleviate pressures on the wider health and care
system and we saw ECTs and clinicians worked together to achieve this goal. However, ECTs told us that access to the
clinical support desk was often difficult as they were so busy.

Culture

Staff were focused on the needs of patients receiving care. The service promoted equality and diversity in daily
work and provided opportunities for career development. The service had an open culture where patients, their
families and staff could raise concerns without fear. Staff did not always feel respected, supported, and valued by
trust executives.

During the inspection, staff we spoke with told us that there was a generally positive culture in the EOC; we observed a
positive working culture between staff groups.

Senior call takers, dispatchers, and other team leaders we spoke with had all worked their way up from ECTs and felt
that they had been offered opportunities and supported to gain promotion.

Staff were encouraged to submit favourable event reports in recognition of their support for one another. We saw some
of these, for example, ‘L communicated to the patient with such warmth and empathy, it was easily one of the best calls
I have listened too…. I feel that L really went above and beyond on this call and I hope she understands how much of an
exceptional call taker she is and how much she is appreciated by both her colleagues and patients.’

‘Throughout the entirety of the call, the ECT remained calm and professional. He acted quickly and efficiently using his
active listening skills and his initiative, acting on what could be heard and what was stated. he provided excellent
reassurance, comfort, and direction to all those on scene, in order to quickly and safely help the patient appropriately,
using all tools provided on ICAD & Pathways to help him……… He should feel extremely proud of himself, as am I.’

We saw examples of the ‘Wallboard’ which staff accessed electronically and featured staff successes, such as,
congratulations to ECTs when they were signed off as competent; ‘well done to all call takers with details of the number
of calls taken in the month (March 2022 Southern House 51,508)

The trust had initiated a number of support mechanisms for staff during the last two years. There were a number of
mobile apps offered to staff to help manage stress, for example mindfulness and meditation.

We saw minutes from a health and wellbeing forum which was held every three or four months and attended by
representatives from across the organisations including the EOC. Issues under discussion included, the flexible working
policy, and the Long COVID Rehabilitation Programme. The ‘Time to talk’ day held in February 2022 was well attended
with 50 staff logged into the session. We were told the duty managers were also wellbeing champions.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

49 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 81



The trust issues a monthly ‘pulse’ questionnaire to staff, ‘how was your month’; individuals told us that they had
responded when they felt particularly pressured and the leadership had helped them with helpful suggestions.

A commemorative coin has been produced to thank all staff employed at SCAS prior to March 2021 for their hard work
during the COVID-19.

The SCAS executives offered a lot of support to employees, however, when talking to some staff they were not always
aware of what’s available as much of the communication from senior people is made via emails, and electronic
notifications which many of the more junior staff did not feel they had the time to read. The NHS staff survey for 2021
showed that the SCAS EOC staff score for ‘We are recognised and rewarded’ was 5.3/10 and the score for morale in the
EOC was 4.9/10; there we 205 responses.

Governance

Leaders did not always operate effective governance processes in the emergency contact centre. Staff at all levels
were not always clear about their roles and accountabilities and did not have regular opportunities to meet,
discuss and learn from the performance of the service.

The trust had an emergency operation centre clinical governance group which fed into the trust clinical review group
and the patient safety group.

The EOC clinical governance group met every couple of months and we received minutes from the three most recent
meetings following our inspection. The meetings were attended by senior leads in the EOC along with trust governance
leads.

We did not see evidence that themes from complaints and incidents were identified and discussed nor evidence that
learning was shared with all staff in the EOC.

It was noted in the minutes for EOC governance meeting of August 2021 that there was a lack of engagement in clinical
governance due to the operational pressures on the service and the importance of clinical governance to the quality of
service and patient safety. However, we did not see evidence that this had improved in the minutes of meetings we
received for the months of October and January 2022.

Senior leaders told us that they were planning to instigate a daily safety huddle with EOC staff, but this had not been
implemented at the time of the inspection.

The trust provided a risk register for the EOC, we noted from governance meeting minutes that it had not been discussed
or updated since August 2021, however the register was updated on 27 April following our visit.

Management of risk, issues, and performance

Leaders and teams used systems to manage performance. They identified and escalated relevant risks and issues
and identified actions to reduce their impact. They had plans to cope with unexpected events.

The emergency call centre maintained a risk register for the area which included risks relating to potential patient harm
due to waits for 999 resource, demand exceeding resource available, and issues with telephony systems.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

50 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 82



Other risks related to potential unsafe practice due to numbers of staff off sick or on maternity leave reducing the
available expertise and support for training and coaching. We were told that recruitment and retention was the biggest
concern for the EOC, this was reflected on the risk register, and recruitment was ongoing to address this. The trust had
been under pressure with increasing demand throughout the previous year and the plan to increase capacity and
improve efficiency was ongoing with trained ECTs expected to be functioning from July 2022.

The trust used a calls audit procedure to monitor the quality of calls. However, we did not see evidence to show these
were used to improve performance metrics following investigations of complaints and incidents.

Information Management

The service collected reliable data and analysed it. Staff could find the data they needed, in easily accessible
formats, to understand performance, make decisions and improvements. The information systems were
integrated and secure. Data or notifications were consistently submitted to external organisations as required.

We observed ‘real-time’ electronic dashboards that monitored performance in the centre and staff reviewed these
throughout the day. This information included the number of calls waiting to be answered, waiting time to dispatch, and
the surge level. The team leads, and senior team used this information to manage capacity, demand, and staff
responsiveness to calls.

However some data retrieval methods were inefficient; for example, the system uses a call category in the stack, the
clinical support desk navigator uses a spreadsheet to filter the stack by call category but there was no live breakdown of
count of activity, staff had to manually count when they were required to feed into the critical incident updates
throughout the day. Another example we saw was while the clinicians can identify the nature of the call and the time of
a call in the stack, breaches of these calls against standards was not indicated in the system.

There were no reporting mechanisms to evaluate the welfare calling policy compliance, efficacy, volume/activity, or
profile.

Staff were able to access policies, protocols, and other work-related information through the trusts internal intranet,
however staff told us they did not often have the opportunity to check e mails to see what updates may be available,
and directives could sometimes be overwhelming.

Engagement

Leaders and staff actively and openly engaged with patients, staff, equality groups, the public and local
organisations to plan and manage services. They collaborated with partner organisations to help improve
services for patients.

The EOC displayed useful information for staff to read. This included the Staff survey 2020/21 – results and engagement
plan, and the ‘EOC pledges to staff 2020/21’. These included Recognition at work – do you feel supported? Health and
well-being – what more can we do? And, Errors and feedback- reporting and receiving. The board also included
wellbeing information for staff on stress, and sources of stress and information about risks to health relating to the
physical set up of desks, chairs, and screens. The display board was in the corridor outside the control room and easily
accessible for staff.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

51 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 83



Staff told us the trust engaged well with them during their training programme and they had opportunity to meet senior
managers during this period. The trust did their best to offer family friendly rotas and senior staff were supportive in
finding shift patterns which fitted around home life and met work demands.

The trust were working with a national lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender rights charity (LGBTQ+) to deliver a series
of workshops taking to help individuals create more inclusive cultures. There were a variety of sessions focussing on for
example, engaging senior leaders on LGBTQ+ inclusion, and understanding more about LGBTQ+ people’s experiences of
mental health and wellbeing.

Following feedback from staff the trust have initiated a number of changes to improve the environment, such as
provision of coffee machines and cold refreshments.

The trust uses ‘Hot News’ bulletins to try and keep staff informed of operational issues; we saw some examples which
included information about leave carry over, new staff operational staff appointments and the appointment of a new
director.

The service engaged with local system partners in a variety of ways, about specific patients or process, care planning, to
share information. The clinical team worked with social services, community, and district nurses to improve care
pathways for frequent callers and callers with dementia for example.

Senior management did not always engage staff well when communicating change. Staff in the EOC gave an example of
a recent change made to the daily shifts worked by the ambulance crews. From December 2021 crews about to end their
shifts were not dispatched to any calls that met category 3 or 4. This had a big impact on emergency call takers,
increasing the call stacking and the wait times for patients who incurring extra call backs. This was not discussed with
the senior team in the EOC, and had a detrimental impact on their wellbeing.

The trust website promoted an annual patient survey and the NHS friends and family test to enlist feedback from the
public.

Learning, continuous improvement and innovation

Staff were committed to continually learning and improving services. However, many staff in the EOC felt they did
not have the time or support from managers to access learning and improvement.

The Trust had enlisted the support of an NHS ambulance in the Midlands to manage a proportion of the calls to the 999
service during the week and at weekends. This helped reduce call takers’ response times.

Emergency operations centre (EOC)

52 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 84



Inadequate –––

Is the service safe?

Inadequate –––

Our rating of safe went down. We rated it as inadequate.

Mandatory training

The service had not been able to provide mandatory training in all key skills to staff. The COVID-19 pandemic had
impacted on face-to-face training for all staff.

Staff confirmed they had not undertaken any face-to-face training. Although there were courses available online, crews
said there was no time to do any, as they were always carrying out clinical work. Electronic devices had been given to
staff to do training and read emails when queuing at hospitals.

All new emergency ambulance staff received initial mandatory training which had to be successfully completed before
deployment. For example, equality and diversity, dementia core skills, health and safety, information governance and
infection control and protection. The trust told us eLearning was available. The completion rates varied depending on
the role but did not always reach the trust targets. For example, the completion rates of level 2 infection prevention and
control were 80% for team leaders, 85% for ambulance technicians and 86% for newly qualified paramedics.

Clinical staff completed training on recognising and responding to patients with mental health needs, learning
disabilities, autism and dementia.

Staff could tell us how they would respond to patients with mental health needs, learning disabilities, autism and
dementia. The trust provided training and 78% of operational staff had completed training in the Mental Capacity Act
(2005).

Staff said that considering COVID-19 and an increase of patients with mental ill health the mandatory training was not
enough to help them with the patients care they had been seeing over the past 24 months.

Safeguarding

Not all staff understood how to protect patients from abuse or how the service worked with other agencies to do
so. Clinical staff had not had the appropriate level of training on how to recognise and report abuse in line with
the national guidance, “Safeguarding Children and Young People: Roles and Competencies for Healthcare Staff
(2019) and “Adult Safeguarding: Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff (2018).

The service had a safeguarding policy which staff could access.

Emergency and urgent care

53 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 85



Staff had not received training specific for their role on how to recognise and report abuse. National guidance detailed in
the intercollegiate guidance documents states paramedics should have level 3 safeguarding training. Paramedics had
completed level 2 training however, as of 2 April 2022, only 20% of paramedic staff had attended level 3 safeguarding
training.

Not all staff knew how to make a safeguarding referral and who to inform if they had concerns.

Staff were not clear about their responsibilities in making safeguarding referrals when there was a concern for welfare,
for example, when there was suspected child abuse. Staff we spoke with were unsure who the safeguarding lead was.

The service could not demonstrate they had considered the roles of different groups of staff and determined which level
of training was required for both children’s and adults safeguarding training. This meant adults and children were at risk
of not having their safety and wellbeing recognised and not receiving appropriate support. The trust had a statutory and
mandatory training policy that contained a matrix to show which groups of staff should complete which training.
However, the line for child safeguarding level 1 and 2 did not suggest any groups who should complete this. There was
no line for level 3 safeguarding children training. There was a line for levels 1 and 2 adult safeguarding but no line for
level 3 adult safeguarding, which is the national recommendation for paramedic staff.

Allegations against staff and volunteers by other staff or members of the public were not always acted upon in a way
that protected people. Allegations were sometimes dealt with or dismissed at a local level. The policy did not cover
allegations against volunteers.

Cleanliness, infection control and hygiene

The service did not always control infection risk well. Staff did not always use equipment and control measures to
protect patients, themselves and others from infection. They mostly kept equipment, vehicles and the premises
clean but we observed staff who were not following infection prevention and control processes.

Most ambulance stations areas were clean and had suitable furnishings which were clean and maintained. We found
them to include adequate kitchen facilities and rest areas. The consumable stock rooms were tidy and labelled.

However, at North Harbour, there was a significant pigeon problem. Pigeons were nesting in the high areas of the garage.
Their droppings were on vehicles, equipment, on the floor and bins. Cardboard boxes containing personal protective
equipment, also had pigeon droppings on them. We were told that the packages were wiped down before use. However,
this posed an infection control risk as equipment was contaminated with pigeon droppings. Staff in the make ready area
were wearing respirators as they were at an increased risk of serious lung disease.

Staff did not always follow infection control principles including the use of personal protective equipment (PPE). The
trust had revised their infection control policy to in response to COVID-19 and new ways of working. Staff told us they
had received training in using PPE. Staff mostly adhered to infection control principles such as gloves and masks which
were worn during all patient transfers. Our observations confirmed this. However, staff did not always follow national
guidance. For example, using hand sanitisers or washing their hands after removing their gloves.

When the ambulance crews were at the station, they followed social distancing and infection prevention guidelines.

There was hand sanitiser at the entrances to the stations. There were clinical wipes, and hand sanitiser in communal
areas.

Emergency and urgent care

54 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 86



Staff cleaned equipment after patient contact and labelled equipment to show when it was last cleaned. The trust
contracted an external company to make ambulance vehicles ready for use. Most vehicles were cleaned overnight, and a
notice placed on the widescreen when the vehicle was ready.

Most of the vehicles we looked at including floors, the cab, the equipment and the cupboards were visibly clean.

However, the vehicles at one station were dirty. The team leader told us that this service was contracted to an external
provider and they had not been washing the ambulances due to their capacity and agreed they were dirty.

Staff said the stations in the New Forest did not have a ‘make ready team’ and the crews were responsible for preparing
the vehicles, which could be a challenge in ensuring the vehicles were ready on time. The trust told us after the
inspection visit that the station was serviced by mobile ‘make ready teams’, which differed from the staff perspective.

Environment and equipment

The design, maintenance and use of facilities, premises and equipment did not always keep people safe. Staff
were trained to use them. Staff managed clinical waste well.

Staff carried out daily safety checks of specialist equipment. The ‘make ready’ team prepared and replenished stock in
the ambulance vehicles, including equipment such as the defibrillator. The ‘make ready team’ told us they saw their role
as the pre-checks for the crew and to assist crews to get back on the road as soon as possible. One station did not have a
‘make ready team’ and the crews were responsible for sourcing equipment and preparing the vehicles, which could be a
challenge in ensuring the vehicles were ready on time.

Equipment was usually available to meet patient’s needs, for example: child restraints and baby harnesses. The
emergency vehicle trolleys could carry patients with a high body mass index comfortably because they had expanding
‘wings’ to enlarge the width of them. Replacement equipment was stored at ambulance stations and staff had access to
the equipment store.

However, there were several occasions when staff were unable to operate defibrillator machines when needed. The
ambulance staff used workarounds, such as waiting for a second ambulance to respond to these situations. The staff we
spoke to said they knew that patients had suffered harm, but the trust was not able to identify this as not all incidents
were reported.

There was also an incident recorded where a patient had been rescued from water, when an essential piece of
resuscitation equipment was not available.

The main ‘make ready’ stores were clean, equipment was stored and rotated on shelves off the floor. Nitrous oxide (pain
relief gas) cylinders were full and stored in suitable cupboards and stored securely within the garage. Oxygen cylinders
were stored in an external secure cage area and were chained securely to prevent accident injuries. Clean linen
cupboards were available for crews to restock at the entrance to the stations. There were clear directions about how to
report and manage equipment and vehicle faults on the staff noticeboard.

Staff disposed of clinical waste safely. Clinical waste stored at the stations were collected twice a week. There were no
concerns about the tagging of bags or storage on the vehicles or at the stations. Waste bins were available for
segregated waste.

Emergency and urgent care

55 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 87



Assessing and responding to patient risk

Staff completed and updated risk assessments for each patient and removed or minimised risks. Staff identified
and quickly acted upon patients at risk of deterioration. However, delays experienced at the emergency
departments were adding risks to patient safety and welfare in the community.

When people called 999, they were assigned an urgency category based on their condition, which determined the type
and time of the response from the service. These are category 1- calls from people with life- threatening illness of
injuries, category 2- emergency calls, category 3- urgent calls and category 4 less urgent calls. From July 2021, 12%
patients experienced a delay for an ambulance to attend.

For category 1 and 2 calls, ambulance crews treated patients on the scene and if required took them to an emergency
department for ongoing care. The risk to the patient would then be handed over to the emergency department teams on
arrival. The NHS contract states all handovers between an ambulance service and an emergency department must take
place within 15 minutes with none waiting more than 30 minutes. The responsibility for the patient is that of the
emergency department when the ambulance arrives.

Category 3 patients waiting for an ambulance or assessment by a paramedic were at risk of deterioration whilst waiting
for a response. Other support was offered through call backs, ‘hear and treat’ and by rapid response staff ‘seeing and
treating’, this helped to reduce risk and waiting for an ambulance.

Staff used a nationally recognised tool to identify deteriorating patients and usually escalated them appropriately.

Ambulance crews used the National Early Warning Score (NEWS2) tool to monitor and manage deteriorating patients.

The NEWS2 score was recorded on the electronic patient care report based on the assessment of patient’s clinical
observations and vital signs. NEWS2 is a simple scoring system. It used scores based on physiological measurements to
help identify patients who are deteriorating and indicate the priority for medical intervention.

Ambulance staff said generally staff at the emergency departments responded quickly if they believed a patient was
rapidly or significantly deteriorating. Ambulance staff caring for patients waiting for handover at the hospitals were
supported by the hospital ambulance liaison officer (known as the HALO) who coordinated and managed their work.

They were an employee of the ambulance trust and an experienced paramedic. They maintained a constantly updated
view of all patients remaining with the ambulance staff. They liaised with the hospital staff to prioritise and identify the
risk of patients on the ambulances. The work they did was spoken of as highly valued by the ambulance service and the
emergency department staff. At one hospital emergency department the emergency nurse practitioner oversaw the care
of patients in the ambulances and triaged them – arranging medical intervention and testing such as ECG’s. Where there
were concerns a consultant reviewed them.

There was a process for additional support and transferring patients to the appropriate department. For example:
suspected stroke – there was a definitive pathway which was in line with guidance. Stroke patients were transferred
direct to hyper-acute stroke units or admitted to the emergency department where they were met by a specialist stroke
nurse.

Emergency and urgent care

56 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 88



There were reported incidents and incidents had not been reported (but which we were told about by SCAS staff, GPs
and emergency department staff) where patients had suffered significant harm as a result of delays or where ambulance
staff had made poor decisions about the care of patients. Staff knew about and dealt with any specific risk issues. Staff
completed risk assessments for each patient, using a recognised tool, and reviewed this regularly, including after any
incident. The assessment supported staff to meet patients’ needs.

The trust had worked with other care providers to identify primary community pathways. These included pathways for
patients with frailty, dementia, mental health, end of life care, chest infections, urinary tract infections, catheters and
falls.

The electronic patient care record (ePCR) contained protocols and flow charts for specific conditions such as head
injuries. Staff were able to make an onward referral using the ePCR, for example to a patient’s GP if they had identified a
patient at risk of falls.

Conversations took place to ensure the patients received the appropriate care and treatment. The dedicated GP line or
frailty service enabled a ‘sense check’ of staff’s decision making, and to agree the best plan for patients where the
decision to transport was unclear. Staff had been supported and encouraged to learn how best to give a non-conveyance
message to relatives and patients. This was done by clinical educators, role modelling and coaching staff.

Staff shared key information to keep patients safe when handing over their care to others. We observed good handovers
from ambulance staff to hospital staff using the SBAR method (Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendation).

The handover information detailed the current situation for example what actions/treatments the ambulance staff had
given. The history leading to the current situation. The ambulance staff assessment of patient’s treatment needs, and
any recommendations they may have.

Staffing

The service did not always have enough staff with the right qualifications, skills, training and experience to keep
patients safe from avoidable harm and to provide the right care and treatment.

Senior trust staff recognised the pressure on the workforce currently, and over the preceding two years. Most staff said
they felt the demand and pressure particularly in the six months leading up to our inspection, from handover delays,
sickness, including COVID-19 and staff vacancies.

The number of staff did not always match the planned numbers. The service had increasing attrition rates that were not
matched by the same level of recruitment. Managers told us that staff were leaving to work in GP practices and private
ambulance services where terms and conditions and development opportunities were reported to be more attractive.

Data provided by the trust confirmed this. Managers told us they spoke with staff planning to leave and encouraged staff
retention. The overall trust staff monthly turnover rate was 9.74% in March 2022 compared to 5.16% in April 2021. There
was an action plan in place to improve staff retention.

Local managers told us that the expectation was ambulance crews would always include a qualified paramedic,
however due to the available staff crews this was not the case. For example, between 01 November 2021 and 01 April 22
18841 emergency calls were received, of those 1753 vehicles who responded, did not have a qualified paramedic as part

Emergency and urgent care

57 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 89



of the crew. The trust confirmed that 9.8% of ambulances did not have a paramedic as part of the crew when attending
category 1 calls. This meant patients may not have received the most appropriate assessment and treatment. There
were examples where patient needs had not been met because the lack of qualified paramedics; this included not being
able to have opiate analgesia and not being able to offer aspects of advanced life support, when needed.

After the inspection site visits the trust told us that SCAS operates two tiers of ambulance crews, one with a paramedic
and another where there is not a paramedic but a technician and emergency care assistant. During the pandemic the
trust also operated ambulances crewed solely by emergency care assistants. They said that each type of vehicle is
deployed through emergency operations centre to clinically appropriate incidents, although staff told us, and we saw
that the crews were not always appropriate to the category of incident. The trust said that the crews knew they had the
ability to call for paramedic back up if required to deliver advanced care and felt that this deployment allowed SCAS to
target the appropriate skills of their crews to the appropriate patients.

The trust said that student paramedics on placement from university were always supernumerary, therefore on a double
crewed ambulance they were a third person, and, on a response, vehicle were a second person. The trust said that they
were always be supervised by a registrant with more than one year’s experience. Staff told us that student paramedics
were sometimes working as part of the crew and were not supernumerary that they should have been ‘extra’ to observe,
but this wasn’t always possible. Whilst observing in an emergency department we met a crew which had responded to a
category 2 call where there was no qualified paramedic, but an ambulance technician and a student paramedic.

Records

Staff kept detailed records of patients’ care and treatment. Records were clear, up-to-date, stored securely and
easily available to all staff providing care.

Patient notes were comprehensive, and all staff could access them easily. Staff used an electronic tablet for recording
the electronic patient report forms (EPRF), they were clear and up to date, including key information. All electronic
patient records we looked at were clear and complete with records management processes following the Joint Royal
Colleges

Ambulance Liaison (JRCALC) guidance. All the records seen were dated, timed, signed and had an identifiable number.
These had been audited monthly pre-pandemic by clinical educators and any issues addressed but this had stopped as
demand was outstripping resource and capacity issues.

The electronic device was secured through a screen password and a lock screen feature to meet Information
Governance and Data Protection requirements. Records were shared electronically with the receiving hospital. The
receiving member of nursing staff signed the electronic tablet to confirm handover. In case of IT failure or the receiving
provider not having the ability to accept an electronic form, paper copies of the electronic patient report form were
completed.

When patients transferred to a new team, there were no delays in staff accessing their records. We observed nine
handovers of patients from ambulance staff to the hospital and records shared with relevant staff of other agencies.

Handovers were robust and reflected information on the trust’s electronic system.

When patients were left at home (see and treat), a paper copy was left with the patient, along with information
regarding specific advice for common injuries and illnesses.

Emergency and urgent care

58 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 90



Records were stored securely. Confidential waste was locked away and secured on the ambulance until it could be
disposed of at a station.

Medicines

The service used systems and processes to safely prescribe, administer and record medicines. However,
medicines were not always stored safely.

Staff followed systems and processes to prescribe and administer medicines safely. There were processes and policies
which detailed how medicines should be managed. The trust had up to date Patient Group Directions (PGD’s) which are
written instructions for the administration of authorised medicines to a specific group of patients. This meant that
medicines were administered to patients by staff with the legal authority to do so.

Staff did not always store and manage all medicines safely. We found that medicine security and access did not always
follow trust policy. For example, two stations visited did not always ensure that access to medicines was restricted to
authorised staff. At one station the key for access to medicines storage was not secure or held by authorised staff.

At a second station medicine storage was in a metal filing cabinet within a locked room. The metal cabinet was not
locked, and there was a potential risk that medicines could be accessed by unauthorised staff. This was fed back to the
trust who responded.

The trust had undertaken a full review of all medicines storage facilities in line with the Safe and Secure Handling of
Medicines Policy. There is an action plan in place to address issues following a planned program of works. This includes
addressing storage and storage rooms, Hythe was listed on a three year improvement plan. The project was on track
with a minimum of five stations planned for the year 2022/23.

There was a lack of sufficient storage for medicines at the main store, however the pharmacy team were managing the
situation as best they could. It was recognised by the trust that a new main central store location for medicines was
required.

There was a clear process for the distribution of medicine bags to stations to ensure medicines were available to
administer. Medicine bags were tagged and sealed to ensure medicines were available when needed and fit for use.

However, some of the medicine bags were too small to contain all the required medicines without something falling out
unnoticed by staff. This had led to an increase in reports of missing medicines from bags. This issue, although part of the
improvement plan for medicine distribution, was taking time to deliver the required change. The paramedics checked
their medicines bags as part of their overall checks at the start of their shifts.

Staff were asked how they accessed pain relief such as morphine, which was locked in a safe on the vehicle, when the
paramedic was with a patient, (a paramedic is the only member of staff who can access controlled medicines). They said
they would hand their key card to a colleague if not a paramedic. The trust policy states only the member of staff with
the key can access the medicines in the safe. On informing the trust of these concerns they replied; ‘Handing a key card
to a non-registered member of staff is not part of the policy. This issue has been picked up and addressed with the local
team. We will continue to monitor to ensure there is policy compliance and understanding of the responsibilities of
registered staff’.

Emergency and urgent care

59 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 91



Medicine rooms and refrigerator temperatures were electronically monitored to ensure medicines were stored within
the recommended ranges. An electronic central logging system alerted staff to any temperature variations so that action
could be taken.

Medical gases were stored safely and securely.

There were processes to audit medicine safety and security, however these audits were not always being undertaken
due to staff capacity. This meant it was not always possible for the service to identify where issues were, identify any
trends and see what needed to be done in order to mitigate the risks. The lack of medicine safety and risk audits was
included on the risk register, with improvement plans in place.

The Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 places controls on some medicines called Controlled drugs (CD) and under the Misuse of
Drugs Regulations 2001 there are certain controls for storage. On one ambulance the CD cupboard was out of use as the
lock was broken. This had been reported to the trust on 29 March 2022 and no action had been taken. This meant that
the crew could not carry any CDs such as morphine which in turn impacted patients. For example, staff told us of one
incident where a patient’s pain was not effectively managed. Staff followed the trust process and requested some
morphine from one of their support crew, who themselves did not have any morphine, this meant the patient’s pain was
not treated whilst they were being transported to emergency department. After the inspection the trust sent a plan of
the action they would take to ensure medicines were safely stored and managed.

Staff learned from safety alerts and incidents to improve practice. Staff understood how to report a medicine incident or
safety concerns following the trust incident reporting policy. Staff told us they received updates about errors or
incidents.

Incidents

The service did not always manage patient safety incidents. Not all staff recognised and reported incidents and
near misses.

Managers did not always encourage reporting and not all investigated reported incidents. The trust did not always share
lessons learned with the whole team and the wider service. When things went wrong, staff did not always apologise and
nor were patients or family members given comprehensive and unambiguous information and suitable support, as
required by the regulation relating to the Duty of Candour. Where apologies were offered in writing, they tended to be for
the distress felt by the patient or relatives and not for the care shortcomings.

Managers ensured that actions from patient safety alerts were implemented and monitored.

Not all staff knew what incidents to report or when to report them. There was a policy for staff to refer to giving guidance
on the reporting of incidents. There were 273 reported incidents between October 2021 and April 2022. For example,
delays at hospital handovers, which led to delays in response to other calls, patient treatment and care and IT. Some
staff told us they used the urgent and emergency care electronic system to report incidents and there was varying level
of feedback and support provided. Staff told us a member of staff had given a patient too much glucose.

Following an investigation, the trust had changed the bottles so staff could see the different strengths more easily.

Many staff said they were discouraged from reporting incidence by their local managers as it created too much work.

Emergency and urgent care

60 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 92



The level of reporting and types of incidents being reported was not in line with the averages for other ambulance trusts.

Staff did not always report serious incidents in line with trust policy. This meant the trust under reported incidents as
they did not have the information from staff. Staff told us sometimes they used the trust’s electronic system to report
incidents. Others said they did not use the electronic patient record as they could ‘get lost’, so waited until they returned
to the station. Four staff we spoke with who were on ‘hold’ at a hospital said they knew how to report incidents but
didn’t usually bother unless it was a big clinical mistake as ‘nothing happened and there simply wasn’t time’.

One said, “Things happened, and you just had to accept this to cope with everyday life”. None of these staff knew about
any serious incidents but did get to hear about ‘bad calls’ on the grapevine.

Staff gave examples of what they would make a report on such as; missing medicines, clinical errors and issues with the
triage system. Some staff said there was a ‘no-blame’ culture and they wanted to learn from incidents.

Feedback from CQC’s staff survey suggested that there was a blame culture. ‘SCAS think they encourage reporting of
incidents and near misses, however there is still a culture of blame and finger pointing. Rather than striving to find the
cause and learn from mistakes, instead just blame the individual and move on’.

Staff gave an example of a recent serious incident. A clinician attended a call for a cardiac arrest and assessed
resuscitation would not reverse the patient’s outcome. A second crew assessed it was a potentially reversible condition.
Following an investigation further risk were mitigated by ensuring the member of staff worked with senior supervision.
Support was given to the member of staff and the family were informed.

Incidents that should have been reported as serious incidents by ambulance crews were not. This included where
patients had died or suffered significant harm. Senior leaders at the trust supported a stance of non-compliance with
the national reporting framework. Specific examples were seen but are not reported to avoid the potential to cause
distress to bereaved relatives.

Staff did not fully understand the duty of candour. Most could talk about being open and transparent and gave patients
and families a full explanation if and when things went wrong, but this was not always followed through in practice.

Some staff we spoke with were unfamiliar with the term ‘duty of candour’. However, all staff were aware of it and in
discussions they could all explain the meaning. Some of the staff we spoke with told us the phrase meant, 'saying sorry if
you’ve done something wrong’. Staff could not recall an incident when this had happened.

Analysis of the responses from the trust to patients or their families showed that the duty of candour was not always
completed in line with the requirements of the regulations. Apologies were about feeling distressed rather than for
service delivery failings. The letters were not sent out in a timely way as required.

Managers debriefed and supported staff after any serious incident. Support could include a return to base, cup of tea, a
physical check and time to talk. A quiet room was available, and staff were supported with essential paperwork.

In the case of a major incidents there was always a staff debrief. Staff gave us an example of where a very experienced
crew had managed the case of a patient drowning. The situation had involved air ambulance, trust staff and an incident
commander. A debrief was held immediately afterwards and support was given at the time and afterwards as needed.

Emergency and urgent care

61 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 93



Is the service effective?

Requires Improvement –––

Our rating of effective went down. We rated it requires improvement.

Evidence-based care and treatment

The service provided care and treatment based on national guidance and evidence-based practice. Managers
checked to make sure staff followed guidance. Staff protected the rights of patients subject to the Mental Health
Act 1983.

Staff had access to policies to support the delivery of high-quality care according to best practice and national guidance.

The electronic handheld devices held current care plans, flow charts and policies for patient care and treatment. Policies
reviewed after inspection were comprehensive, in date and version controlled. For example, end of life care pathway
78% of staff operational staff had completed end of life care training between 01 April 2021 and 31 March 2022.

Staff had access to the Joint Royal Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee (JRCALC) guidelines and were able to
demonstrate how they could access them on their mobile devices. Where guidelines were available from JRCALC the
service did not have a separate policy as the JRCALC guidelines were regularly updated and best practice. For example,
the service does not have a separate sepsis policy but refers to the JRCALC guidelines.

Staff protected the rights of patients subject to the Mental Health Act and followed the 2015 Code of Practice. The
service outsourced the transportation of patients held under the Mental Health Act. The trust had contracted out secure
mental health specialist services with independent providers and the service was arranged through the police.

Where ambulances had transferred patients to hospital who were a significant risk to themselves or had self-harmed,
the hospital prioritised these patients and tried to find somewhere appropriate for them that was calmer and allowed
them greater privacy within the hospital.

Pain relief

Staff assessed and monitored patients to see if they were in pain, however patients did not always receive pain
relief.

They supported those unable to communicate using suitable assessment tools and gave additional pain relief to ease
pain.

Staff assessed patients’ pain using a recognised tool and gave pain relief in line with individual needs and best practice.

Ambulance staff used the Joint Royal Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee (JRCALC) guidance to assess acute and
chronic pain. The guidelines were written as an essential resource for NHS paramedics, the principles are also applicable
to the work of all pre-hospital clinicians. The JRCALC guidelines are also an important part of clinical risk management
and ensure uniformity in the delivery of high-quality patient care.

Emergency and urgent care

62 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 94



Other pain assessments were used for adults, children and those with a memory loss or who had a learning disability.

These included number scores between one and ten, a set of faces to determine how severe pain was for children over
the age of three years and a pain score for those who either could not communicate or those who found it difficult.

However, not all patients received pain relief when it was identified they needed it, or they requested it. Training records
showed in the year April 2021 to March 2022 all emergency care operational staff had initial training in pain
management. This included emergency care assistants, associate ambulance practitioners and paramedics. However,
concerns regarding staffing and the lack of paramedics meant the trust could not be assured that all patients received
adequate pain relief. Ambulance crews who were not qualified paramedics could administer some forms of analgesia,
but not controlled drugs for the most severe pain.

Records seen and most patients told us they had received pain relief when needed. However, one patient said “No, I
didn’t get pain relief, but I expect they just wanted to get here quickly, and I needed something stronger than a couple of
paracetamol tablets”. Another relative said their parent had not been given analgesia as they couldn’t swallow
paracetamol. The paramedic had explained to them that anything stronger may prevent the doctors being able to make
an accurate diagnosis.

There were also delays in providing analgesia or an inability to offer pain relief where the ambulance crew did not
include a qualified paramedic. This added to delays in providing the most effective pain relief caused by delays in
ambulances responding to emergency calls. Some patients remained in significant pain whilst they waited several hours
before an ambulance to arrive, including people with fractured ribs and hips.

Response to patients

The service monitored response times so that they could facilitate good outcomes for patients. Data showed a
deteriorating response over the previous 18 months, which was a similar picture across NHS ambulance services
nationally.

Factors contributing to these delays were long delays at accident and emergency departments to discharge patient staff
vacancy rates and staff sickness.

During the time period of October 2020 - March 2022, time to attendance for 90% of incidents compared to the standard
of 15 minutes and other providers. The provider met the standard in 12 of the 18 months. Response times were quicker
than the England average in 14 months and slower in 4 months.

Staff told us there were issues with scheduling and they felt that ‘control lacked empathy.’ They said it was very hectic
with elderly patients waiting long periods following a fall. Staff told us about the day before our inspection when a
patient had been on the floor for up to 14 hours following a fall before the crew arrived. One incident report showed that
the medical examiner at the hospital had identified that a long delay where an elderly person had been trapped under
their bed had contributed to their death.

There were concerns about triaging for example, where patients were left to wait for longer periods to their detriment.

For example, a patient who had suffered a catastrophic brain haemorrhage was transferred to the neurology unit in a
poor condition; they had experienced delays in the emergency ambulance arriving at their home.

Emergency and urgent care

63 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 95



The response to patients was monitored through complaints and call backs for same condition. The service managers
felt those taken to the emergency department were appropriate. This was confirmed by direct observation and feedback
from medical staff at the local emergency department.

Patient outcomes

The service monitored the effectiveness of care and treatment, but staffing shortages, performance and delays
sometimes resulted in poor outcomes.

The service participated in relevant national clinical audits. The service participates in the national Ambulance Clinical
Quality Indicator (ACQI) programme.

The Association of Ambulance Chief Executives (AACE) published a report in November 2021 following a structured
clinical review of handover delays at hospital emergency departments across England. It identified the extent of
potential harm that was being caused to patients when they had to wait in the back of ambulances or in corridors before
they were accepted into the care of the hospital. Over eight in ten of those whose ‘handover’ (from ambulance clinician
to hospital clinician) was delayed beyond 60 minutes were assessed as having potentially experienced some level of
harm; 53% low harm, 23% moderate harm and 9% (one patient in ten) could have been said to have experienced severe
harm.

In response to this report, the trust carried out an audit themselves of 859 electronic patient records for the month
November 2021. The audit indicated for 72 patients that had experienced a hospital handover delay over one-hour,
further investigation was needed. A ‘Patient Outcome’ was requested from the receiving hospital and in each of the 72
cases the actual harm of the patient was reported to be lower than first identified. The trust acknowledged that all
incidents where patients were waiting to be handed over to the hospital their experience was poor.

The trust used the information from their audits to improve care and treatment. They launched an initiative to help
patients receive the right treatment more quickly and avoid unnecessary transfers to emergency departments.

Ambulance staff were supported to assess patients at home and take a lead role in working with GPs and consultants in
hospitals to determine a patient’s next steps.

Information received from the trust stated more than 37,000 patients (numbers till the end of November 2021), who
would previously have been conveyed to busy emergency departments for further assessment/treatment, were referred
to other services more appropriate to the patient’s needs, in liaison with the patient’s GP.

During the COVID-19 pandemic trust staff focused on moderately unwell patients with medical conditions, older patients
who were frail with chronic conditions who are at risk of falls, those with respiratory conditions such as COPD and
asthma, people in mental health crises or children who require a specialist paediatric assessment.

The trust carried out a Care Bundle 50 Audit of 50 case records each month for specific performance indicators which
formed part of the National Clinical Audit Programme (NCPI) which was suspended as part of the review of clinical
indicators included in the Ambulance Response Programme (ARP). Lower limb fracture was least compliant indicator
scoring 40.2 % in the year ending March 2022. Elderly falls scored 64.2 % and febrile convulsions 77.8%.

Competent staff

Emergency and urgent care

64 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 96



The service did not always ensure staff were competent for their roles. Managers did not always appraise staff’s
work performance and hold supervision meetings with them to provide support and development.

Managers did not ensure staff were experienced, qualified and had the right skills and knowledge to meet the needs of
patients. Managers did not ensure staff received all the specialist training for their role. Although the service had
processes to ensure staff had the right skills and competencies, due to operational pressures these were not always
applied. Professional updates and clinical skills updates were not consistently completed which affected mandatory
compliance.

At the time of our inspection less than 80% of staff had completed the mandatory professional updates against a target
of 95%.

Staff who had been with the trust for a few years, told us their induction had been good and was in line with their job. All
staff grades should have been supported on their shift and had able to complete assessments at two, four and six
months.

Following the inspection, the trust told us that the newly qualified paramedic consolidation of learning programme did
not change at any time during the COVID-19 Pandemic. They confirmed these staff were required to complete 8
operational shifts with another band 6 paramedic. In the first year they did not work with Leaners or students and could
not solo respond. They had access to a validation line for support in decision making, which was mandatory for some
categories of patients. However, staff told us that due to operational pressures this was not consistently applied. Staff
agreed it was trust policy for newly qualified starters to be supported for the first six months, but those we spoke with
said this was not always the case in practice

Managers did not support staff to develop through yearly, constructive appraisals of their work. None of the staff we
spoke to had received appraisals in the past two years. The Integrated Performance Report dated 13 January 2022
showed that appraisal rates continued to decline. In December 2021, the trust reported that across SCAS 59.9% of staff
had an appraisal, but this fell to 43% for operational staff and 34% for south based operational staff.

Managers informed us the COVID-19 pandemic and operational pressures had impacted the appraisal programme and
there was an action plan to restart appraisals. Managers shared concerns that the capacity of the managers and ability
to release staff to complete the programme of appraisals was not realistic. Staff were offered a Health and Wellbeing
meeting with the team leader and clinical educator via a video call. However, there were no documents to confirm this.
The board papers for January 2022 showed that there was consideration of whether it was possible to record when
Health and Wellbeing calls took place, but the electronic staff record system did not allow for this. The trust could not be
assured the calls were taking place and we did not see any evidence of other mitigation that allowed oversight of
professional practice.

Managers made sure staff could access meeting notes when they could not attend. Staff meetings were virtual and
occurred once every 13 weeks for three and half hours. Information from the meetings was available at the ambulance
stations and was sent out in emails.

Where managers identified any training needs for their staff, there was not always the time or opportunity for staff to
develop their skills and knowledge. Clinical educators were paramedics with allocated time to support learning and
development within the team. They worked on the rota as a paramedic unless off rota for dedicated management or

Emergency and urgent care

65 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 97



supervision shifts. They were meant to work on shift with each member of staff twice a year, but it was unclear how
often this was happening due to demand for emergency services. Staff told us management time had gone down 24%
due to the demand for emergency services, and team leaders carrying out clinical work, however we did not receive the
data to confirm this.

REAP is the national Resource Escalation Action Plan a framework designed to maintain an effective and safe
operational and clinical response for patients. The trust had been operating at REAP 4 for some time. This is when they
are at the highest operational alert level due to extreme pressure.

SCAS reaction to REAP 4 was to increase the level of clinical resource to prioritise patient care. The trust had reduced
some of the team management time of team leaders during REAP 4 episodes to increase their response capacity. As the
trust had been at REAP 4 for some time, this impacted significantly on team management.

Multidisciplinary working

All those responsible for delivering care worked together as a team to benefit patients. They supported each
other to provide good care and communicated effectively with other agencies.

Staff worked across health care disciplines and with other agencies when required to care for patients. There was good
collaborative work between hospital staff and the Ambulance Liaison Officer (HALO) at the emergency departments of
the four hospitals we visited. An emergency nurse practitioner carried out initial triage and was responsible for
streaming patients following assessments to prevent delays in care.

At one NHS hospital there was ongoing work to tarmac the ambulance bay. The hospital had put in a workaround to
manage the flow of patients to the emergency department. A nurse was allocated to triage patients which were parked a
few hundred yards away from the four bays. Staff told us there was one bay which was kept free for emergency/ trauma
patients. At another NHS hospital senior hospital staff told us there was good communications with the trust.

Crews told us that they did not always see the work that is going on behind the scenes and so could become frustrated
feeling nothing was being done. The trust’s clinical operations manager had three or four calls a day with the deputy
chief operations officer for one NHS hospital. Relationships were good with both parties understanding that they were
trying their best in impossible circumstances.

Staff referred patients for mental health assessments when they showed signs of mental ill health or depression. Staff
accessed the trust’s mental health practitioner or the 111 service, if they had concerns about a patient’s mental health.

Consent, Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty safeguards

Staff usually supported patients to make informed decisions about their care and treatment. They usually
followed national guidance to gain patients’ consent. However, there was confusion amongst staff on how to
support patients experiencing mental ill health to make their own decisions.

There was no separate Mental Capacity Act Policy. The requirements of the Mental Capacity Act (2005) were shared in the
Mental Health Act Policy, after a section on detention. There was very limited guidance for staff to enable them to
understand the principles or implementation of the Act. This means staff could perceive the MCA (2005) as being part of
the Mental Health Act and only applicable to people presenting with mental health conditions.

Emergency and urgent care

66 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 98



Staff understood how and when to assess whether a patient had the capacity to make decisions about their care. Staff
understood their responsibilities in obtaining consent from their patients prior to any care or treatment.

Staff demonstrated the care plans and flow charts available on the handheld devices allowed staff to give patients
accurate information on which to base their consent. Staff were not able to complete a record unless this assessment
had been completed.

When patients could not give consent, staff made decisions in their best interest, taking into account patients’ wishes,
culture and traditions. Staff explained when a patient could not give consent, for example they were unconscious, they
would make a best interests decision based on all the information they had available including information from
families and carers.

Staff made sure patients consented to treatment based on all the information available. Staff clearly recorded consent
in the patients’ records. The care plans and flow charts available on the handheld devices allowed staff to give patients
accurate information on which to base their consent. We observed staff gaining verbal consent from patient prior to
taking observations and reiterating that consent every time observations were completed.

Not all staff understood the relevant consent and decision-making requirements of legislation and guidance, including
the Mental Health Act, Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the Children Acts 1989 and 2004 and they knew who to contact for
advice. Mental health training was provided on induction to the trust and was refreshed in the mandatory training and
professional update programme. However, we observed a situation where person with mental ill health decided to leave
the ambulance crews care and the NHS hospital site. The crew were uncertain as to whether they should stop them.

They did not know whether the patient had capacity and were unclear about what having capacity meant. The advice
they had was confusing about whether leaving against advice automatically meant the patient lacked capacity and they
should be restrained. They didn’t get the help and advice they needed to ensure the patient was kept safe.

Is the service caring?

Good –––

Our rating of caring stayed the same. We rated it as good.

Compassionate care

Staff did not always treat patients with compassion and kindness. Staff respected their privacy and dignity and
took account of their individual needs.

Staff were discreet and responsive when caring for patients. Staff took time to interact with patients and those close to
them in a respectful and considerate way.

We visited four NHS hospital emergency departments. We saw good care provided to patients by the ambulance crews.

Staff communicated with patients when moving them between different areas of the hospital and kept them informed
of what was happening.

Emergency and urgent care

67 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 99



Staff protected patient’s privacy and dignity by drawing curtains, closing vehicle doors when care was provided. Staff
were seen to fetch hot drinks and extra blankets for patients in ambulances. Patients in ambulances were not left alone.
If one of the crew went to have a drink or comfort break, the other remained with the patient. Patients being moved
were always well covered.

We observed some staff being abrupt with patients. But patients said staff treated them well and with kindness. All
patients we spoke with could not praise the ambulance service and the staff enough. They felt safe, well looked after
and supported by the staff. All the staff had been friendly and approachable, and all their needs had been catered for
despite any delays they were experiencing.

Staff followed policy to keep patient care and treatment confidential. All staff we spoke to understood patient
confidentiality.

We received positive feedback from a GP. A patient had attended the GP practice in state of collapse, following dental
surgery. Anaphylaxis (a severe, potentially life-threatening allergic reaction) was diagnosed and the GP’s began
resuscitation. The GP knew the patient had a very complex home life. The patient refused to go to hospital as they were
worried about a young family member. The ambulance crew made contact with the relative and explained the situation.
The patient went willingly in the ambulance as the crew had arranged a divert to pick up the child on the way to the
hospital.

Emotional support

Staff provided emotional support to patients, families and carers to minimise their distress. They understood
patients' personal, cultural and religious needs.

Patients were treated with care and staff interacted with patients in a compassionate manner frequently checking to
ensure the patients were comfortable. Most patients told us that the staff were very good and had provided assurance
when they arrived.

Staff understood the emotional and social impact that a person’s care, treatment or condition had on their wellbeing
and on those close to them.

We observed staff talking to patients and providing reassurance. Staff sometimes went beyond their role of
assessments, treatment and conveyance. For example, a patient told us, “I wanted to come to this hospital, we were
halfway between the two, so they agreed to bring me here. They were very kind, very helpful and remembered to pick up
my bag with my purse and keys in it and fetched my coat. They made sure there was water and food for my cat before we
left too”.

Understanding and involvement of patients and those close to them

Staff supported and involved patients, families and carers to understand their condition and make decisions
about their care and treatment.

Staff made sure patients and those close to them understood their care and treatment. Staff told us patients had
treatment options explained to them and we saw the care pathways and information available for both the patients and
staff was on the handheld electronic device.

Emergency and urgent care

68 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 100



Staff talked to patients in a way they could understand, using communication aids where necessary. We observed staff
talking and interacting with patients. Staff did not use technical jargon and ensured patients understood their care and
treatment. Staff told us that translation services were available, and they had the tools such as a visual pain scale,
available on the electronic devices to aid pain communication.

Patients and their families could give feedback on the service and their treatment and staff supported them to do this.

Is the service responsive?

Requires Improvement –––

Our rating of responsive went down. We rated it as requires improvement.

Service delivery to meet the needs of local people

The service planned and provided care in a way that met the needs of local people and the communities served. It
also worked with others in the wider system and local organisations to plan care.

Managers planned and organised services, so they met the needs of the local population. There were 27 bases across the
trust area, from which emergency services could be deployed. The trust had worked with primary healthcare to plan
how the wider system could meet the needs of local people and communities in their area. To aid patient flow there
were five specialist practitioners (paramedics) who used their knowledge and skills to independently provide
healthcare, focused on patients with minor illness or injury, long term conditions, and other urgent care needs. They
worked in the frailty team, on GP projects and as an urgent responder. In primary care, they helped to assess acute same
day appointments and undertook home visits on behalf of GP surgery and the 111 team.

Facilities and premises were appropriate for the services being delivered. Although the stations varied in size they were
designed with the space and facilities required to deliver and develop the service.

Staff could access emergency mental health support 24 hours a day, 7 days a week for patients with mental health
problems, learning disabilities and dementia. Staff had the support of a single point of contact to raise concerns or to
leave messages for the patient’s GP.

Meeting people’s individual needs

The service was inclusive and took account of patients’ individual needs and preferences. The service made
reasonable adjustments to help patients access services.

Staff made sure patients living with mental health problems, learning disabilities and dementia, received the necessary
care to meet all their needs. Staff understood how to support patients with specific needs such as those with learning
difficulties and those living with dementia. Staff explained, when appropriate or necessary, the patient’s primary carer
could accompany the patient.

The mandatory training programme included training in equality, diversity and human rights.

Emergency and urgent care

69 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 101



The clinical notice boards in the stations had information and guidance for staff, for example, information on how to
treat patients with Downs syndrome.

Staff had had training in crisis management, and they could access support from local police forces when attending to
patients with known histories of violence.

Managers made sure staff, and patients, loved ones and carers could get help from interpreters when needed. Staff had
access to a translation service on the handheld devices.

The staff were informed of any known issues or communication problems by the Emergency Operations Centre or
Clinical Coordination Centre. Staff told us that on the next update of the handheld devices they would be able to access
a patient’s previous call out history, which would also give insight and information on any specific needs or
considerations.

Access and flow

People could not always access the service when they needed it, in line with national standards, and could not
always receive the right care in a timely way.

Staff supported patients when they were transferred between services. The hospital ambulance liaison officer (HALO)
post provided a link between ambulance crews and emergency department staff at hospitals. The role assisted the
handover of patients and kept staff and patients informed of any delays. Crews consistently told us that the HALO roles
were helpful in handing patients over smoothly at hospital.

Handover start time is defined as the time of arrival of the ambulance at the emergency department, with the end time
defined as the time of handover of the patient to the care of emergency department staff. National guidelines/ best
practice is 15 minutes.

A national report from the Nuffield Trust on 14 February 2022 stated the Southeast, (which includes this trust), had
performed best so far this winter, with 88% of ambulances arriving at hospital with either no handover delay or
experiencing a delay of less than 30 minutes. In the Southwest the figure was only 70%, and 18% of ambulances arriving
at that region’s hospitals experienced a handover delay of more than 60 minutes, which was more than double the
English average. At seven hospital emergency departments in the trust’s area in the week beginning 29 November 2021,
730 ambulances had to wait between 30 and 60 minutes to handover patients and 76 over 60 minutes.

In the week ending 3 April 2022 for the same hospital emergency departments 74 ambulances had to wait between 30
and 60 minutes to handover patients and 52 over 60 minutes.

Due to the pressures on the emergency pathway some patients were delayed accessing the hospital from the
ambulance. These patients were cared for by the ambulance crew in the ambulance. We observed ambulances waiting
to offload their patients at three of the hospital locations we visited during our inspection. Patients were triaged by
hospital staff in the ambulance and in some cases, we observed the accident and emergency clinicians administering
care in the ambulance. We also observed ambulance crews taking a patient from the ambulance for diagnostic imaging
and then returning them to the ambulance to continue to wait for admission.

There were recorded incidents where patients suffered harm because of or exacerbated by long delays in ambulances
arriving. Ambulances waiting at hospitals were not available to reach people in urgent need of care or treatment. There

Emergency and urgent care

70 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 102



was limited evidence that the service was considering what measures they could take that were about action related to
their own resources to minimise the delays at one hospital. There were several hospitals reachable in under forty-five
minutes of the busiest hospital, but patients were not taken to these even though they were very quiet when we
inspected. There were patients taken to the busiest hospital despite a much quieter emergency department, without
any ambulance handover delays, when the difference in journey time was ten minutes. Occasionally crews made the
decision to take patients to a different hospital but this was not embedded in practice and not usually related to how
busy a hospital was. The guidance provided by NHSI/E encourages dynamic conveyancing to reduce waiting times for
handovers, but the trust was not utilising this and did not recognise it as an option.

As an example, in October 2021 an elderly patient fell, fractured their hip and was unable to move. They waited over 15
hours for an ambulance to arrive. They died five days later with the medical examiner for the hospital citing the delay as
a contributory factor. The incident record supplied by the trust said that there were 16 ambulances ‘on hold’ waiting to
handover patients at one hospital, so unable to respond to further calls and no opportunity to send assistance earlier.
Information from a neighbouring hospital within the same ICS shows that on the same morning their longest handover
time from ambulance to hospital staff was 12 minutes. The trust could have used intelligent conveyancing to allow a
faster turnaround of ambulances and have more resources available to people needing assistance.

The trust had worked with one hospital to introduce the use of home blood oxygen monitors to enable people to remain
at home and monitor their condition and seek further support in the event of a deterioration. This had reduced the
number of COVID-19 positive patients being taken to hospital.

Learning from complaints and concerns

It was easy for people to give feedback and raise concerns about care received. The service treated concerns and
complaints seriously, investigated them and shared lessons learned with all staff, including those in partner
organisations.

Patients, relatives and carers knew how to complain or raise concerns. There was information on the trust’s website
signposting patients and members of the public on how to complain to the service.

Staff understood the policy on complaints and knew how to handle them. The trust had a ‘Patient Experience Policy’
which included the management of complaints. The trust aimed to acknowledge complaints within three days and
provide a full response within 25 working days.

Managers investigated complaints and identified themes. The senior team said they believed that most complaints were
about staff attitudes and these were dealt with locally. In the six months between October 2021 and April 2022 a total of

175 complaints had been made: 134 were related to delays, situations when ambulances had not attended or patients
were not taken to hospital; 18 concerning staff attitude/communication; 17 regarding care records, safeguarding and the
call category; 7 ‘other’. The action taken regarding these complaints to prevent reoccurrence was not clear.

All complaints responses were dealt with by the trust patient experience team; individuals involved in any complaints
received feedback from their managers and call auditors.

Managers shared feedback from complaints with staff and learning was used to improve the service. We did not see
evidence of sharing wider learning across different staff groups. Staff told us they assumed changes in practice came
from learning from complaints and concerns.

Emergency and urgent care

71 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 103



Is the service well-led?

Inadequate –––

Our rating of well-led went down. We rated it as inadequate.

Leadership

Leaders did not always have the skills and abilities to run the service. They did not all show an understanding of
the priorities and issues the service faced. Not all staff said they were visible and approachable. They did not offer
support to staff to develop their skills and take on more senior roles.

The operational services were led by heads of operation, clinical operation managers and team leaders. Most of the staff
we met said they felt supported by their local leaders however, they described a disconnect between the local teams
and the wider trust. They described working in silos.

All staff knew who their local leaders were but not all staff knew the senior executive team. They were unable to tell us
who their leads were for: safeguarding, learning disability, dementia, risks or complaints.

Local leaders were often deployed operationally, which meant they did not have time to lead. Many management tasks
were ‘put on hold’, leaving staff with less support and oversight. The trust had been operating at REAP 4 for some time
and this had resulted in managers being required to work operationally to increase the resources available.

Vision and Strategy

The service had a vision for what it wanted to achieve and a strategy, developed with all relevant stakeholders.

This was impacted at this time by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The trust had a vision and a set of values, they stated should underpin everything staff did. The vision had four goals:

• Be an exceptional place to work, volunteer and learn

• Provide outstanding quality of care and performance

• Be excellent collaborators and innovators as system partners

• Be an environmentally and financially sustainable organisation

We observed most staff applied these goals and values in the care and treatment of patients. However, in feedback from
staff to the CQC staff survey, staff did not feel the vision and goals were applied throughout the trust. For example:

• emergency fleet vehicles were in a state of disrepair. The satnav software was outdated, leading to increased driver

• fatigue and inadequate route selection (delaying arrival). Poor support for newly qualified paramedics, leading to low

• morale. The lack of support had led to poor clinical decision making and medicine management.

• Some staff felt there was a lack of respect and transparency with barriers in management leading to distrust and an

Emergency and urgent care

72 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 104



• inability to communicate effectively.

The trust had drafted a strategy for 2022 – 2027 which was presented and approved by the board at the meeting in
March 2022.

Culture

Not all staff felt respected, supported and valued, and this extended to not feeling valued beyond their local
teams. Staff were working long hours and sometimes without breaks. The service did not always have an open
culture where patients, their families and staff could raise concerns without fear.

Not all staff felt supported, respected and valued. The support staff received was dependent on the team they worked
in. CQC invited staff to complete a survey. There was a small response rate but there were comments from staff which
included references to bullying, harassment, poor health and safety, a disconnect between senior managers, a 'tick box'
approach to staff welfare and fear of repercussions from speaking out. Staff said the service had introduced an
anonymous feedback system, because staff feared giving feedback, and because of low morale is. Staff we spoke to who
had not responded to the survey (either because they did not have time or because they did not believe it was
anonymous) said the local culture was about who the local manager was. Many reported feeling isolated and
demotivated. Some acknowledged this was, in part, due to the pressures of the pandemic but others felt they were not
valued by the organisation. Middle managers were more positive than lower grade operational staff.

The 2021 NHS staff survey results were more positive, with a higher response rate (Median 57%) and scores that places
the trust above average when benchmarked against other ambulance trusts. Scores for most questions sat above
average. The exceptions were around staff morale and feeling safe and healthy at work. The trust scored particularly
well for the questions about inclusion and diversity.

The culture within the organisation was centred on the needs and experience of people who use the services. Our
observations of patient staff interactions demonstrated that most staff were committed to delivering the best care
possible to their patients.

Staff did not always feel positive and proud to work in the organisation. Capacity issues were impacting on staff welfare.
They expressed concerns around their ability to deliver the best care to the patients due to delays at the hospital
emergency departments, reducing their ability to support patients in the community. Delays meant that staff frequently
finished late and missed meal breaks and crew skill mix were impacting on staff morale. Some of the newly qualified
paramedics felt they had to operate beyond their experience level.

The trust policies placed an emphasis on the safety and wellbeing of staff. Staff said they recognised there was support
for them, but many said they did not have the time or energy to use it. They said they were getting support from their
fellow crew members or the staff they worked closely with, who were in the same situation.

Some staff felt the organisation’s leadership were visible enough, but others were concerned about the lack of
recognition at senior level of the situation frontline staff were facing.

Emergency and urgent care

73 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 105



The trust has appointed a freedom to speak up guardian. Leaders of the trust said that the Freedom to Speak Up
Guardian was always available to staff and that they could decide to speak to the FTSUG at any time. However, several
staff told us they could only access this service in their own time, which made this less accessible to those who had
already worked a long day and needed a break or had commitments that meant they could not stay late to speak to
someone.

Local leaders told us that the stations did not always reflect the diversity of the area. There was a lack of flexibility to
work and progress as team leaders. Feedback in the survey supported the lack of development opportunities, and poor
equality

Governance

There was a governance process, but it was not effective. Staff at all levels were clear about their roles and
accountabilities, however there were no opportunities to meet, discuss and learn from the performance of the
service.

There were structures and systems of accountability in place to support the delivery of the service. The governance
structure included senior staff meetings, strategic meetings, operational meeting and meeting with external
organisations. However, the information being presented upwards did not always reflect what was happening and the
scale of risks. Concerns were dismissed and not addressed, leaving risk that had no mitigation.

We asked staff about governance processes for example, audits. They gave examples of the audits; medicines, vehicles
checks, patient records, hand hygiene, and monthly station audits. However, there were no audits taking place. Local
leaders suggested this was due to the work pressures.

Staff were clear about their roles and understood what they are accountable for. Team leaders understood how their
teams were performing and risks to the service. However, some staff expressed concern that lesser qualified crews could
be dispatched to higher category calls, and they were not fully supported when working outside their scope of practice.

Following the inspection, the trust told us that SCAS operates a 2-tier service matching the appropriate crew skill mix to
the most clinically appropriate patients. This enabled them to get a response to every patient and the crews know they
can call for enhanced skills for support from a paramedic, if necessary.

We have an active, continuous recruitment campaign to fill as many clinical vacancies as we can. However, due to the
shortage of paramedics graduating, compounded by diversification role opportunities for registered paramedics, we are
unable to fill every vacancy in order to roster a paramedic on every ambulance.

Engagement with staff. Staff told us they were asked to fill out many surveys, at present they had no time to do this
unless they did so in their own time; not many staff completed them. Senior management corresponded by email. This
included a newsletter. These were often lengthy, and staff did not feel they had the time in work hours. They had fed
back to team leaders they could be shorter, and bullets points as with so many emails difficult to know what was
important. There had been meetings for staff however, operational staff said they were no longer able to attend
meetings.

Management of risk, issues and performance

Emergency and urgent care

74 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 106



Leaders and teams did not use the systems and data to manage performance. They did not always identify and
escalate risks and issues.

There were low numbers of Serious Incidents reported when compared to other ambulance trusts. Some incidents
which resulted in poor outcomes for patients, and which should have been investigated and reported as Serious
Incidents were not. This included several cases where defibrillators had failed when used.

The low reporting meant that the board did not have an accurate picture of risk and patient safety.

Investigation reports tended to blame those involved in the incident. This included a suggestion, a patient hadn't given
clear information.

The service had local risk registers for the station specific risks and a wider service risk register. Each department had
their own risk register and the top three risks for operations were: handover delay at one hospital, failure to respond in a
timely fashion and patient outcomes.

Senior staff said the service had limited influence over the bed-capacity crisis in NHS hospitals.

Operations staff told us of other risks. One of the highest risks was about safety of staff. For example: the number of
incidents of violence against 999 staff reported between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, was 223. Incidents of violence
against ambulance staff increased by 23% nationally in 2020.

At one station there was limited parking and staff had to park away from the stations. Staff said they had been sexually
harassed and accosted by other car park users. Staff did not feel safe. Although this had been reported, they were not
aware of any actions that the trust had taken to mitigate these risks.

The trust had introduced a pilot for body worn cameras for operational staff. A few staff were using them at North
Harbour, but more did not want to use them for various reasons including a feeling that they were about being checked
up on or inconvenience.

The service followed the government COVID-19 on safety for ambulance trusts. Staff said the national guidance had not
always been clear in the early days of the pandemic, but the trust updated them when it changed and those staff, we
spoke with said they thought it was now well understood and implemented. The staff we asked said they would speak
up if they felt infection prevention and control protocols or practices were not being followed by colleagues.

The ambulance service was set up to manage unexpected events and the trust had plans for major incidents. These
were reviewed with partner organisations to ensure they would be able to manage any incidents.

Potential risks were considered when planning services such as seasonal or other expected or unexpected fluctuations
in demand. For example, in response to increased visitor numbers in the summer. There were standard operating
procedures in place, for the use of non-registered crews to respond to clinically appropriate patient in times of high
demand such as at REAP4.

Information Management

Emergency and urgent care

75 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 107



The service collected reliable data and analysed it. Staff could find the data they needed, in easily accessible
formats, to understand performance, make decisions and improvements. The information systems were
integrated and secure. Data or notifications were consistently submitted to external organisations as required.

Staff had access to the internal intranet site called ‘The Hub’, accessed via their personal login details, they could enter
the site from any device anywhere.

In the ambulance stations there were notice boards with information for staff such as: health and safety and ‘Hot news’,
driving standards.

Engagement

Leaders and staff actively and openly engaged with patients, staff, equality groups, the public and local
organisations to plan and manage services. They collaborated with partner organisations to help improve
services for patients.

The trust had a staff feedback system where staff were sent a weekly email and asked how they were feeling, why, and
what can be better. These were collated and analysed monthly. Frequent responses were about ‘stacking’ at one local

NHS hospital, a lack of meal breaks, late finishing and rota changes (when working partnerships and teams were split for
operational reasons).

Staff could be sent to a different station to work and this was unpopular. Senior staff said moving staff to different teams
had the unintended benefit of reducing the risk of a closed culture developing where poor practice and behaviours were
tolerated.

Staff at all the stations told us there were no team meetings and no senior staff visibility, although most felt supported
by local team leaders. The trust told us that this was to allow more staff to be focussed on patient safety.

The trust was working with a national lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender rights charity (LGBTQ+) to deliver a series
of workshops taking to help individuals create more inclusive cultures. There were a variety of sessions focussing on, for
example, engaging senior leaders on LGBTQ+ inclusion, and understanding more about LGBTQ+ people’s experiences of
mental health and wellbeing.

The trust used ‘Hot News’ bulletins to try and keep staff informed of operational issues; examples included information
about leave carry over, new staff operational staff appointments and the appointment of a new director.

Emergency and urgent care

76 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Inspection reportPage 108



Urgent Care

WestCall OOH Services

Ben Blease 

Divisional Director 

Community Health Services 

BHFT

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 6



WestCall: Berkshire West OOH Primary Care Service

WESTCALL

Hours of operation
Weekdays
18:30 to 08:00

Weekends
18:30 Friday to 
08:00 Monday 

Approx. 80,000 people access WestCall per year:
Via 111

Telephone 
triage and 

Treat

Home visit 
by 

Clinician

Primary 
Care 

Centre

Cohort
All age- Registered 
with a BW GP, Short 
stay in BW or urgent 
need travelling 
through BW. Physical 
and mental health

PCC locations:
Royal Berkshire Hospital, Reading
West Berks Community Hospital, Newbury

Triage Hubs:
The Old Forge, Wokingham
Individual GP and Clinician homes

P
age 110



How WestCall delivers a high quality primary care service

WESTCALL

Point of Care Testing
• CRP (blood test re. inflammation)

• D-Dimer (Blood clotting test)

• Strep Throat
• Lactate Sepsis Test
• Sepsis kit- Abx 

(antibiotics)

• Ketone meters

Access:
Via 111

Results
• Blood test reviews
• Body fluid samples
These are triaged and 
reported back into 
primary care practices 
for on-going treatment

WestCall is unique in that our PoC testing helps reduce patients needing secondary care input e.g. we manage initial 
Deep Vein Thrombosis treatment in the community, including D-Dimer testing and Tinzaparin administration, only 
requiring an ultrasound for final Diagnosis at DVT clinic

P
age 111



WestCall a key player in Berkshire West System

WESTCALL

In-hours Primary CareSecondary Care

Emergency Department

Community Beds

SCAS

Care Homes

Urgent Community 
Response

District NursingMental Health Services

PPH Older Adult Wards

Palliative Care wards and community Pharmacy servicesSocial Care

P
age 112



WestCall activity by 
PCN

PCN
size by patients 
registered Feb 

2022

PCN patients 
seen by 

WestCall total 
21/22

Average %
of PCN 

patients 
attending 
WestCall

NW Reading 108,765 12,896 12%

Newbury 121,665 15,420 13%

S Reading 158,981 17,598 11%

Wokingham 178,662 19,853 11%

WestCall activity in Berkshire West System

• WestCall as a provider operates at about the size of an above average sized practice.
• The difference between a WestCall and a practice consultation is that the patient is not known to 

WestCall, usually, and therefore the notes review and diagnosis takes longer, to ensure patient 
safety.

P
age 113



West Berkshire patients’ use of WestCall

• Since COVID we have seen an increase in the numbers of West Berkshire patients calling NHS111 
and accessing WestCall, which is higher than in other Berkshire West areas. 

WestCall Activity for Newbury PCN - please note this does not include all NHS 111 referrals 
e.g. surrounding areas & unregistered
Berkshire 
West Primary 
Care Practice 
anon.

Practice 
size by 
patients 
registered 
March 
2021

Practice 
size by 
patients 
registered 
Apr  2022

Accessed 
WestCall 
Total 
previous
year 
01/03/2020-
31/03/2021

Accessed 
WestCall 
total last 
year
01/03/2021-
31/03/2022

Activity 
change 
from 
previous 
to last 
year

%
increase 
from 2021 to 
2022

% increase in 
registered 
patients at 

practice from 
2021 to 2022 

practice

% of registered 
patients who 
attended 
WestCall OOH 
service in year 
20/21

% of registered 
patients who 
attended 
WestCall OOH 
service in year 
21/22

Light Red if 
>15% Red if >15%

1 9,049 9,239 713 848 135 19% 2.10% 7.88% 9.18%

2 14,109 14,184 1,831 1,993 162 9% 0.53% 12.98% 14.05%

3 13,724 13,842 1,608 1,892 284 18% 0.86% 11.72% 13.67%

4 11,218 11,137 972 1,085 113 12% -0.72% 8.66% 9.74%

5 6,579 6,436 451 459 8 2% -2.17% 6.86% 7.13%

6 7,363 7,349 719 718 - 1 0% -0.19% 9.77% 9.77%

7 21,784 21,761 3,259 4,014 755 23% -0.11% 14.96% 18.45%

8 18,650 18,803 2,363 2,549 186 8% 0.82% 12.67% 13.56%

9 10,350 10,383 1,006 1,207 201 20% 0.32% 9.72% 11.62%

10 8,289 8,363 560 657 97 17% 0.89% 6.76% 7.86%

Newbury PCN 121,115 121,497 13,482 15,422 1,940 14% 0.32% 11.13% 12.69%

P
age 114



• NHS 111 referrals come in as timed dispositions e.g. Dx05, Dx06, Dx07, Dx08 means to be seen in 
<2hrs, <6hrs, <12hrs, <24Hrs. Delays can arise when demand and complexity exceeds capacity

• There are no waiting lists as all patients must be outcomed before close of service each day

• August 4th 2022, Adastra, the software used by NHS111 and most PC OOH providers was shut 
down as a result of an unprecedented cyber attack- this has meant that WestCall teams have had 
to operate on Business Continuity Planning for more than a month e.g. on email, paper and word 
documents. We have had no digital patient record management system because the available, 
alternative systems are not geared of to handle a live flow of patients

• As a result of the Adastra outage the system is slower and therefore patients are experiencing 
longer waits. Operational and clinical teams are working flat out to ensure patient safety and
prioritise the most urgent and vulnerable patients

Waiting times

P
age 115



Concerns

• Staffing is a major concern for all PC care services and particularly Out of Hours. The available 
number of doctors is not increasing and fewer clinicians are prepared to work nights and 
weekends. 

• Demand levels have led to pay escalation for sessional and agency doctors and clinicians, there is
competition on rates across all of the ICPs as home triage has become a major delivery method

• The increase in NHS 111 referrals for non-urgent care means that the 16% increase we have
experienced in workload is often made up of low acuity cases, which could safely be self-managed 
or dealt with locally at a pharmacy

• The acuity of the Dx05 (< 2Hr ) referrals is increasing, with the ageing population, resulting in
slower consultations and increase need or visits, this has a resource impact

• There is a need for more GP and ANP training capacity and support as well as enhanced work 
permit/ access for overseas clinicians to work in UK services

P
age 116



111 referrals that didn’t require GP

22% of referrals 
triaged by WestCall 
clinicians are closed 
having required no 
treatment other than 
advice on self-care 

Patients are clearly seeking reassurance but there is a role for Pubic Health to support health education

P
age 117



Top 10 conditions comparison Jan/Oct 2021

Managed by Phone Triage and Treat

Phone Triage & Treat

1 week in January 2021 1 week in October 2021

Medication requested 91 Upper respiratory infect. NOS 111

Symptoms Signs and ill defined conditions NOS 77 Medication requested 87

Cystitis 61 Cystitis 83

Fever NOS 43 Symptoms Signs and ill defined conditions NOS 83

Abdominal pain 40 Viral infection NOS 67

Viral infection NOS 33 Fever NOS 60

Skin/subcutaneous infections 27 Reassurance given 54

Medication review 24 Abdominal pain 41

Backache, unspecified 24 Viral gastroenteritis 39

Vomiting 20 Otitis media NOS 38

WestCall manages high numbers of symptomatic patient groups: including adults and children, and acts as a buffer, 
preventing unnecessary ED attendances. During COVID outbreaks we saw very high numbers of low acuity 
colds/viral/respiratory symptoms reported and reassurance needed

NOS- Not otherwise specified

P
age 118



Breaking down access barriers

• With the increased need for virtual triage to manage cases we are focussing on how we ensure 
good translation and interpretation services to support equitable access across service user 
language and communication needs

• WestCall is the go-to medical service for migrants housed within the West Berkshire area - via 
phone triage and visiting services, particularly before they get registered with surgeries

• WestCall sees over 100 un-registered patients every week, many of these are members of the GRT 
community and homeless, we provide direct access to diagnostics and treatment 

• Non-Berkshire residents, holiday makers or people passing through Berkshire West can also get 
access to WestCall via NHS 111 

P
age 119



Review

They were very kind, working with an emergency, got ready and 
prepared

Although I had to wait longer than 40mins everyone treated me 
kindly

They were very kind, working with an emergency, got ready and 
prepared

Doctor was friendly, explained the process well and gave me the best 
care.

Very straightforward and nice staff

The HCA who came and took my obs was very chirpy and friendly

The staff were really friendly and attentive !

Very thorough by the nurse and Dr were both very compassionate 
and understanding, and have given me further treatment and tests 
that my own GP surgery didn’t, also [name removed] was a 
superstar.

Improvements

The phone calls back took ages to come and the waiting time in 
the centre was 45 minutes.

Would like updates on timings

The doctor did not tell me on the phone the department and I got 
lost.

Book follow-up appointment with own GP.

It was a long wait but we recognise all the people who also 
needed help

Invest in better blood pressure monitors

But such a long wait. 10pm appointment and with no one else in 
the waiting area, it wasn’t until 11pm that we were seen by the 
doctor. Ensure the waits are not long for those with pre booked 
appointments

Feedback from Service Users

Negative feedback centres mostly on waiting times, however we will always prioritise 
urgent cases over routine, and therefore people accessing the service with minor ailments 
will necessarily wait longer if there are patients with urgent illness in the stack

P
age 120



In 2021/22 WestCall outcomes for: 
• Phone Triage & Treat
• Primary Care Centre: F2F
• Home visits: F2F
have increased by 16%

WestCall outcome activity 2021 to 2022 

Note: These numbers do not include the triaged calls 
that were referred to other services including DNs etc. 
The overall referral numbers are 50% higher 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

A
p

r-
2

0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

Se
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v-
2

0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
1

M
ar

-2
1

A
p

r-
2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

Se
p

-2
1

O
ct

-2
1

N
o

v-
2

1

D
ec

-2
1

Ja
n

-2
2

Fe
b

-2
2

M
ar

-2
2

A
p

r-
2

2

WestCall Outcomes 2020-2022

Total Referrals Advice PCC

Visits Linear (Total Referrals) Linear (Advice)

Linear (PCC)

P
age 121



WestCall: Winter Planning

WESTCALL

Maintaining the resilience of WestCall OOH GP Services
• Working with Urgent Care Board to develop options to 

re-direct patients to the most appropriate outcome for 
their referral

• Successfully standing up the Adastra system and IT 
support to ensure system access is seamless for 
GPs/clinicians

• Strategic planning for system initiatives that require GPs/ 
clinicians so that pilots don’t shift staff from services like 
OOH that are already delivering efficiencies

• Working with Oxford and Bucks colleagues to enable
mutual aid during capacity and demand challenges

P
age 122



WESTCALL

Thank you
Further information please contact: Bernadine.blease@berkshire.nhs.uk

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 124



Health Scrutiny Committee – 20 September 2022 

 

 

 

Item 7 – Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and 

Berkshire West Integrated Care Board Update 

Verbal Item 

Page 125

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 126



 
 

Briefing note for: West Berkshire Health Scrutiny Committee 

 

 
Subject: 
 

 
ICB Place Update - Berkshire West 

 
Date/Time: 
 

 
20th September 2022 

 
Attendees: 
 

 
Belinda Seston – Interim ICB Place Director 

 
Location: 
 

 
Virtual 

 
Contact: 
 

 
Belinda Seston – Interim ICB Place Director 

 

 

 

1. Background Purpose (of meeting) 
 
This briefing note provides an overview of the relevant health related activity undertaken 
recently within Berkshire West ICB; it provides information relating to dementia diagnosis 
performance as well as formation of the ICB, and confirmation of the future Berkshire West 
‘Place’ leadership arrangements. 

 

2. Summary Overview 

 

2.1 BOB ICB Update 

 

From 1 July 2022, the new BOB Integrated Care Board (ICB) took over the commissioning 
responsibilities of the area’s three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs – which were dissolved 
from 30 June), together with some current national functions, including pharmacy, optometry, and 
dentistry. 

The BOB Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) – whose statutory members are the ICB and the five 
upper tier local authorities – are developing an overall strategy by the end of 2022. This strategy 
will be developed through local consultation. It will set out how the ICP aims to improve health and 
care outcomes for our population through stronger partnership working between the NHS, our local 
authorities and other providers and it will inform the ICB, local authorities, NHS trusts and NHS 
England which will fund and deliver health and care services. 

Patients and the public will continue to access care and services in the same way as before, 
but these changes will increase the integration of health and care services, building on the many 
great examples of partnership working and providing more joined up care. 

Across BOB ICS, we will plan and provide joined up health and care services through the NHS, 
local authorities and third sector organisations to: 

• improve the health and wellbeing of people in our area 

• tackle health inequalities 

Page 127



 
• improve productivity 

• support broader social and economic development. 

The ICB Place Directors lead the ICB place-based teams and are the ICB point person for local 
authorities, local providers and Healthwatch. They are responsible for the development of 
partnership working and will be an ICB nominee to serve on their local Health and Wellbeing 
Board.  

Working with the chair of the place-based partnerships, they will develop the health components of 
the Place-based strategy and work with the Directors of Adults Social Services, Directors of Public 
Health and Directors of Children’s Services on the broader health and care place strategy that will 
form part of the overall system strategy.  

On behalf of the ICB, they will also have a role in overseeing operational performance and 
development of local health services in Place including urgent and emergency care and primary 
care. The Place Directors also support joint commissioning arrangements and lead on stakeholder 
engagement and communications at place on behalf of the ICB.  

Sarah Webster is the newly appointed Place Director for Berkshire West and will commence in role  
October 2022. 

 

 

3.0 Winter Planning 

 

3.1 Flu Planning 

 
Flu planning has commenced from a BOB wide system approach as in previous years. Assurances 

are being sought regarding the co-administration where possible and delivery supply across primary 

care, inpatients, and care/nursing home setting. 

Any campaign communications are being coordinated at a BOB wide level. 

Fortnightly regional meetings are in progress to ensure messages and issues are received from the 

region.  

As we move further through the season, we will be monitoring uptake within the at risk groups as we 

do on an annual basis.  

 

 

3.2 COVID Vaccination Autumn Plan 

 

The Autumn Covid Vaccination Programme commenced on 5th September with PCNs beginning to 

visit care homes and housebound residents. GP-run and national booking systems will open to over 

75s and self-declaring health and social care workers from 12th September. All remaining cohorts 

will be invited for their vaccination in due course. Overall system capacity to deliver vaccines exceeds 

the anticipated demand and we are working with our partners across Berkshire West to ensure good 

access, both geographically and to our communities at risk of inequalities.  

 

Page 128



 
 

3.3 Covid 19 Vaccination take-up 

 

For the West Berkshire local authority area (Source: coronavirus.data.gov.uk  08/09/22) 

 

1st dose (denominator used 12+ although eligible from 5)) 88.6% 

2nd dose (denominator used 12+, although eligible from 5) 85.6% 

1st Booster Autumn 2021 (denominator used 12+, although eligible from 16) 72.9% 

For these metrics, data sources of the denominators for local authority areas and nations are 

different, so like-for-like comparisons are not possible. 

 

Spring 2022 Booster  75+: 86% (compared with all England 78.6%) 

 

 

3.4 Demand & Capacity Plans for Winter 2022 

 

BOB ICB has submitted its Demand & Capacity plans for winter 2022 aimed at reducing acute bed 

occupancy to below 90%. These have now been considered by the SE Regional Team and Berkshire 

West has secured £2.1m to fund the two key schemes worked up by partners across health & social 

care. 

 

Scheme 1: Development of a fully functioning discharge hub, £1.6m 

 

Building on the current discharge infrastructure to create a fully functioning discharge hub - 

expanding both the capacity and capability within the hub and widening the focus to include 

admission avoidance. The enhanced offer will enable triaging at the front door signposting patients 

onto the most appropriate pathway and support a reduction in LOS across all pathways (including 

P0). Services will operate extended hours and 7 days a week supporting an increase in week-end 

discharge rates. Scheme to include: streaming practitioner and social worker in ED to support 

admission avoidance (signposting into alternative pathways both NHS and social care), opening the 

Discharge Lounge 7 days a week supporting both week-end discharges and promoting earlier on 

the day discharges, support to self-funders who have an above average length of wait particularly 

for P3, P0 safety net team supporting a reduction in re-admissions, enhanced Early Supported 

Discharge Team providing a bridging role for those needing support at home, additional Patient Flow 

Co-ordinators to support P0 which make up 60% of the bed days and Care Home liaison practitioner. 

RBFT and BHFT are leading jointly on mobilisation linking into adult social care as required. 

 

Scheme 2: Commissioning a D2A bedded facility, £0.5m 

 

Building on the successful pilot run by Reading LA during covid commissioning a D2A bedded facility 

to move patients promptly out of hospital. A team approach with strong therapy leadership enabled 

over 80% of patients after a short stay to return home independently. Costings based on 

commissioning 10-11 beds for a 6 month period for use by any BW patient. A meeting is being 

scheduled early September with the LAs to consider how we best take this forward and ensure it 

meets the needs of each LA. 

 

 

Page 129



 
3.5 Urgent Care Centre Pilot in Reading 

 

To help address pressures on ED resulting from minor illness attendances and to support local 

primary care services, the ICB is working to commission a new Urgent Care Centre (UCC) to run on 

a pilot basis in Reading for the next 18 months.  The UCC will be a GP-led service operating seven 

days a week from 8am to 8pm offering an enhanced walk-in offer for up to 50 people per day.  The 

service will also be able to provide care to patients referred from the RBH Emergency Department, 

and GP practices, thereby working to support resilience and better manage demand across the 

system. The UCC will also support GP registration and provide patient education on the appropriate 

use of health services. It will be funded through savings from the suspended Reading walk in 

service.  As part of an evaluation of the service at the end of the 18-month pilot, we will consider 

whether there is a need for the Walk in Centre to re-open. If it’s felt the Centre is no longer necessary 

given the provision of the UCC, we will commence the decommissioning procedure and public 

consultation as required. 

 

We recognise that the UCC will largely see Reading patients and are therefore also working directly 

with practices across Berkshire West to plan for the Winter, supporting them to maximise recruitment 

to new roles, co-ordinate closely with community pharmacies to manage minor presentations and 

work with other practices in their Primary Care Networks to build resilience.  Should additional 

funding be received from NHS England we will consider how this is best allocated to support 

practices that remain most under pressure from growing demand. 

 

 

4. Elective Care Recovery  
 

BOB Providers continue to experience larger waiting lists compared to pre-Covid levels with RBFT 

seeing the largest increase of 48% OUH at 22% and BHT at 18%. The initial focus has been to treat 

all patients waiting greater than 104 weeks.  NHSE are now measuring these according to whether 

patients are choosing to wait longer, whether they are complex and require significant work-up prior 

to treatment and a third category which is described as ‘capacity’ related breaches.  Capacity related 

breaches carry the most intense scrutiny as they should be avoidable.  So far, BOB providers have 

avoided these although there remain circa 20 patients spread across OUH and BHT that are 

categorised as either patient choice or complex.  The next focus is on treating all patients waiting 

over 78 weeks which represents less than 1% of the overall volume of patients waiting.  As at the 

14th August, there were 540 BOB patients breaching the 78 week target.   However, 11,348 patients 

on BOB provider waiting lists must be treated by 31st March 2023 in order to meet the NHSE 

target.  BOB is currently ahead of trajectory and is aiming to have no patients waiting greater than 

78 weeks by the 31st December 2022. 

 

 

5. Summary update of Long-Term Conditions management 
 

 

5.1 BP@Home 

 

Page 130



 
As part of a national Trailblazer pilot across BOB, BW GP practices actively participated in the 

BP@home project. This aimed to address the negative impact that the COVID-19 pandemic had on 

blood pressure (hypertension) management.  

The work led by Dr Heike Veldtman (BOB CVD Lead/GP partner at Thatcham Medical practice) has 

enabled several practices to adopt a simple, structured process to ensure patients were having their 

BP reviewed, whilst increasing the number of patients following a locally adapted home -monitoring 

pathway.  

The initial focus was on people aged 65-74 living in the most deprived deciles as a priority. 1370 

monitors (circa 5000 across BOB) were received across BW, with all these distributed.  

 

An initial cohort of 21 practices in BW participated based on the criteria above. For participants 

enrolled in the programme, the recording of blood pressure has increased considerably during the 

programme (77 to 97%). This also drove overall improvement in achievement at participating 

practices for the eligible cohort (62% to 76%), compared to relatively flat levels at nonparticipating 

practices (72% to 77%).  

 
Overall, across BOB more than 7000 people in the target cohort are now actively monitoring their 

blood pressure at home, with 74% of these achieving their target. 

 

Blood pressure monitors have also been used in West Berkshire and across BW to help support the 

work around health inequalities for people with significant mental illness (SMI) and LDs, led by Dr 

Heather Howells. Examples include:  

• Several monitors provided to patients identified through the SMI physical health checks 

as having borderline or raised BP to support treatment.  

• Drop in events held e.g. a Health day held at 8 Bells for Mental Health (a Newbury based 

MH support group and charity) to discuss BP control and checked BP and weight at this 

event. 30 people with SMIs were supplied with a BP monitor to enable them to check 

their BP.  

 
The BP@Home approach has now been extended to optimising BP control building the momentum 

for home blood pressure monitoring to all age groups and moving to a position where home 

monitoring will be embedded across each practice, to support increased individual understanding of 

blood pressure, as part of optimising BP control.  

 

Work is also ongoing working with the Local Pharmacy Committee (LPC) to align with the roll out of 

the Community Hypertension Case Finding service and optimise the benefits of this locally. 

  

 

Know your Numbers  

 

Education around blood pressure at patient and population level is continuing, working with a range 

of colleagues from both Public Health and Community Pharmacy. A current focus is on the national 

“Know your Numbers” campaign running throughout September and supported by a range of 

communication messages and local events.  

 

 

Educational events  

Page 131



 
 

Several webinars have been held to support practices in the roll out of BP@Home, Heart Failure 

management (in collaboration with MOT/RBH and BHFT).  

A BW TIPS (Time for Improving Patient Service) event is being held on 28 September, for all 

practices across BW, focused specifically on CVD prevention, including a range of national and local 

speakers. This is the first TIPS face to face event bringing primary care colleagues together post 

COVID to focus on this key area.  

 

 

5.2 Heart Failure Enhanced Service  

 

Additional national funding has successfully been secured as an exemplar site (across BOB), 

enabling the targeted funding for an Enhanced Service for GP practices. This focuses specifically 

on earlier detection and case finding of people with Heart Failure, and optimisation of their treatment. 

Across BW two thirds of practices (43) are already participating with outcomes anticipated in mid-

October, and work to support further uptake is underway.  

 

 

5.3 Diabetes recovery and restoration  

 

National and regional funding of specific schemes will support practices across BW to focus on 

people with both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes. The main aim of this funding is to focus on addressing 

the impact from COVID (including specifically focusing on the impact of inequalities), and support 

practices to restore pre-pandemic levels in relation to the NICE recommended 8 Care processes 

and 3 Treatment Targets, whilst also recognising the additional impact that deprivation has had on 

population groups.  

Across West Berkshire this means that all practices will receive additional funding (based on a set 

of indices) to support a more targeted approach to reviewing patients and improving outcomes  

 

 

5.4 Reducing practice variation 

 

This is aimed at offering practices the opportunity to review a Best Practice Toolkit, led by Dr Aparna 

Balaji and Dr Richard Bishop (BW Diabetes GP clinical leads), to offer insight into how practices can 

continue to improve against the national 8 care processes and all 3 treatment targets, and where 

there is shared learning across practices. To date over 22 virtual visits have been completed with 

practices.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132



 
 

6.0 Dementia Overview Summary 

 

Improvement in the rate of dementia diagnosis and the increase in the range of support to people 

post-diagnosis remains one of the most important elements of the NHS national mental health 

strategy. This programme of work rests on increasing the rates of referral from primary care, 

identification of people at risk of suffering from dementia at home and in care homes and the 

prompt provision of appropriate support.   

Success in improving the quality of life for people with dementia rests on effective multi agency 

working and therefore the links between statutory services (NHS and local authority) and the 

commercial and third sector care providers is vital.  

 

6.1 Dementia Diagnosis Action Plan 

 

The multi-agency Dementia Diagnosis Group meets monthly to bring together stakeholders from 

primary care, commissioning, and provider organisations to assure progress on a range of 

measures to improve diagnostic rates, and to improve post-diagnostic support. 

 

The current action plan includes the following: 

 

Date Area of Concern Action Agreed Lead Update 

08/06/2022 Data & Performance 
figures 

Record number of those 
people with dementia 
diagnosis instead of %.   
Annual Review figures to be 
checked.  Waiting time: 
review formulae for 
calculating waiting times to 
ensure they are accurate.   

JC  Work ongoing. 

08/06/2022 SE Dementia Diagnosis 
Rate PCN (primary care 
network) report  

VM to share the SE 
Dementia Diagnosis Rate 
PCN report with the group 
that compares all regions 
and can be filtered by CCG, 
PCN and GP Practice.   

VM  Work ongoing. 

11/05/2022 Conversion rate for DDR 
- Waiting list 

Check the waiting list and 
conversion rate for Dementia 
diagnosis. 

VM 08/06/22 - Data 
Production post has 
been offered, waiting 
on a start date.  July 
onwards reports can 
start going out.  

11/05/2022 Standard Work Review standard work across 
the localities. 

VM, 
SJ 

08/06/22 - Standard 
Work for reporting 
purposes - VM to 
discuss with SJ. 

11/05/2022 Standard Letter  RC to check standard letters 
from Services to Primary 
Care are being sent. 

VM   08/06/22 - Discussed 
at last meeting, 
variations across all 
localities - one 
standard letter across 
all?  VM to check 
localities are using 
same type of 

Page 133



 
presentation of letter 
with diagnosis letter. 

11/05/2022 Diagnostic Tools HH, LJ and VM to review 
different diagnostic tools 
available and share best 
practice. 

HH, 
LJ, VM 

08/06/22 - Diadem and 
other tools looked at 
any new changes will 
wait until BOB 
changes are in place.  
Developing a new 
Dementia Strategy in 
BOB, led by Sian 
Roberts across BOB.    
Post diagnostic service 
needs to be in place 
a+F11nd clear 
pathway in place. 

11/05/2022 Percentage of referrals 
from Care Homes 

Informatics may be able to 
provide this data. 

JC 08/06/22 - Looking at 
introducing a Care 
Home Flag on RiO but 
may be able to collate 
this information 
manually in the 
meantime.  Something 
more user friendly 
needs to be in place - 
source of referral - 
care home - mapped 
nationally in the 
background.  GP 
referral and resident in 
care home could be a 
source.  Want to make 
it as simple as 
possible from front 
end. 

11/05/2022 Review of activity across 
BOB 

LJ to review what is taking 
place across BOB. 

LJ/AM 08/06/22 - carry over 
to next meeting.   

 

*Names: VM (Vicky Mathews), SJ. HH (Heather Howells), LJ (Lajla Jonassen), AM (Andy Moody), JC (Jo 

Cook), HH (Heather Howells). 

 

6.2 Data reporting 
 
Using Connected Care, BHFT’s Information Team has developed a process identifying when a 
dementia diagnosis recorded on Rio but is not showing on Primary Care records. They have 
recruited a Data Production Worker to produce monthly reports by practice listing the NHS 
numbers for patients whose Primary Care records need updating to show their dementia diagnosis. 
To increase practice QOF dementia numbers and improve performance against the DDR target of 
66.7%, Primary Care will need to enter the dementia diagnoses listed in the report onto their 
system. This will improve the level of recorded diagnosis. 
 
 
 

Page 134



 
6.3 Stakeholder involvement 

 

The commissioning lead for adults is developing, with the support of the mental health clinical lead, 

a programme to increase engagement with stakeholders in local community, this will be co-

ordinated across BOB ICS and will be consistent with the priorities identified in each of the three 

local authorities. This will include, for example, how health services, including primary care, are 

able to support dementia friendly communities. 

A programme of engagement with stakeholders is taking place to increase visibility of post-

diagnostic support including dementia friends, Admiral Nurses and third sector organisations to 

ensure that from the point of diagnosis, people are able to access the support they need. 

A monthly task and finish group will be set up with a focus on continuing to support and work with 

the Dementia Diagnosis Rate working group. This will ensure that the actions taking place in 

primary care, specialist and community settings are co-ordinated. 

 

6.4 Training and education 

 

A programme of training and education is being developed for GP practices which will increase 

knowledge and awareness of signs and symptoms of dementia and the current best practice in 

ensuring diagnosis and referral to treatment and support becomes more consistent and that people 

have access to the support they need. 

The opportunity to establish a service providing in-reach into care homes for people with dementia 

is being developed using a model which has been successfully established by Black Country 

Healthcare. The aim is to develop a business plan to support a similar model in BOB ICS, with 

benefits on reduced uptake of emergency services as well as improved quality of care. 

Work is ongoing with primary care in supporting the increased use of the Diadem tool to improve 

diagnosis. 

 

 

The dementia diagnosis rates for BOB ICB are summarised in the tables below and indicate a 

steady level of performance across the area with a small degree of improvement. However, this 

compares favourably with other ICBs and improvements in diagnosis rates are, as indicated in the 

figures, not subject to dramatic improvements. 

 

Table 1 Dementia Diagnosis rates 65yeras + 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

ICS/STP Organisation Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Sparkline
Last Mth 

DoT
Variance

England 62.1     62.0       62.0     61.9    62.0    61.8    61.6     61.7     62.0      61.8     61.9    62.0      0.05

South East 60.4     60.4       60.2     60.2    60.2    60.2    60.0     60.2     60.5      60.5     60.4    60.5      0.06

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, OXFORDSHIRE AND BERKSHIRE WEST STP 59.4     59.5       59.4     59.4    59.6    59.3    59.2     59.0     59.0      58.8     58.8    58.8      0.06

FRIMLEY HEALTH & CARE ICS (STP) 63.4     63.2       63.3     63.4    63.5    63.6    63.3     63.6     64.0      63.6     63.6    63.4      -0.17

HAMPSHIRE AND THE ISLE OF WIGHT STP 61.1     60.8       61.1     60.6    60.5    60.4    60.3     60.5     61.2      61.6     60.9    60.9      0.08

KENT AND MEDWAY STP 57.0     57.3       57.2     57.3    57.3    57.3    57.1     57.5     57.5      57.5     57.7    57.7      0.02

SURREY HEARTLANDS HEALTH & CARE PARTNERSHIP (STP) 62.2     62.1       62.4     62.8    63.1    63.1    62.9     63.2     63.6      63.5     63.6    63.7      0.11

SUSSEX HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP ICS 61.6     61.6       60.4     60.6    60.6    60.6    60.3     60.7     60.9      60.7     61.0    61.1      0.14

NHS Berkshire West CCG 58.3     59.3       59.2     59.0    59.0    59.2    58.9     58.5     58.5      58.2     58.5    58.4      -0.11

NHS Buckinghamshire CCG 57.6     57.6       57.6     57.4    57.5    57.4    57.2     56.9     56.9      56.8     56.7    56.8      0.17

NHS Oxfordshire CCG 61.4     61.0       60.9     61.2    61.5    60.9    61.0     60.9     60.9      60.6     60.7    60.8      0.08

BOB STP

Page 135



 
Table 2. Monthly Diagnosis rates 

 

 
 

 

 

 Table 3 Dementia registers 65years+ 

 

 

ICS/STP Organisation
Trend 

changes

Dementia 

Registers 

(65 + only)

 latest available

Numerator

Patients registered 

at a GP practice - 

Aged 65 and over

Estimated Dementia 

Prevalence 

(65 + only)  CFAS II  

Denominator

Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22

SOUTH EAST 8,658.7  8,693.4  8,738.0  8,737.9  8,740.0  8,757.0  73,990                 296           844,927                  122,381                     

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, OXFORDSHIRE AND BERKSHIRE WEST STP 8,401.7  8,374.4  8,378.7  8,355.0  8,370.2  8,384.7  12,926                 57              154,161                  21,967                       

FRIMLEY HEALTH & CARE ICS (STP) 8,895.7  8,951.4  9,014.9  8,962.0  8,950.3  8,931.4  5,335                   1                59,733                    8,411                         

HAMPSHIRE AND THE ISLE OF WIGHT STP 8,632.3  8,660.0  8,762.1  8,828.3  8,732.3  8,751.5  15,929                 65              182,015                  26,136                       

KENT AND MEDWAY STP 7,947.6  8,003.3  8,020.5  8,023.8  8,061.5  8,074.6  14,101                 49              174,635                  24,430                       

SURREY HEARTLANDS HEALTH & CARE PARTNERSHIP (STP) 9,566.7  9,616.1  9,674.1  9,660.6  9,699.6  9,726.9  9,228                   41              94,871                    14,482                       

SUSSEX HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP ICS 9,039.2  9,098.9  9,133.1  9,107.2  9,148.2  9,175.4  16,471                 83              179,512                  26,956                       

NHS Berkshire West CCG 8,122.4  8,071.4  8,087.1  8,049.4  8,090.0  8,076.2  3,343                   4                41,393                    5,728                         

NHS Buckinghamshire CCG 8,236.6  8,213.9  8,206.7  8,203.2  8,202.4  8,237.5  4,104                   28              49,821                    7,220                         

NHS Oxfordshire CCG 8,716.9  8,701.4  8,706.9  8,676.3  8,687.2  8,704.1  5,479                   25              62,947                    9,018                         

Dementia diagnosis per 100,000 patients aged 

65 and over

Jun-22

BOB STP

Dementia Registers :  

Changes from 

previous month

12,625

5,113

15,403

13,455

8,719

16,017

12,926 

5,335 

15,929 

14,101 

9,228 

16,471 

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

 16,000

 18,000

N
o

 o
f 

D
em

en
ti

a 
re

gi
st

er
s

Dementia Registers (65 + only)

Jun-21 Jun-22

Page 136



Health Scrutiny Committee – 20 September 2022 

 

 

 

Item 8 – Healthwatch Update 

Verbal Item 

Page 137

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 138



Health Scrutiny Committee – 20 September 2022 

 

 

 

 

Item 9 –Task & Finish Group Updates 

Verbal Item 

Page 139

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 140



Last Updated: 

August 2022

Ref Item Purpose Health Body
Prioritisation 

Score

9
South Central Ambulance 

Service

To present an overview of current performance re. response times 

and hospital transfers, and winter service plans for 2022/23.
South Central Ambulance Service 11

10 Westcall Out of Hours Care
To present an overview of demand in urgent and unscheduled out-

of-hours calls. Consider response and issues arising. 

Westcall / Berkshire Healthcare 

NHS Foundation Trust
11

11 Dentistry
Assessment of current provision and progress since attending 

Health Scrutiny Committee November 2021

NHS England and NHS 

Improvement
13

12 Stammer Services
Assessment of current provision and opportunities for 

improvement.

Berkshire Healthcare NHS 

Foundation Trust
13

13 Hospice Provision
To review hospice service provision for residents of West 

Berkshire, including the palliative care hub in Newbury.
Sue Ryder tbc

14 Blood Tests To review patient access to phlebotomy services
Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation 

Trust
8

18 Covid Reponse

To agree the Terms of Reference for a Task and Finish Group to 

look at the ongoing impact of Covid on health services and 

treatments. 

Berkshire West Clinical 

Commissoining Group (CCG) / 

Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation 

Trust

11

20 GP Numbers 
To provide an update on the GP services provision across West 

Berkshire

Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire 

and Berkshire West Integrated 

Care Boad

12

Standing Items

14 March 2023 (Report Deadline 3 March)

13 December 2022 (Report Deadline 2 December)

Other Items to be programmed

20 September (Report Deadline 9 September)

The following items will be considered in addition to Standing Items: Updates from Task and Finish Groups

Health Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 10



Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire 

and Berkshire West Integrated 

Care Boad

To receive an update from the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and 

Berkshire West Integrated Care Board on their activities. 

Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire 

and Berkshire West Integrated 

Care Boad

N/A

Healthwatch West Berkshire 

Report

To receive an update from Healthwatch West Berkshire on patient 

feedback received, reports prepared and other activities. 
Healthwatch West Berkshire N/A

P
age 142


	Agenda
	1 Apologies
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Petitions
	5 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
	5b. CQC Inspection report South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 25082022
	South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
	Ratings
	Overall trust quality rating
	Are services safe?
	Are services effective?
	Are services caring?
	Are services responsive?
	Are services well-led?

	Our reports
	Overall summary
	What we found
	Overall trust


	Outstanding practice
	Areas for improvement
	Is this organisation well-led?
	Ratings for the whole trust
	Ratings for a combined trust
	Rating for acute services/acute trust
	Rating for South Central Ambulance Service NHS 111
	Rating for ambulance services
	Is the service safe?



	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Is the service effective?

	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Is the service caring?

	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Is the service responsive?

	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Is the service well-led?

	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Emergency operations centre (EOC)
	Is the service safe?

	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Is the service effective?

	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Is the service caring?

	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Is the service responsive?

	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Is the service well-led?

	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care
	Emergency and urgent care


	6 Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust - Out of Hours and WestCall
	7 Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care Board Update
	7. Integrated Care Board Update

	8 Healthwatch Update
	9 Task and Finish Group Updates
	10 Health Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

